Department of Public Health Solutions Public Health Promotion Unit Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare Finland

Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Programme in Population Health University of Helsinki Finland

ASSOCIATIONS OF CHRONOTYPE WITH DIETARY HABITS, OBESITY AND GENETICS

A population-based study in Finnish adults

Mirkka Maukonen

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in lecture hall 107, Athena, on 23rd of April 2021, at 13 o'clock.

Helsinki 2021

Cover photo: Mirkka Maukonen

Dissertationes Scholae Doctoralis Ad Sanitatem Investigandam Universitatis Helsinkiensis

ISSN 2342-3161 (print) ISSN 2342-317X (online) ISBN 978-951-51-7121-4 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-7122-1 (PDF)

Unigrafia Helsinki 2021

The Faculty of Medicine uses the Urkund system (plagiarism recognition) to examine all doctoral dissertations

Supervised by

Satu Männistö, Adjunct Professor, PhD Public Health Promotion Unit Department of Public Health Solutions Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, Helsinki, Finland

Timo Partonen, Research Professor, MD, PhD Mental Health Unit Department of Public Health Solutions Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, Helsinki, Finland

Noora Kanerva, Adjunct Professor, PhD Nightingale Health Oy Helsinki, Finland

Reviewed by

Sari Hantunen, Adjunct Professor, PhD Institute of Public Health and Clinical Nutrition School of Medicine University of Eastern Finland

Jyrki Korkeila, Professor, MD, PhD University of Turku

Opponent

Hanna Lagström, Adjunct Professor, PhD Department of Clinical Medicine University of Turku

ABSTRACT

Chronotype refers to preferences in timing the daily activities; accordingly, individuals can be divided from extreme morning to extreme evening types. The evening type has been associated with unhealthier behavior and higher morbidity and mortality risk than the morning type. Furthermore, twin studies have suggested genetic underpinnings behind chronotype trait. However, chronotype associations of dietary habits, obesity and genetics have not been thoroughly examined.

The aim of this thesis was to study the associations between chronotype, dietary habits (overall diet quality, energy and macronutrient intake timing) and obesity (weight, body mass index [BMI], waist circumference, body fat percentage) and the interrelationships between these factors. This thesis additionally aimed to clarify the genetic basis of chronotype (clock gene analysis, genome-wide association study [GWAS] of chronotype, developing a genetic risk score [GRS] for chronotype).

The study population included participants from the population-based National FINRISK 2007 (n=9958) and 2012 (n=9905) studies and the following sub-studies of FINRISK 2007: DIetary Lifestyle and Genetic determinants of Obesity and Metabolic syndrome (DILGOM) 2007 (n=5024), DILGOM 2014 (n=3735, follow-up) and National FINDIET 2007 (n=2054) conducted at the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. Chronotype was assessed with a shortened morningness–eveningness questionnaire. Overall diet was assessed with a validated food frequency questionnaire and measured with the Baltic Sea Diet Score (BSDS), which illustrates adherence to the healthy Nordic diet. Energy and macronutrient intake timing was assessed with 48-hour dietary recalls and 3-day food records. Anthropometric measures were based on measured and self-reported values. Statistical analyses were conducted with analysis of covariance and with linear and logistic regression.

The evening type was associated with lower adherence to the healthy diet and with lower energy and macronutrient intake (except for sucrose [E%]) in the morning (by 10:00 a.m.) and higher energy, sucrose (E%), fat (E%) and saturated fat (E%) intakes in the evening (after 8:00 p.m.). Differences between morning and evening types in energy and macronutrient intake timing were even more pronounced at the weekend.

Those with a higher tendency towards eveningness more likely had a lower baseline BMI in men but not in women. A higher percentage of evening-typed women had at least a 5% increase in weight and BMI than did morning-typed women during a seven-year follow-up period. These associations, however, attenuated after excluding participants with depression. When interrelationships between chronotype, dietary habits and obesity were examined, no evidence was found that the BSDS would mediate the association between chronotype and obesity or that chronotype would modify the association between the BSDS and obesity. Instead, higher evening energy intake was associated with a higher obesity risk independent of chronotype.

Clock gene analysis revealed a novel association between chronotype and the *NR1D2* gene. No genome-wide significant associations were found, but the genetic risk score based on 313 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that have previously been associated with chronotype predicted the chronotypes in the present study population.

In conclusion, despite unhealthier dietary habits (lower adherence to the BSDS, later energy intake timing) of evening chronotypes, evening types were not significantly more prone to obesity nor did chronotype play a role in the association between healthy diet/energy intake timing and obesity. Furthermore, a novel clock gene association was found with the *NR1D2* clock gene, which has previously been demonstrated to have a role in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. A GRS based on GWAS studies of chronotype may be a useful tool for capturing the genetic aspect of chronotype in different populations.

Keywords: Baltic Sea diet, Chronotype, Diet, Diet quality, Epidemiology, Genetics, Morningness-Eveningness, Obesity, Timing of food intake

TIIVISTELMÄ

Kronotyypillä viitataan yksilöiden välisiin eroihin päivittäisten toimien ajoittumisessa. Kronotyypin mukaan yksilöt voidaan luokitella jatkumolla aamutyypeistä iltatyyppeihin. Kaksostutkimuksissa on havaittu, että kronotyyppiin vaikuttavat sekä perimä että ympäristötekijät. Iltatyyppisyys on yhdistetty aamutyyppejä epäterveellisempiin elämäntapoihin sekä suurempaan riskiin sairastua tai kuolla ennenaikaisesti. Kronotvypin geneettisistä sekä kokonaisruokavalion vhtevksistä laadusta ja energiansaannin ajoittumisesta tiedetään kuitenkin vasta vähän. Lisäksi kronotyypin yhteydet lihavuuteen ovat epäselviä.

Tämän tutkimuksen tavoitteena oli tutkia kronotyypin yhteyttä ravintoon (kokonaisruokavalion laatu, energian ja energiaravintoaineiden saannin ajoittuminen) ja lihavuuteen (paino, painoindeksi, vyötärönympärys, kehon rasvaprosentti) sekä näiden tekijöiden keskinäisiä yhteyksiä. Lisäksi tutkimuksen tavoitteena oli tutkia kronotyypin geneettistä taustaa (yhteydet vuorokausirytmiä sääteleviin kellogeeneihin, genomin laajuinen assosiaatio tutkimus sekä kronotyyppiä ennustavan geneettisen indeksin kehittäminen).

kävtettiin Tervevden ja hyvinvoinnin Tutkimuksissa laitoksen koordinoimia väestötutkimuksia: Kansallinen FINRISKI 2007 (n=9958) ja FINRISKI 2012 (n=9905). Näiden lisäksi käytettiin kahta FINRISKI 2007 tutkimuksen alaotosta: DIetary Lifestyle and Genetic determinants of Obesity and Metabolic syndrome (DILGOM) 2007 (n=5024, alkutilanne), DILGOM 2014 (n=3735, seuranta) sekä kansallista FinRavinto 2007 tutkimusta (n=2054). Tutkimuksissa käytettiin validoituja menetelmiä; kronotvyppi arvioitiin lyhennetyllä aamu- ja iltatyyppisyyskyselyllä, kokonaisruokavalion mittaamiseen kävtettiin frekvenssitvyppistä ruoankäyttökyselyä (FFQ) ja ruokavalion laadun mittarina käytettiin ruokavalioindeksiä (BSDS). ioka Itämeren perustuu terveelliseen Pohjoismaiseen ruokavalioon. Energian ja energiaravintoaineiden ajoittuminen mitattiin 48-tunnin ruoankäyttöhaastatteluilla sekä 3-päivän ruokapäiväkirjalla. Käytetyt lihavuusmittarit perustuivat mitattuihin sekä raportoituihin Tilastollisissa arvoihin. analvvseissä kävtettiin kovarianssianalyysia sekä lineaarista ja logistista regressiota.

Iltatyyppisyys oli yhteydessä huonompaan kokonaisruokavalion laatuun sekä pienempään energian ja energianravintoaineiden (lukuun ottamatta sakkaroosi [E%]) saantiin aamulla (klo 10 mennessä) ja suurempaan energian, sakkaroosin (E%), rasvan (E%) sekä tyydyttyneen rasvan (E%) saantiin illalla (klo 20 jälkeen) verrattuna aamutyyppeihin. Viikonloppuna erot energian ja energiaravintoaineiden saannin ajoittumisessa korostuivat.

Miehillä iltatyyppisyys oli yhteydessä pienempään painoindeksiin, mutta naisilla ei tätä yhteyttä löytynyt. Sen sijaan seitsemän vuoden seurannan aikana niiden naisten osuus, jotka lihoivat vähintään 5% oli iltatyypeissä suurempi kuin aamutyypeissä. Nämä yhteydet kuitenkin heikkenivät, kun ne tutkittavat, joilla oli diagnosoitu masennus, poistettiin analyyseistä.

Tutkittaessa kronotyypin, ruokavalion ja lihavuuden keskinäisiä yhteyksiä havaittiin, että ruokavalion laatu ei selittänyt kronotyypin ja lihavuuden välistä yhteyttä. Kronotyyppi ei myöskään modifioinut ruokavalion laadun ja lihavuuden välistä yhteyttä. Lisäksi energian kokonaissaannissa ei ollut eroja kronotyppien välillä, mutta sen sijaan energiansaannin painottuminen iltaan oli yhteydessä lihavuuteen kronotyypistä riippumatta.

Tutkittaessa kellogeenien ja kronotyypin välistä yhteyttä löydettiin uusi yhteys *NR1D2* geenin ja kronotyypin välillä. Genomin laajuisessa assosiaatiotutkimuksessa ei merkitseviä yhteyksiä löytynyt. Sen sijaan aiemmin kronotyyppiin yhdistettyihin geneettisiin variaatioihin perustuva geneettinen indeksi oli yhteydessä kronotyyppiin tässä aineistossa.

Yhteenvetona voidaan todeta, että iltatyyppien epäterveellisemmistä ruokatottumuksista (huonompi ruokavalion kokonaislaatu, myöhäisempi energiansaannin ajoittuminen) huolimatta lihavuuden riski ei heillä ollut merkittävästi muita suurempi. Iltapainotteinen energiansaanti sen sijaan oli yhteydessä lihavuuteen kronotyypistä riippumatta. Kronotvyppi oli vhtevdessä NR1D2 kellogeeniin, joka on aikaisemmin vhdistetty hiilihydraatti- ja rasva-aineenvaihduntaan. Kronotyypin geneettistä indeksiä voisi hyödyntää kronotyypin tunnistamisessa eri väestöissä.

Avainsanat: Aamu- ja iltatyyppisyys, Epidemiologia, Itämeren ruokavalio, Kronotyyppi, Ruokavalio, Ruokavalion kokonaislaatu, Genetiikka, Lihavuus, Ravinnon saannin ajoittuminen, Väestötutkimus

CONTENTS

A	ostract	4
Ti	ivistelmä	6
C	ontents	
Li	st of origi	nal publications 11
A	bbreviatio	ons12
1	Intro	luction14
2	Revie	w of the literature
	2.1	Circadian rhythm and chronotype16
	2.1.1	Circadian rhythm in humans16
	2.1.2	Chronotype 20
	2.2	Genetics and chronotype21
	2.2.1	Heritability 21
	2.2.2	Genetics22
	2.3	Dietary habits and chronotype25
	2.3.1	Overall diet quality and the Baltic Sea Diet score26
	2.3.2	Timing of food intake 30
	2.4	Obesity and chronotype39
3	Aims	of the study42
4	Metho	ods43
	4.1	Study samples43
	4.1.1	The National FINRISK 2007 (II, IV) and 2012 (IV) studies43
	4.1.2	DIetary Lifestyle and Genetic Determinants of Obesity and Metabolic syndrome (DILGOM) 2007 and 2014 studies (I, III)43
	4.1.3	The National FINDIET 2007 Study (II, III) 44

	4.1.4	Study design and inclusion criteria45
	4.2	Ethical considerations45
	4.3	Study measures45
	4.3.1	Chronotype45
	4.3.2	Dietary habits46
	4.3.3	Anthropometric measures48
	4.3.4	Genetics
	4.3.5	Sosioeconomic and lifestyle factors50
	4.4	Statistical analyses
	4.4.1	Associations between chronotype and dietary habits (I, II)52
	4.4.2	Association between chronotype and obesity (I, III)52
	4.4.3	Interrelationships between dietary habits, obesity and chronotype (I, III)53
	4.4.4	Associations between chronotype and genetics (IV)54
5	Resu	lts55
	5.1	Socio-economic and lifestyle associations of chronotype55
	5.2	Chronotype and dietary habits (I, II)57
	5.3	Chronotype and obesity (I, III)61
	5.4	Interrelationships between chronotype, dietary habits and obesity (I,III)63
	5.5	Genetic associations of chronotype (IV)66
6	Discu	ission68
	6.1	Dietary habits (I,II)68
	6.2	Obesity (I,III)
	6.3	Chronotype, dietary habits and obesity (I,III)73
	6.4	Genetic associations of chronotype (IV)74
	6.5	Main strengths and limitations of the study76

6.5.1	Study samples and designs	76		
6.5.2	2 Measures	77		
6.6	Implications for further research	80		
7 Con	clusions	82		
Acknowledgements				
References				
Appendic	es1	03		

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications and some unpublished results from additional analyses:

- I Maukonen M, Kanerva N, Partonen T, Kronholm E, Konttinen H, Wennman H, Männistö S (2016). The associations between chronotype, a healthy diet and obesity. *Chronobiol. Int.* **33**:972– 981.
- II Maukonen M, Kanerva N, Partonen T, Kronholm E, Tapanainen H, Kontto J, Männistö S (2017). Chronotype differences in timing of energy and macronutrient intakes: A population-based study in adults. *Obesity* (Silver Spring) 25:608–615.
- III Maukonen M, Kanerva N, Partonen T, Männistö S (2019). Chronotype and energy intake timing in relation to changes in anthropometrics: a 7-year follow-up study in adults. *Chronobiol. Int.* 36:27–41.
- IV Maukonen M, Havulinna AS, Männistö S, Kanerva N, Salomaa V,
 Partonen T (2020). Genetic associations of chronotype in the
 Finnish general population. J. Biol. Rhythms. 35:501–511.

The publications are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals. Original publications are reprinted with permission of the copyright holders.

ABBREVIATIONS

%TEI	Percentage of total energy intake
ANCOVA	Analysis of covariance
ARNTL1-2	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator-like gene (aka
	BMAL1-2) encoding ARNTL1-2/BMAL1-2 proteins
BF%	Body fat percentage
BH	Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate method
BHLHE40-41	Basic helix-loop-helix family member E40-41 genes encoding
	BHLHE40-41 proteins
BMAL1-2	Brain and Muscle ARNT-Like 1-2 genes (aka ARNTL1-2)
	encoding BMAL1-2/ARNTL1-2 proteins
BMI	Body mass index
BSDS	Baltic Sea Diet Score
BY	Benjamini-Yekutieli false discovery rate method
CI	Confidence interval
CLOCK	Clock circadian regulator gene (aka Circadian Locomotor
	Output Cycles Kaput) encoding CLOCK proteins
CRP	C-reactive protein
CRY1-2	Cryptochrome circadian regulator 1-2 genes encoding CRY1-2
	proteins
CSM	Composite scale of morningness
CSNK1D	Casein kinase 1 delta gene encoding CSNK1D protein
CSNK1E	Casein kinase 1 epsilon gene encoding CSNK1E protein
DILGOM	DIetary Lifestyle and Genetic determinants of Obesity and
	Metabolic syndrome
DLMO	Dim light melatonin onset
E%	Percentage of energy intake
FFQ	Food frequency questionnaire
GRS	Genetic risk score
GWAS	Genome-wide association study
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance
HWE	Hardy Weinberg equilibrium
IL-6	Interleukin-6
INFO	Imputed information score
LD	Linkage disequilibrium
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
MAF	Minor allele frequency
MCTQ	Munich ChronoType Questionnaire
ME	Morningness-eveningness
MEQ	Morningness-Eveningness Questionnaire
MSF	Midpoint of sleep on free days

NFIL3	Nuclear factor interleukin-3-regulated gene encoding NFIL3 protein			
NPAS2	Neuronal PAS domain protein 2 gene encoding NPAS2 protein			
NR1D1-2	Nuclear receptor subfamily 1 group D member 1-2 genes (aka REV - $ERB\alpha$ - β) encoding NR1D1-2/REV-ERB α - β proteins			
OR 0	Odds ratio			
REV-ERB α - β	Nuclear receptor Rev-Erb-alpha-beta gene (aka NR1D1-2)			
(encoding REV-ERBα-β/NR1D1-2 proteins			
$ROR\alpha/\beta/\gamma$ I	Retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor			
8	alpha/beta/gamma genes encoding ROR $\alpha/\beta/\gamma$ proteins			
<i>PER1-3</i>	Period circadian regulator 1-3 genes encoding PER1-3			
J	proteins			
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids			
SCN S	Suprachiasmatic nucleus			
SAFA S	Saturated fatty acids			
SE S	Standard error			
SNP S	Single nucleotide polymorphism			
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha			
THL I	Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare			
WHO	World Health Organization			
WC	Waist circumference			

1 INTRODUCTION

A fundamental feature of life on Earth is its capacity to adapt to the daily changes in the surrounding environment. To adapt to these changes different life forms have developed internal time-keeping systems that anticipate changes in light and temperature and help them to optimize their physiology and behavior to the Earth's rotation (Vitaterna et al. 2001). This time-keeping system in human beings consists of approximately 24-hour cycles that create the circadian rhythm.

Circadian rhythms are created by circadian clocks (Takahashi 2017). Circadian clocks have an important role in regulating metabolism, and many metabolic processes follow the 24-hour light and dark cycle (Bass and Takahashi 2010). Chronotype refers to individual preferences in the timing of daily activities that reflect the underlying intrinsic circadian rhythms (Horne and Östberg 1976). Epidemiological studies have shown that later chronotypes (evening types) have a higher risk of morbidity and premature mortality than earlier chronotypes (morning types) (Merikanto et al. 2013b, Broms et al. 2014, Patterson et al. 2018, Knutson and von Schantz 2018). However, findings regarding chronotype and obesity have been inconsistent (Johnsen et al. 2013, Celis-Morales et al. 2017, Sun et al. 2020).

Several observational studies have further shown that evening types have a higher consumption of unhealthier foods than morning types (Sato-Mito et al. 2011a, Kanerva et al. 2012, Patterson et al. 2016). However, the associations between chronotype and dietary habits have not been thoroughly studied. Population-based studies on overall diet quality of chronotypes and differences in timing of food intake are lacking.

Studying an overall diet quality may reveal stronger diet-health associations than studying the role of single nutrients and foods alone (Hu 2002). For example, the Baltic Sea Diet score (BSDS) based on the healthy Nordic diet has been associated with a lower risk of abdominal obesity (Kanerva et al. 2013) and weight change (Kanerva et al. 2018).

The timing of food intake may also have a crucial effect on metabolic health. Animal models have suggested that eating the same amount of calories during the rest period versus the active period may lead to weight gain (Arble et al. 2009). Observational studies in humans have suggested a link between evening energy intake and obesity, whereas morning calories have been associated with a lower obesity risk (Fong et al. 2017, Beccuti et al. 2017), though evidence from trials is controversial (Fong et al. 2017).

Furthermore, chronotype has genetic underpinnings with twin and family studies that estimate about 50% heritability (Koskenvuo et al. 2007, Barclay et al. 2010). Previous studies aiming to identify genetic polymorphisms associated with chronotype have been either small-scale studies or largerscale studies in which chronotype assessments have been based on a single self-evaluation question on chronotype (Barclay et al. 2011, Parsons et al. 2014, Hu et al. 2016, Jankowski and Dmitrzak-Weglarz 2017, Jones et al. 2019).

The aim of this population-based study was to examine the associations of chronotype with overall diet quality (assessed with the BSDS), energy and macronutrient intake timing, obesity and weight change. Furthermore, this study aimed to extend the knowledge of the genetic basis of chronotype by conducting a clock gene analysis, a genome-wide association study (GWAS) of chronotype, and by developing a genetic risk score for chronotype.

2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 CIRCADIAN RHYTHM AND CHRONOTYPE

2.1.1 CIRCADIAN RHYTHM IN HUMANS

Circadian rhythms are endogenous and entrainable oscillations of approximately 24 hours (Takahashi 2017). Circadian rhythms regulate the sleep-wake cycle, enabling individuals to anticipate and prepare for the environmental changes as well as coordinate behavioral and metabolic processes with the environment.

Circadian rhythms are generated, maintained and controlled by circadian clocks (Takahashi 2017). The central circadian clock located in the hypothalamic suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) of the brain acts as a master pacemaker synchronizing peripheral clocks (Figure 1). Peripheral clocks are present in nearly all cells and tissues, including those important in terms of metabolism such as the liver, pancreas, gastrointestinal tract, and adipose tissue (Bass and Takahashi 2010, Ribas-Latre and Eckel-Mahan 2016, Reinke and Asher 2019). Circadian rhythms consequently have an important role in controlling metabolism, in particular energy, lipid and glucose metabolism and, for example, insulin sensitivity and secretion, cholesterol synthesis, energy expenditure and blood pressure follow the 24-hour rhythms (Bass and Takahashi 2010, Reinke and Asher 2019). This rhythmicity can also be seen in many processes related to digestion, for example, gastric emptying seems to peak in the morning (Goo et al. 1987), postprandial glucose response tends to decrease towards evening (Van Cauter et al. 1989, Oian et al. 2018) and diet-induced thermogenesis seems to be lower in the evening than in the morning (Romon et al. 1993, Morris et al. 2016). Other physiological processes that follow the 24-hour cycle include body temperature and the secretion of many hormones such as melatonin and cortisol, for example (Rivkees 2007).



Figure 1 The location of the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) in the anterior hypothalamus of the brain. Modified from Smart Servier Medical Art (<u>http://smart.servier.com</u>) image with license CC-BY 3.0.

At the cellular level, the central and peripheral clocks form similar clock gene machinery consisting of interconnected transcriptional and translational feedback loops in which the expression of clock genes is regulated by the proteins they produce (Figure 2).



Figure 2 A simplified molecular mechanism of the circadian clock machinery in humans. 1. The 'core' clock genes Brain and Muscle ARNT-Like 1 (BMAL1) (also known as ARNTL1) or its interchangeable BMAL2 and Circadian Locomotor Output Cycles Kaput (CLOCK) (or its paralog, NPAS2) encode activator proteins that form a heterodimer, which drives the rhythmic expression of the clock-controlled genes (DeBruyne et al. 2007, Shi et al. 2010, Bass and Takahashi 2010). 2a. The CLOCK/BMAL1 heterodimer activates a feedback loop consisting of repressor clock genes Period (PER1, PER2, PER3) and Cryptochrome (CRY1, CRY2) at the beginning of the day (Takahashi 2017). b. During the day the PER and CRY proteins form a heterodimer that interacts with the Casein Kinase 1 Delta (CSNK1D) and Casein Kinase 1 Epsilon (CSNK1E) proteins in the cytoplasm. 3. During the night this complex translocates to the nucleus and represses the transcription of PER and CRY genes by directly inhibiting the transcriptional activity of the CLOCK/BMAL1 heterodimer. 4. The second CLOCK/BMAL1 activated feedback loop consist of the nuclear receptors genes REV-ERBα (also known as NR1D1) and REV-ERBβ (also known

receptors genes REV- $ERB\alpha$ (also known as NR1D1) and REV- $ERB\beta$ (also known as NR1D2) and competing retinoic acid-related orphan receptor genes ($ROR\alpha$, $ROR\beta$, $ROR\gamma$), which both peak in the daytime. REV-ERBs act as transcription repressors for BMAL1 gene and in this way inhibit their own transcription, whereas RORs are transcription activators for the BMAL1.

5. In an additional short feedback loop, REV-ERBs and RORs compete in repressing or activating the transcription of interleukin-3-regulated protein (NFIL3). NFIL3 in turn acts as a repressor and represses the transcription of RORs.
6. Another additional feedback loop consists of CLOCK/BMAL1 activated basic helix-loop-helix family members (*BHLHE40*, *BHLHE41*). BHLHE40 and BHLHE41 inhibit their own production by repressing the CLOCK/BMAL1-induced transactivation by binding to the BMAL1 protein (Sato et al. 2018).

7. The role of the *TIMELESS* clock gene in the mammalian circadian clock machinery has been unclear, but it seems that TIMELESS acts as another negative regulator of CLOCK/BMAL1-induced transactivation of PER1 possibly by destabilizing PER2/CRY2 complex in the cytoplasm (Kurien et al. 2019). *Red lines*: repression, *Green lines*: activation.

Figure by the author modified from Ramsey et al. (2007) and Takahashi (2017).

The timing (phase) of the circadian rhythm is produced by the circadian clock but influenced by external time cues called Zeitgebers (German for "time giver" or "synchronizer") (Roenneberg and Merrow 2007, Andreani et al. 2015). These entrain the circadian rhythms to the local environment and the 24-hour cycle on light/dark transitions by modulating the temporal expression of the clock genes. In the absence of external time-cues, circadian rhythms will start to follow an endogenous length of the day (period), which is close to 24 hours (called the free-running period) (Vitaterna et al. 2001, Roenneberg and Merrow 2007, Rivkees 2007). The anticipation of external cues in the environment aims to ensure that the organism's physiological and behavioral processes occur at the optimum time of the day at the habitat. The central clock's rhythm is primarily entrained by light, whereas food intake is the most potent entrainer for peripheral clocks, although the integrated inputs from the central clock and other external factors, such as physical activity, also play a role in entraining the peripheral clocks (Roenneberg and Merrow 2007, Reinke and Asher 2019). When circadian rhythm is entrained to a 24-hour cycle of light/dark transitions, it is called a diurnal rhythm for day-active organisms such as humans and a nocturnal rhythm for nightactive organisms (Vitaterna et al. 2001).

Disruptions in circadian rhythms may have detrimental consequences on our metabolic health (Baron and Reid 2014). Circadian misalignment refers to a state in which circadian rhythms are disrupted, resulting from inappropriately timed sleep and wake behavior with biological time (Wittmann et al. 2006, Baron and Reid 2014). Circadian misalignment may also lead to misalignment between central and peripheral clocks. Modern lifestyles give rise to different forms of circadian misalignment, including rotating shift work and social jetlag. Shift workers are exposed to chronic circadian misalignment, and shiftwork has consequently been associated with a higher risk of obesity (Liu et al. 2018) and cardiovascular diseases (Torquati et al. 2018). Social jetlag refers to a situation in which social schedules (e.g., work and school) interfere with biological time such that the individual accumulates a considerable sleep debt during work days that they compensate for on free days (Wittmann et al. 2006). Social jetlag has also been associated with obesity and metabolic dysfunctions (Roenneberg et al. 2012, Koopman et al. 2017, Islam et al. 2018). Furthermore, laboratory studies with a forced desynchrony protocol (participants are scheduled to a day length that is much longer or shorter than the 24-hour day) on otherwise healthy humans have demonstrated that eating and sleeping out of sync with intrinsic circadian time may result in metabolic dysfunctions, such as reduced glucose tolerance and insulin resistance, decreases in the satiety hormone leptin, and increased blood pressure (Scheer et al. 2009, Buxton et al. 2012, Morris et al. 2016).

Furthermore, it has been suggested that mutations in circadian and clockcontrolled genes may also lead to circadian misalignment (Baron and Reid 2014). Many studies have consequently shown that single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs, the most common type of genetic variation among individuals, referring to a single base-pair difference in DNA) in many of the clock genes may play a role in metabolic dysfunctions, obesity and even in dietary intake (Woon et al. 2007, Garaulet et al. 2009, 2010, 2014, Goumidi et al. 2013, Garcia-Rios et al. 2014, Dashti et al. 2014, Corella et al. 2016).

2.1.2 CHRONOTYPE

Definition

Chronotype refers to individual preferences in the timing of daily activities such as sleeping, eating, and exercising that reflect the underlying intrinsic circadian rhythms (Horne and Östberg 1976). Individuals can, accordingly, be divided from extreme morning to extreme evening types. Morning types prefer waking up relatively early and their peak alertness is in the morning hours, whereas evening types prefer staying up relatively late and their peak alertness is in the evening hours.

Chronotype is considered to be a rather stable trait, although it may be subject to age and gender differences. Cross-sectional data (e.g., Roenneberg et al. 2007) have shown that evening types tend to be younger than morning types with the peak of eveningness reached during the period of adolescence, whereas the longitudinal data on the association between chronotype and age are scarce (Broms et al. 2014, Didikoglu et al. 2019). The first longitudinal study was based on the data from the Male Former Top Athletes study from Finland (n=567, 23.4 years follow-up) (Broms et al. 2014). It showed a shift towards morningness over time, but only a very few shifted from the clearly evening to clearly morning type or vice versa. These findings were supported by a recent longitudinal study from the UK based on the University of Manchester Longitudinal Study of Cognition in Normal Healthy Old Age data (n=6375, 35.5 years follow-up), which showed a shift towards earlier sleep timing with age (Didikoglu et al. 2019). The shift towards an earlier chronotype with age may at least be partly explained by findings indicating a higher premature all-cause mortality risk among evening types, which has also been found in both aforementioned studies and among the UK Biobank data (n=433, 268) (Broms et al. 2014, Knutson and von Schantz 2018, Didikoglu et al. 2019). Furthermore, evening types seem to be men more often than women, although these differences seem to diminish with age (Randler and Engelke 2019).

Chronotype assessment methods

Chronotype is usually assessed in observational studies with validated questionnaires, of which the most widely used one is Horne & Östberg's (1976) Morningness-Eveningness Questionnaire (MEQ). The original MEQ has 19 items on the individual's preferences to time the daily activities, including a self-evaluation question on chronotype. Based on the responses

to the items, a sum score ranging from 16 to 86 is calculated that indicates a respondent's tendency towards eveningness versus morningness. The MEQ has been validated against daily changes in core body temperature and the dim light melatonin onset (DLMO) (Horne and Östberg 1976, Bailey and Heitkemper 2001, Kantermann et al. 2015). Different shortened versions have been further developed from the MEQ, such as a reduced five-item (items 1, 7, 10, 18, 19) version (rMEQ) (Adan and Almirall 1991). The Composite Scale for Morningness (CSM) is a questionnaire with 13 items, in which nine items are from the MEQ (Smith et al. 1989). Another widely used questionnaire for assessing chronotype is the Munich ChronoType Questionnaire (MCTQ) (Roenneberg et al. 2007), in which chronotype assessment is based on the midpoint of sleep on free days (MSF) calculated from sleep onset and offset times on free days. Both the MCTQ and the CSM have been found to correlate with the MEQ (Zavada et al. 2005, Di Milia et al. 2013).

Chronotype and health

Numerous studies have shown that the evening chronotype associates with unhealthier behaviors and a higher morbidity risk. Evening types are more often smokers and physically inactive compared to morning types (Nakade et al. 2009, Wennman et al. 2015, Patterson et al. 2016, Hisler et al. 2017). Furthermore, evening types more often report unhealthier sleeping patterns with insomnia, nightmares and insufficient sleep (Merikanto et al. 2012). Evening types are more prone to misalignment of circadian rhythms (social jetlag), because they are more likely to live against their biological time due to societies' social structures (e.g., Wittmann et al. 2006). They are also more prone to psychological disorders such as depression (Merikanto et al. 2015, Vetter et al. 2018) and have a higher risk of cardiovascular disease, hypertension, type 2 diabetes and metabolic dysfunctions with poorer glycemic control among individuals with diabetes (Merikanto et al. 2013b, Reutrakul et al. 2014, Yu et al. 2015, Patterson et al. 2018, Knutson and von Schantz 2018).

2.2 GENETICS AND CHRONOTYPE

2.2.1 HERITABILITY

Heritability is defined as the degree of individual genetic variation that accounts for phenotypic variation seen in a population at a particular time and age (Visscher et al. 2008). Genetic effects can be further divided into additive or non-additive effects (Visscher et al. 2008, Mayhew and Meyre 2017). Additive genetic effects are the sum of the individual effects of each allele at two or more loci that influence the phenotype. Non-additive genetic effects include interactions between alleles at the same locus (dominance) or interactions between alleles at different loci (epistasis). Narrow-sense heritability (h^2) refers to the additive genetic effects, and it measures how much of a variation among the parent's phenotype is passed to their offspring. Broad-sense heritability (H^2) is the ratio of total genetic variance to a phenotype, and it includes all genetic aspects of heritability.

The classic way to determine heritability is by using twin or family studies. Regarding the genetic basis of chronotype, twin and family studies have shown heritability estimates for chronotype ranging from 37% to 54% (Hur et al. 1998, Vink et al. 2001, Hur 2007, Koskenvuo et al. 2007, Barclay et al. 2010, Watson et al. 2013, von Schantz et al. 2015). In Finland, the overall heritability estimate was 50% (broad-sense heritability) with estimates of 12% for additive genetic effects and 38% for non-additive (dominant) genetic effects (Koskenvuo et al. 2007). Genetic effects on chronotype may attenuate with age, particularly during the period from 36 to 64 years (Barclay et al. 2014). This may be driven by environmental entrainers (e.g., work and family responsibilities) playing a more important role during that age period.

2.2.2 GENETICS

An increasing interest has been previously focused on searching for identifying genetic polymorphisms associated with chronotype. Most of the studies have been conducted using a candidate gene approach, but four genome-wide association studies of chronotype have also been published (Hu et al. 2016, Lane et al. 2016, Jones et al. 2016, 2019).

Candidate gene approach studies

Candidate gene studies focus on selecting potential candidate genes in relation to a phenotype of interest; prior knowledge of the mechanisms and genes underlying the certain phenotype is needed to do that (Kwon and Goate 2000). Clock genes pose a strong candidate gene group for chronotype associations not only because they control the circadian rhythms but also because of their important role in regulating metabolism (see section 2.1.1 on page 16). The first reported genetic association of chronotype was with CLOCK gene SNP rs1801260 on middle-aged US citizens (n=410) (Katzenberg et al. 1998). Since then this finding has been replicated in one study on Japanese adults (n=421) (Mishima et al. 2005), but, despite several attempts, more recent studies over the last decade have been unable to replicate the finding (Choub et al. 2011, Chang et al. 2011, Barclay et al. 2011, Etain et al. 2014, Kripke et al. 2014, Parsons et al. 2014, Song et al. 2016, Kim et al. 2016). Findings involving SNPs in other key clock genes (see Figure 2 for key clock genes on page 18) have also been inconsistent and mostly smallscale studies (Table 1), which points to the need for further research in various and larger population-based samples.

SNP	Gene	Association found	E	Age	Chronotype measure	Population	Study, country
rs11824092	ARNTL	yes (controls)	111 + 126	22-83	MEQ	Mood disorder patients and controls	Dmitrzak-Weglarz et al. 2016, Poland
rs1481892	ARNTL	yes (controls)	111 + 126	22-83	MEQ	Inpatients with mood disorders and controls	Dmitrzak-Weglarz et al. 2016, Poland
		ou	338	18-32	CSM	University students	Jankowski and Dmitrzak- Weglarz 2017, Poland
rs12363415	ARNTL	yes (MI patients)	200 + 200	64 ± 13	MEQ	Myocardial infarction (MI) patients and controls	Škrlec et al. 2019, Croatia
rs922270	ARNTL2	yes	952	18-27	MEQ	Population sample of young adults	Parsons et al. 2014, UK
rs1268271	CLOCK	yes (controls)	111 + 126	22-83	MEQ	Mood disorder patients and controls	Dmitrzak-Weglarz et al. 2016, Poland
		ou	925	36 ± 12	MEQ	Individuals with sleep disorder and controls	Hida et al. 2014, Japan
rs2292912	CRY2	yes (controls)	200 + 200	64 ± 13	MEQ	Myocardial infarction (MI) patients and controls	Škrlec et al. 2019, Croatia
rs2482705	NFIL3	yes	45	22-82	MEQ	Individuals with delayed phase or bipolar disorder	Kripke et al. 2014, USA
rs934945	PER2	yes	299	18-32	CSM	Medical college students	Lee et al. 2011, Korea
		yes	499	18-33	CSM	Healthy volunteers	Song et al. 2016, Korea
		ои	925	36 ± 12	MEQ	Individuals with sleep disorder and controls	Hida et al. 2014, Japan
		ои	952	18-27	MEQ	Population sample of young adults	Parsons et al. 2014, UK
		ои	200 + 200	64 ± 13	MEQ	Myocardial infarction (MI) patients and controls	Škrlec et al. 2019, Croatia

Candidate gene approach studies on associations between chronotype and clock genes SNPs published over the past decade. Table 1.

23

literature	
of the	
Review c	

ŝ		
ē		
2		
≞		
Ξ		
0		
0		
~		
۹		
0		
. ש		
-		
	I	

SNP	Gene	Association found	Ľ	Age	Chronotype measure	Population	Study, country
rs3533999	PER2	yes (controls)	200 + 200	64 ± 13	MEQ	Myocardial infarction (MI) patients and controls	Škrlec et al. 2019, Croatia
rs335789	PER2	yes	335 789	40-69	single item chronotype¹	The UK biobank study participants	Chang et al. 2019, UK
rs228697	PER3	yes	925	36 ± 12	MEQ	Individuals with sleep disorder and controls	Hida et al. 2014, Japan
rs10462020	PER3	yes	952	18–27	MEQ	Population sample of young adults	Parsons et al. 2014, UK
rs3828057	RORC	yes	45	22-82	MEQ	Individuals with delayed phase or bipolar disorder	Kripke et al. 2014, USA
rs774045	TIMELESS	yes	100 + 72	mean >50	CSM	Individuals with bipolar disorder and controls	Etain et al. 2014, France
rs2291738	TIMELESS	yes	338	18-32	CSM	University students	Jankowski and Dmitrzak- Weglarz 2017, Poland
CSM; Composite	Scale of Morni	ngness, MEQ; m	orningness-ev	/eningness qu	estionnaire		

¹ Chronotype was assessed with a single self-evaluation question on chronotype: "There are so called morning people and evening people, which are you?"

GWASs of chronotype

GWASs, unlike candidate gene approach studies, do not require a priori knowledge of genes, which could underlie the phenotype of interest (Tam et al. 2019). Instead, GWAS searches the entire genome for genetic variations that occur more commonly in individuals with that particular phenotypic trait of interest.

The previous GWASs of chronotype have identified 351 independent loci associated with chronotype (Hu et al. 2016, Lane et al. 2016, Jones et al. 2016, 2019). Clock genes are also among these loci, among which *PER2* was identified by all four GWASs, thus supporting the findings from the candidate gene approach studies related to *PER2* (e.g., Lee et al. 2011, Song et al. 2016). Other loci among those identified are, for example, enriched for genes involved in insulin signaling pathways (Jones et al. 2019).

The four GWASs are based on two large cohorts, the 23andMe (Hu et al. 2016) and the UK Biobank Study (Lane et al. 2016, Jones et al. 2016). The most recent and the largest of the GWASs is a meta-analysis of these two cohorts (n=697,828) (Jones et al. 2019). Chronotype assessment of both cohorts was based on a single self-evaluation question. The 23andMe questionnaire included two identically worded questions ("Are you naturally a night person or a morning person?"), whereas the question in the UK Biobank study ("There are so called morning people and evening people, which are you?") was a modification from the original MEQ item 19 ("One hears about 'morning' and 'evening' types of people. Which ONE of these types do you consider yourself to be?"). Thus far, there are no published GWASs of chronotype with a validated, questionnaire-based chronotype assessment.

2.3 **DIETARY HABITS AND CHRONOTYPE**

Dietary assessment methods

Measuring dietary intake is challenging, and all the specific methods (food frequency questionnaires [FFQ]), diet records and dietary recalls) have limitations. A dietary assessment method should be selected with consideration of research aims, hypothesis, design, and available resources.

The FFQ, the main method used for assessing diet in epidemiological studies, was developed to assess the habitual diet, usually from the previous 6-12 months (Willett 2013). The FFQ aims to rank individuals along the distribution of intake by separating those with low intakes from those with high intakes, thus making it a convenient method for epidemiological studies. It also may be more accurate than the other methods for estimating average intake of those nutrients/foods having large day-to-day variability and that are consumed occasionally or seasonally. The semi-quantitative FFQ includes portion-size estimates, but inclusion of portion sizes is not

mandatory. Overall, the FFQ is fast, practical and cheap to administer. However, the FFQ must be validated among the population of interest before being used.

Dietary recalls and records are often used in population surveys to monitor nutrient intake levels and dietary habits. They give more detailed intake data over a short period of time and can also be used for assessing food intake timing (Baranowski 2013). A trained reviewer of a dietary recall gathers detailed information about all foods and beverages consumed and their consumption time and place by the participant during the previous day (24-hour recall) or over multiple, preferably non-consecutive days. Recalls are relatively easy to conduct and do not affect the participant's dietary intake. However, they are somewhat more burdensome for participants because they rely greatly on the participant's memory. In diet records, the participant reports all foods and beverages consumed and their consumption time and place preferably over at least three days (including one weekend day) for a population-level intake estimation and for at least seven days for estimating individual-level intakes. A downside is that recording their dietary intake is burdensome for participants, and it may also change what they eat during a recording period.

2.3.1 OVERALL DIET QUALITY AND THE BALTIC SEA DIET SCORE

Overall diet quality

In nutritional epidemiology, the traditional way to conduct a nutritional study has been by focusing on single dietary components and their role in health and disease (Hu 2002). However, a more holistic approach has emerged of capturing the diet as a whole instead of single nutrients or foods. The rationale behind this approach is that people do not consume single nutrients or foods but combinations of foods with different nutrients. Foods and nutrients are often correlated, and they may have cumulative effects and interactions that may be difficult to take into account when studying associations of single nutrients and foods. Therefore, taking overall diet quality into account may capture the diet's complexity better and produce stronger associations between diet and health/disease than focusing on a single nutrient or food alone.

There are two main methods for capturing an overall diet quality: *a priori* and *a posteriori* (Hu 2002, Waijers et al. 2007). The *a priori* method is based on diet quality scores that reflect adherence to the diet under investigation. Diet scores are defined beforehand and are generally based on the current nutritional knowledge (Waijers et al. 2007). Several predefined scores reflecting an overall diet quality have been developed such as the Healthy Eating Index (based on the dietary guidelines for Americans) (Krebs-Smith et al. 2018), the Mediterranean Diet Score (based on the

traditional diet typical for Mediterranean region) (Trichopoulou et al. 2003) and the Baltic Sea Diet Score (based on the healthy Nordic diet) (Kanerva et al. 2014b). The *a posteriori* method is based on dietary patterns that are derived afterwards from dietary data with the use of statistical methods such as factor analysis (Hu 2002).

Healthy Nordic Diet and the Baltic Sea Diet Score

The healthy Nordic diet includes typical, locally grown and culturally accepted foods of the Nordic countries (Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, and Sweden) (Adamsson et al. 2012). It is characterized as being rich in Nordic berries, roots, cereals (rye, oat and barley), fatty fish, low-fat dairy and rapeseed oil and low in red and processed meat. The Baltic Sea Diet Pyramid (Figure 3) has been created to illustrate the healthy Nordic Diet (by the University of Eastern Finland, the Finnish Diabetes Association and the Finnish Heart Association). Foods recommended to be eaten plentifully and on a daily basis (such as vegetables, fruits and berries) are at the bottom of the pyramid; foods recommended to be eaten seldom (such as sweets) are at the top of the pyramid.



Figure 3 The Baltic Sea Diet Pyramid (created by the University of Eastern Finland, the Finnish Diabetes Association and the Finnish Heart Association). Source: the Finnish Diabetes Association

The health effects of the healthy Nordic diet have been examined in several randomized, controlled trials conducted in the Nordic countries. The largest of these is a Scandinavian multicenter trial (Sysdiet) (n=200, duration 18-24 weeks), a collaboration between Finland, Denmark, Iceland and Sweden that included participants with overweight/obesity and features of metabolic syndrome (Uusitupa et al. 2013). Several smaller local trials have also been conducted, for example, in Finland (Sysdimet, n=106) (de Mello et al. 2011), Sweden (Nordiet, n=88) (Adamsson et al. 2012) and in Denmark (New Nordic Diet, n=181) (Poulsen et al. 2014). Findings from these trials have shown positive effects from the healthy Nordic diet on cardiovascular risk factors (e.g., cholesterol profile, blood pressure) (Adamsson et al. 2012; Uusitupa et al. 2013; Poulsen et al. 2014) and on inflammation (C-reactive protein [CRP]) (de Mello et al. 2011; Poulsen et al. 2014). Furthermore, in terms of body weight and glucose control, two metaanalyses (conducted by the same study group) have been conducted to evaluate the evidence from these trials (Ramezani-Jolfaie et al. 2020, Zimorovat et al. 2020). They concluded that a higher adherence to the Nordic diet may have positive effects on body weight (the meta-analysis included five trials, among which two studies included participants from the same main study, n=647) (Ramezani-Jolfaie et al. 2020) and may improve serum insulin and the Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR) levels (the meta-analysis included four trials, n=359) (Zimorovat et al. 2020).

The nine-item BSDS has been developed for epidemiological research and is one of the dietary scores based on the healthy Nordic diet (Kanerva et al. 2014b) (Table 2). Other scores based on the healthy Nordic diet include the Healthy Nordic Food Index (including rye bread, oatmeal, root vegetables, cabbages, fish, apples and pears) developed in Denmark (Olsen et al. 2011) and the New Nordic Diet Score (e.g., Nordic fruits and berries, root vegetables, cabbages, potatoes, whole grain breads, oatmeal, game, fish and seafood, consumption of unsweetened milk relative to fruit juice and consumption of water relative to sweetened beverages and a question on meal frequency) from Norway (Hillesund et al. 2014).

Higher adherence to the BSDS has been associated with, e.g., lower risk of abdominal obesity (Kanerva et al. 2013) and better weight maintenance (Kanerva et al. 2018), lower risk of low-grade inflammation (high-sensitivity-CRP) (Kanerva et al. 2014c, a) and lower disease mortality (Tertsunen et al. 2020).

Table 2.	Components of the Baltic Sea Diet Score (BSDS) (Kanerva et al.
	2014b).

Component	Contents	Scoring ¹
Fruits and berries	Apples, pears and berries (such as bilberries and lingonberries)	0-3 (positive)
Vegetables	Tomatoes, lettuce, cucumbers, different cabbages, peas and roots (excluding potatoes)	0-3 (positive)
Cereals	Rye, oat and barley	0-3 (positive)
Low-fat milk	Fat-free milk and milk with fat content ≤1.5 %),	0-3 (positive)
Fish	Salmon and freshwater fish (such as, Baltic herring)	0-3 (positive)
Red and processed meat	Beef, pork, lamb, processed meat products and sausages	0-3 (negative)
Total fat, E%	Total fat intake	0-3 (negative)
Fat quality	PUFA/SFA + trans-fatty acids	0-3 (positive)
Alcohol	Ethanol intake	0-1 (negative)
Total		0-25

E%; percentage of energy intake, SFA; saturated fatty acids, PUFA; polyunsaturated fatty acids ¹Scoring was based on fourths (except for alcohol) of consumption calculated separately for men and women. For alcohol, men who consumed 20g or less a day and women who consumed 10g or less a day were given 1 point; otherwise, 0 points were given.

Chronotype, diet and overall diet quality

Evidence gathered from observational studies on the associations between chronotype and dietary habits suggest that the evening type is associated with unhealthier food and nutrient intakes compared to morning types (Mazri et al. 2020). For example, in a Finnish population-based study (n=4493), evening types had a lower consumption of fruits, vegetables, whole grain and fish and a higher consumption of sweets and chocolate compared to morning types (Kanerva et al. 2012). Of the macronutrients, evening types had lower intakes of carbohydrates (as a percentage of energy intake [E%]), sucrose (E%), protein (E%) and fiber and higher intakes of fat (E%) and saturated fat (E%). Furthermore, several studies have associated evening types with a higher alcohol intake (Nakade et al. 2009, Sato-Mito et al. 2011a, Kanerva et al. 2012, Whittier et al. 2014).

The overall diet quality of chronotypes, assessed with dietary scores, has been examined in four very recent cross-sectional studies, among which one assessed adherence to the Brazilian version of the Healthy Eating Index (Gontijo et al. 2019), while three assessed adherence to the Mediterranean Diet (De Amicis et al. 2020, Muscogiuri et al. 2020, Rodríguez-Muñoz et al.

2020). Adherence to the Brazilian Healthy Eating Index-Revised was assessed among pregnant Brazilians (n=100) in which chronotype was assessed with MSF (Gontijo et al. 2019). The total scores of index were not associated with chronotype but, of the individual components, a higher intake of total grains was associated with a later chronotype, whereas a higher consumption of total fruits was associated with an earlier chronotype. Evening type was associated with a lower adherence to the Mediterranean Diet in an Italian study (n=416) of adults in which chronotype was assessed with a reduced five-item MEQ (De Amicis et al. 2020). Associations were not examined between chronotype and individual components of the diet score. The evening type was similarly associated with a lower adherence to the Mediterranean Diet in another Italian study that included middle-aged adults (n=172) and which assessed chronotype with the MEO (Muscogiuri et al. 2020). Of the individual score items, evening type was associated with a lower consumption of vegetables, fruits, fish, poultry, nuts, olive oil and wine and a higher consumption of soda drinks, red meat, butter, cream, margarine and sweets. A Spanish study on university students (n=457) in which chronotype was assessed with a reduced five-item MEQ also showed that evening types had a lower adherence to the Mediterranean Diet (Rodríguez-Muñoz et al. 2020). Of the single score items, evening types had a lower consumption of fruits, pulses, cereals and olive oil.

In summary, previous literature indicates that evening types have unhealthier food and nutrient intakes. Furthermore, studies indicated lower overall diet quality, as assessed with the Mediterranean Diet score, among evening types compared to morning types (De Amicis et al. 2020, Muscogiuri et al. 2020, Rodríguez-Muñoz et al. 2020). No association occurred with the Brazilian Healthy Eating Index (Gontijo et al. 2019); however, the selected study population that included pregnant women (which may affect their dietary habits) may at least partly explain why no association was observed between chronotype and dietary score in that particular study. Large population-based studies on chronotype associations with overall diet quality are lacking. Furthermore, chronotype adherence to the healthy Nordic diet has not been examined before.

2.3.2 TIMING OF FOOD INTAKE

In addition to overall diet quality approach, another emerging area in the field of nutritional epidemiology is related to the temporal aspect of eating (Asher and Sassone-Corsi 2015). This approach is based on the idea that it is not just *how* we eat but also *when* we eat that could be critical for an individual's metabolic health. Our energy metabolism is tightly linked to the circadian clocks, discussed earlier (see section 2.1.1 on page 16), and food intake is the most potent external factor that can entrain the peripheral clocks, just as light is for the central circadian clock (Reinke and Asher 2019). Therefore, *when* in addition to *how* we eat may have the potential to

modulate the circadian clocks and even disrupt the synchronization between the central and peripheral clocks, leading to circadian misalignment (Asher and Sassone-Corsi 2015, Ribas-Latre and Eckel-Mahan 2016, Reinke and Asher 2019).

One of the first studies demonstrating the importance of the timing of food intake to metabolic health was an experimental rodent study that showed that mice fed during the rest period gained more weight than mice fed during the active period with an equal amount of energy and physical activity (Arble et al. 2009).

In humans, the role of morning energy intake in obesity has probably been studied the most. A recent meta-analysis of breakfast skipping on obesity (including 36 cross-sectional and nine cohort studies) concluded that skipping breakfast was associated with increased risk of overweight/obesity and weight change (Ma et al. 2020), whereas evidence from randomized controlled trials indicate that eating breakfast could contribute to weight gain (Sievert et al. 2019, Bonnet et al. 2020). A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials (including seven trials, n=425, duration from 4 to 16 weeks) evaluated breakfast skipping compared with breakfast consumption on weight change and cardiometabolic risk factors (Bonnet et al. 2020). They concluded that breakfast skipping modestly but significantly reduced body weight but also increased low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL). Another systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the role of breakfast on total daily energy intake (including 10 trials, n=930, duration from 2 days to 6 weeks) in addition to weight change (seven trials, among which six overlapped with Bonnet et al. (2020), n=486, duration from 2 to 16 weeks) (Sievert et al. 2019). Similar results were found for weight change but, regarding differences in total daily energy intake, they found that breakfast consumers had a higher daily energy intake (~260 kcal/d) than breakfast skippers, which probably at least partly explains these findings from the trials.

The evidence related to distribution of energy intake over the course of the day on metabolic health has been evaluated by a systematic review of four cohort studies (n=270 to 4243, follow-up from 20 weeks to 6 years) and four clinical trials (n=6 to 60, duration from 1 day to 12 weeks) (Beccuti et al. 2017). It concluded that consuming more calories at the beginning of a day may be protective against overweight/obesity and have a beneficial effect on glucose metabolism. A meta-analysis of four cross-sectional studies (n=6685) and five trials (n=420, duration from 6 to 16 weeks) evaluated the role of evening energy intake on BMI and weight change (Fong et al. 2017). They concluded that the evidence from the observational studies showed a borderline significant positive association between evening energy intake and BMI, whereas the trials showed no difference between low versus high evening energy intake on weight change. The authors declared that high heterogeneity between studies makes it difficult to draw a definitive conclusion from the associations. They further pointed out that one of the main limitations among studies was the lack of a consistent approach to define timing of meal intake.

Other aspects closely related to the temporal aspect of eating are frequency and regularity of eating, which will be discussed only shortly. The role of high versus low meal frequencies in body weight and composition seem to be slightly in favor of higher meal frequency, although the difference seems to be negligible (Schoenfeld et al. 2015, Paoli et al. 2019). Irregularities in meal patterns, such as high variability in day-to-day timing and frequency of meals, may also have unfavorable effects on weight management (St-Onge et al. 2017). Furthermore, an emerging view of the temporal aspect of eating is to restrict the eating within a consistent 8- to 12-hour window during the individual's active period, which may have beneficial effects in terms of weight management, although thus far the studies are few and have been relatively small scale (Gill and Panda 2015, Zarrinpar et al. 2016, Manoogian et al. 2019).

None of these reviews/studies have evaluated the role of individual differences in circadian timing in humans in the association between energy intake timing and obesity.

Chronotype and food intake timing

Several cross-sectional studies have shown that evening types skip breakfast more often than morning types (Nakade et al. 2009, Sato-Mito et al. 2011a, Meule et al. 2012, Reutrakul et al. 2014, Teixeira et al. 2018, Mirghani et al. 2019).

Five studies have examined chronotype differences in clock timing of meals, and the evening type was associated with later timing of meals (breakfast, lunch and dinner) in all of them (Baron et al. 2011, Sato-Mito et al. 2011b, Lucassen et al. 2013, Nimitphong et al. 2018, Xiao et al. 2019) (Table 3). Differences in clock timing were most pronounced in a US study (n=52) that included evening and intermediate types (morning types were excluded from the study due to low numbers). The evening types in the study had their breakfast on average almost three hours later (2 h 46 min) than the intermediate types (Baron et al. 2011). As for lunch and dinner, the differences between evening and intermediate types were a little over an hour on average (lunch: 1 h 19 min, dinner 1 h 6 min). Another US study on obese and short-sleeping (<6.5 hours a night) participants (n=119) distinguished working days from non-working days (Lucassen et al. 2013). They found that evening types had later timing of the first eating occasion (1 h 21 min) on working days but no significant difference emerged on non-working days.

Three small-scale studies have examined the distribution of evening energy or macronutrient intakes (Baron et al. 2011, 2013, Lucassen et al. 2013) (Table 3). The US study (n=52) found that evening types had twice as many calories (754 kcal vs. 376 kcal) in the evening (after 8:00 p.m.) than intermediate types (Baron et al. 2011). They also reported that evening types had higher percentages of their total daily fat, protein and carbohydrate intakes in the evening (Baron et al. 2013). Another US study on obese and short-sleeping participants (n=119) found that evening types had a higher percentage of their total energy intake (%TEI) in the evening on working (30 %TEI vs. 14% TEI) and on non-working days (24%TEI vs. 14%TEI) than morning types, but no differences emerged in macronutrient intakes after 8:00 p.m. (Lucassen et al. 2013).

In summary, these findings indicated later clock timing of meal intakes among evening types and also that evening types have higher energy intakes in the evening (after 8:00 p.m.). Morning distribution of energy and macronutrients has not been examined among chronotypes. Furthermore, population-based studies on these associations are lacking.

Chronotype, food intake timing and obesity

It is unclear whether eating at a later clock time is equivalent to eating at a "wrong time" of day for evening types whose circadian phase is delayed compared to other chronotypes. Thus far, only few studies have circulated this question and examined the interrelationships between circadian rhythms, energy intake timing and obesity (Table 3).

A small-scale US (n=52) study found that a higher energy intake after 8:00 p.m. (Baron et al. 2011) and a protein intake four hours before sleep (Baron et al. 2013) were associated with a higher BMI independent of sleep timing or duration.

A Spanish study of university staff (n=171) suggested that the association between chronotype and meal timing may differ according to BMI (Muñoz et al. 2017). They found that normal-weight evening types tended to have a higher %TEI at breakfast and at dinner, whereas evening types with overweight/obesity had a higher %TEI at lunch. Normal-weight morning types had a higher %TEI at breakfast and lunch, and morning types with overweight/obesity had a higher %TEI at dinner.

A study from Thailand of participants with type 2 diabetes (n=210) suggested that breakfast timing could mediate the association between chronotype and BMI because they found that morning type was associated with an earlier breakfast time, and an earlier breakfast time was associated with a lower BMI (Nimitphong et al. 2018).

A recent US study (n=872) on middle-to-older aged participants found that, overall, a higher %TEI consumed in the morning (defined as intake appearing within two hours after getting out of bed) was associated with a lower risk of being overweight or obese (Xiao et al. 2019). This association was stronger among morning than evening types, whereas a higher %TEI consumed in the evening (defined as intake within two hours before bedtime) was associated with a higher risk of being overweight or obese. This association was stronger among evening types.

Finally, another US study touched the subject by examining energy intake timing relative to a clock hour and to endogenous circadian time (as assessed by DLMO) on college-aged individuals (n=110) (McHill et al. 2017). Their

findings suggested that higher body fatness was associated with the circadian timing of eating rather than the clock timing of eating, because participants with a high body fat percentage (BF%) had a higher %TEI closer to their biological night than did participants with low BF%, whereas no differences were found in clock hour distribution of energy intake between those with a low or high BF%.

In summary, the role of intrinsic circadian rhythms in the association between energy intake timing and obesity seems unclear based on these studies. One study found that higher energy intake in the evening associates with obesity despite chronotype (Baron et al. 2011). Another study suggested to the contrary that later eating would be beneficial for evening types (Muñoz et al. 2017). However, two of the studies suggested that eating closer to sleep time/biological night may be more harmful in terms of obesity than the clock hour of eating (McHill et al. 2017, Xiao et al. 2019) and that this would be even more harmful for the evening types (Xiao et al. 2019). Regarding the morning intake, it seems that it would be beneficial to eat earlier in the morning/closer to wake-up timing for all chronotypes (Nimitphong et al. 2018), or at least morning types would benefit from early eating (Xiao et al. 2019). However, again, larger scale population-based studies on these associations are lacking. Main findings from the studies examining association between chronotype, energy intake timing and obesity. Table 3.

Interrelationships between, energy intake	timing, chronotype and obesity	Higher energy intake after 8 p.m. was associated with a higher self-reported BMI independent of chronotype (β =0.44, <i>P</i> =0.03)	·	Protein consumed 4 hours before sleep was positively associated with self-reported BMI independent of chronotype (β =0.31, <i>P</i> =0.03).
ning intake as f total daily intake.	Macronutrients		·	Evening types had a higher % of total carbohydrate (33% vs. 19%), fat (35% vs. 19%) and protein (37% vs. 21%) intakes after 8 p.m. and a higher % of fat (33% vs. 9%) 4 hours before bed.
Morning/ever percentages (%) o	Energy	Evening types had a higher energy intake (754 kcal vs. 376 kcal) after 8:00 p.m.	ı	,
	Clock timing of meals	Evening types had later breakfast (mean 11:53 a.m. vs.9:07), lunch (mean 2:26 p.m. vs.1.07 p.m.), dinner (mean 8:13 p.m. vs.7:07) and last meal times (mean 10:17 p.m. vs 8:25 p.m.)	Evening types had later breakfast (mean 9:19 vs. 6:35), lunch (mean 12:42 vs. 12:20) and dinner (mean 19:19 vs. 18:51)	,
Dietary intake	assessment method	7-day diet records	A questionnaire on meal times	7-day diet records
	Chronotype measure	MEQ', MSF based on actigrafy	RSM	MEQ', MSF based on actigrafy
	n, (age)	52, w+m (18-71)	3304, w (18-20)	52, w+m (18-71)
	Population	Adults recruited via advert	University students	Adults recruited via advert
	Study	Baron et al. 2011, USA	Sato-Mito et al. 2011 (a), Japan	Baron et al. 2013, USA

0
£
1
1
2
ř
e
+
•
<u>e</u>
4
+
4
С,
-
2
~
e
· ~
2
e
2
_

	Interrelationships between, energy intake timing, chronotype and obesity		·	Participants with a higher BF% had consumed 50% of their total daily energy intake 1.1 h closer to DLMO than those with lower BF% (HR: 1.7, 95% CI: 1.1, 2.6). No difference in clock time was found (16:14 vs. 16:41; HR: 0.9; 95% CI: 0.6, 1.4). Participants who consumed a greater percentage of their daily calories between 4 h before DLMO and sleep onset had a higher BF% ($P = 0.006$).
Table 3. continues	Morning/evening intake as percentages (%) of total daily intake	Macronutrients	No chronotype differences were found on macronutrient intakes after 8 p.m. on working or non-working days.	
		Energy	Evening types had a higher energy intake after 8 p.m. on working days (30 %TEI vs. 14% TEI) and on non- working days (24%TEI vs. 14%TEI).	
		Clock timing of meals	Evening types had a later timing of first eating occasion (8:38 a.m. vs. 7:17 a.m.) on working days but no difference emerged on non-working days. Clock timing of other eating occasions were not reported.	
	Dietary intake	assessment method	3-day food records	7-day food records via MealLogger application
		Chronotype measure	MEQ	Endogenous circadian time (assessed by DLMO)
		n, (age)	119, m+w (18-50)	110 m+w (18-22)
		Population	Short- sleeping (<6.5 h) adults with obesity	Students
		Study	Lucassen et al. 2013, USA	McHill et al. 2017,USA
	ships	iergy intake motype and	Int evening 1 to have at breakfast %) and at %) and at vs.31%), vs.31%), vs.31%), int press ght/obesity at as 40%). (17% vs. ach (46% vs. as morning besity at vs. 28%).	e was vith an earlier g(m² (B = I: 0.88, 0.07),
----------------	--	--	---	---
	Interrelation	between, er timing, chrc obesity	Normal-weig types tendec higher % TEI (14% vs. 12' dinner (32% whereas eve with overweig types had a threakfast 15%) where types with overweight/c dinner (31%	Morning type associated v breakfast tin BMI by 0.4 0.37, 95% C
	ening intake as) of total daily intake	Macronutriens		
	Morning/ev percentages (%	Energy	,	
		Clock timing of meals	,	Evening type was associated with a later (iming of breakfast (iming of breakfast (iming of 00(07:30–09:00) vs. 08:00 (07:00– 08:30)), lunch (12:15 (12:00–13:23) vs. 12:00 (12:00–13:23) vs. 12:00 (12:00–13:00), dinner (18:30 (12:00–13:00), and last meal (19:00 (17:30–19:30) vs. 18:20 (17:53–19:00)).
		Dietary intake assessment method	FFQ, 24-h dietary recall	24-h dietary recall
		Chronotype measure	MEQ	SS
		n, (age)	171, m+w (30-60)	210 m+w (58.6±11)
inues		Population	University staff	Subjects with Type 2 Diabetes
Table 3. conti		Study	Muñoz et al. 2017, Spain	Nimitphong et al. 2018, Thailand

Review of the literature

S	
Je	
Ľ	
Iti	
2	
õ	
·· ·	
e	
ble 3	
able 3	
Table 3	

Interrelationships between, energy intake	timing, chronotype and obesity	Morning energy intake (%TEI) associated with lower odds of being overweight or obese (odds ratio (95% confidence intervals), 0.53 (0.31, 0.89)), particularly in moming types (OR 0.32, 95% CI 0.16, 0.66). Evening energy intake was associated with higher odds of being overweight or 0.05 volta 1.82, 95% CI: 1.07, 3.08), particularly in evening types (OR 4.94, 95% CI: 1.61, 15.14).
g intake as of total daily intake	Macronutrients	
Morning/evening percentages (%) _	Energy	
	Clock timing of meals	Evening types had a later timing of breakfast (-1 h), lunch (-12 min), dinner (-18 min) and shorter time between waking up and breakfast (36 min vs. 60 min) and longer time between dinner and bedtime (5 h vs. 4 h)
Dietary intake	assessment method	6 x 24-h dietary recalls
	Chronotype measure	R S R
	n, (age)	872 m+w (50-74)
	Population	The Interactive Diet and Activity Tracking in American Association of Retired Persons (AARP) study participants
	Study	Xiao et al. 2019, USA

i

%TEI: percentage of total energy intake, CI; confidence interval, CSM; Composite Scale for Morningness, DLMO; dim light melatonin onset, FFQ; food frequency questionnaire, h; hour, m; men, min; minutes, MSF; midpoint of sleep on free days, w; women ¹ Study included only evening and intermediate types.

2.4 **OBESITY AND CHRONOTYPE**

Definition

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines overweight and obesity as excess fat tissue that has accumulated to an extent that it presents a risk to health (WHO 2000). Obesity is associated with increased risk of developing a number of health conditions, including metabolic syndrome, coronary heart disease and premature mortality (WHO 2000). The most-used tool for measuring obesity and overweight is the BMI, calculated by dividing weight (kg) by the square of height (m²) (WHO 2000). In general, a person with a BMI \geq 25 is considered overweight, and a person with a BMI \geq 30 is considered obese. Another widely used measure of obesity is waist circumference (WC) (WHO 2011). WC is a good indicator of abdominal fat, which is associated with a greater risk of chronic diseases than fat located in other areas. A WC>102 cm for men and >88 cm for women indicates an increased risk of chronic diseases.

Prevalence

Obesity is a worldwide public health concern whose prevalence has nearly tripled during the last 40 years (WHO 2020). Globally, 39% of adults were overweight and 13% were obese in 2016. In Finland, the latest National FinHealth 2017 Study reported that 72% of men and 63% of women over 30 years of age were at least overweight, and 26% of men and 28% of women were obese (Koponen et al. 2018). Furthermore, nearly half (46%) of the adults had abdominal obesity. Obesity has also become more prevalent in Finland, and the trend is on the increase after a steadier period in the early 2000s (Laatikainen et al. 2019).

Chronotype and obesity

Six cross-sectional studies (n>500) that have examined the association between chronotype and measured anthropometrics in adults have shown inconsistent findings (Table 4). In a UK Biobank study (n=119 679), evening types were more likely overweight (OR 1.12, 95% CI: 1.04, 1.21) or obese (OR 1.15, 95% CI: 1.04, 1.27) and had abdominal obesity (OR 1.08, 95% CI 1.01, 1.16) than morning types (Celis-Morales et al. 2017). Similar findings emerged in a community-based US study of middle-aged men and women (n=1197) in which evening types had 1.67 odds (95% CI 1.08-2.56) for being obese compared to morning types (Sun et al. 2020). A study from Thailand on pre-diabetic patients (n=2133) also reported a higher BMI among evening types (Anothaisintawee et al. 2018). However, a Norwegian population-based study (Johnsen et al. 2013) and a study of Americans with Hispanic/Latino origins (Knutson et al. 2017) reported no association between chronotype and BMI. Furthermore, no association between chronotype and BMI was found in the Korean population-based study, but their findings indicated that evening types had an unhealthier body composition (e.g., higher body fat mass and more subcutaneous fat) than morning types (Yu et al. 2015).

Two small-scale studies have examined the longitudinal association between chronotype and obesity. In a US study on college freshmen (n=54), evening type (assessed with MEQ) was associated with an increase of 0.50 (95% CI 0.04–0.95) BMI points (self-reported) during an 8-week follow-up period (Culnan et al. 2013). A Spanish study (n=252) on severely obese bariatric surgery patients found that evening types (assessed with the MEQ) had a higher measured BMI and WC in the baseline than morning types (Ruiz-Lozano et al. 2016). Evening types were also less likely to lose more weight during a six-year follow-up after the surgery.

In summary, evidence from the cross-sectional studies seems inconsistent. While some studies suggest higher obesity prevalence among evening types (Celis-Morales et al. 2017, Anothaisintawee et al. 2018, Sun et al. 2020), the same number of studies report no association (Johnsen et al. 2013, Yu et al. 2015, Knutson et al. 2017). Longitudinal data indicate that evening types were more prone to weight gain and less likely to lose weight; however, the extremely short follow-up period in Culnan et al.'s study (2013) and the selected study populations in both longitudinal studies limit the findings' generalizability. Thus, large-scale, population-based studies on longitudinal associations of chronotype are needed.

Study, country	Population	n, (age)	Chronotype measure	Outcome	Main findings (evening vs. morning type)
Johnsen et al. 2013, Norway	Tromsø Study participants	6412, m+w (30-65)	MSF	measured BMI, BMI ≥25, WC ≥88 cm women and ≥102 cm men	No associations.
Yu et al. 2015, Korea	Korean Genome Epidemiology Study (KoGES) participants	1620, m+w (47-59)	MEQ	measured BMI, WC, SFA, VFA, body fat mass, body lean mass	Evening type: SFA ↑ (208 vs.185 cm ²), body fat mass ↑ (19 vs.17 kg), body lean mass ↓ (41 vs. 44 kg)
Celis-Morales et al. 2017, UK	UK Biobank participants	119 679, m+w (37-73)	single-item chronotype	measured BMI ≥25, ≥30, WC ≥88 women and ≥102 men	Evening type: overweight ↑ (OR 1.12, 95% CI: 1.04, 1.21), obesity ↑ (OR 1.15, 95% CI: 1.04, 1.27), abdominal obesity ↑ (OR 1.08, 95% CI 1.01, 1.16).
Knutson et al. 2017, USA	Hispanic Community Health Study / Study of Latinos (HCHS/SOL) participants	13 429, m+w (18-74)	MSF	measured BMI	No association.
Anothaisin- tawee et al. 2018, Thailand	Prediabetic patients	2133, m+w (32-92)	CSM	measured BMI	Evening type: BMI ↑ (<i>B</i> −0.08, <i>P</i> <0.001)
Sun et al., 2020, USA	Bogalusa Heart Study participants	1197, m+w (48±5)	rMEQ	measured BMI ≥30	Evening type: obesity ↑ (OR 1.67, 95% Cl 1.08-2.56)

Table 4. Cross-sectional studies (n>500) on the association between chronotype and obesity.

BMI; body mass index (kg/m²), CI; confidence interval, CSM; Composite Scale for Morningness, m; men, MEQ; morningness-eveningness questionnaire, MSF; midpoint of sleep on free days, OR; odds ratio, rMEQ; reduced 5-item MEQ, SFA; subcutaneous fat area (cm²), VAF; Visceral fat area (cm²), w; women, WC; waist circumference (cm)

3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The general aim of this doctoral thesis was to examine associations of chronotype on dietary habits and anthropometric measures and further the interrelationships between these factors. Additionally, this thesis aimed to explore the genetic background of chronotype to clarify the underlying mechanisms behind the dietary behavior and health of chronotypes. The more specific aims were:

1. To examine associations of chronotype on dietary habits (overall diet quality, energy and macronutrient intake timing) in a cross-sectional design (I and II).

Hypothesis: Evening types have poorer overall diet quality and delayed timing of energy and macronutrient intakes compared to morning types.

2. To examine associations of chronotype with anthropometric measures in cross-sectional (I) and longitudinal (III) designs.

Hypothesis: Evening types have higher anthropometric measures and are more likely to gain weight over a seven-year follow-up than morning types.

3. To examine the association between dietary habits (overall diet quality and energy intake timing) on anthropometrics by chronotypes in crosssectional (I, III) and longitudinal (III) designs.

Hypothesis: Evening types with poorer adherence to a healthy diet/higher energy intake in the evening hours are more likely with obesity than morning types.

4. To examine the genetic associations of chronotype (clock genes, GWAS of chronotype and to develop a genetic risk score (GRS) for chronotype (IV).

Hypothesis: Clock gene SNPs and GRS associate with chronotype, whereas GWAS analysis of chronotype is hypothesis free.

4 METHODS

4.1 STUDY SAMPLES

This thesis consists of the population-based National FINRISK 2007 and 2012 studies and the following three substudies of FINRISK 2007: DIetary Lifestyle and Genetic determinants of Obesity and Metabolic syndrome (DILGOM) 2007, DILGOM 2014 (follow-up) and the National FINDIET 2007 Study conducted at the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (THL) (Table 5).

4.1.1 THE NATIONAL FINRISK 2007 (II, IV) AND 2012 (IV) STUDIES

The FINRISK studies monitored trends in risk factors of non-communicable diseases in the Finnish population and were conducted every five years from 1972 until 2012 (Vartiainen et al. 2010, Borodulin et al. 2015). This thesis includes data from FINRISK 2007 (Vartiainen et al. 2010) and 2012 (Borodulin et al. 2015). A random sample (9958 in 2007; and 9905 in 2012) of men and women were invited to participate in the study (Table 5). They were selected from the National Population Register covering the age groups between 25 and 74 years in five large geographical regions: 1) Helsinki and Vantaa (the capital area), 2) Turku and Loimaa, 3) North Savo, 4) North Karelia, and 5) Northern Ostrobothnia and Kainuu. Both studies included a health examination (e.g., anthropometric measures and blood samples) and self-administered questionnaires (e.g., questions on medical history and socio-economic factors, including questions on preferences to time the daily activities and socioeconomic status), which occurred between January and March for FINRISK 2007 and between January and April for FINRISK 2012. Of the invited, 6258 participated in 2007 (participation rate 63%) and 5827 in 2012 (participation rate 59%).

4.1.2 DIETARY LIFESTYLE AND GENETIC DETERMINANTS OF OBESITY AND METABOLIC SYNDROME (DILGOM) 2007 AND 2014 STUDIES (I, III)

The DILGOM 2007 Study is a substudy of FINRISK 2007 with a focus on obesity and metabolic syndrome (Konttinen et al. 2010) (Appendix I). All the participants of FINRISK 2007 were invited to DILGOM 2007, which was conducted between April and June. The participants underwent a more detailed health examination and completed questionnaires on food consumption, sleep and other health-related behavior. Of the invited, 5024 participated (participation rate 80%) (Table 5).

The DILGOM follow-up study was conducted between April and June 2014 (Kanerva et al. 2018). In all, 4581 participants were invited to the follow-up after excluding those who had died or moved outside of Finland during the follow-up period or whose contact information was unavailable (n=443) (Table 5). Of the invited, 3735 participated (participation rate 82%). The follow-up was carried out in two groups: Group 1 included participants of the capital area and southwestern Finland who had a health examination and completed questionnaires (n=1312); Group 2 included participants from the other three study areas who completed questionnaires (n=2423).

4.1.3 THE NATIONAL FINDIET 2007 STUDY (II, III)

One third (n=3286) of FINRISK 2007 participants were invited to FINDIET 2007, another substudy of FINRISK 2007 (Paturi et al. 2008) (Table 5) (Appendix I). FINDIET focuses on dietary habits and nutrient intakes of the Finnish population and has been conducted every five years since 1982. Dietary intake was collected using 48-hour dietary recall and 3-day food records. Of the invited, 2054 participants participated in the recalls and 2038 (62%) recalls were accepted. Approximately half of the participants (n=1646) invited to the 48-hour dietary recall were also asked to complete the 3-day food records at home starting from the day following the 48-hour dietary recall (Paturi et al. 2008). A total of 935 food records were returned and 912 accepted.

	FINRISK 2007	DILGOM 2007	FINDIET 2007	FINRISK 2012	DILGOM 2014
Data collection year	2007	2007	2007	2012	2014
Invited, n	9958	6258	3286	9905	4581
Participated in the health examination or completed questionnaires, n	6258	5024	2038	5827	3735¹
Age range, years	25-74	25-74	25-74	25-74	25-74
Women, %	53%	54%	66%	52%	55%
Chronotype data, n	5696	x	x	4496	3093
Dietary data used by substudies					
Returned FFQ, n (I)	х	4874	х	х	х
Accepted 48-hour dietary recalls, n (II and III)	x	x	2038	x	x
Accepted 3-day dietary records, n (II)	x	x	912	x	x
Genetic data, n (IV)	5330	x	x	3439	x

 Table 5.
 General characteristics of study samples used in the thesis.

¹Group 1: n=1312 health examination and questionnaires, Group 2: n=2423 questionnaires.

4.1.4 STUDY DESIGN AND INCLUSION CRITERIA

Table 6 presents data, final sample size, study design and inclusion criteria by each substudy.

Substudy	Data	n	Design	Inclusion criteria
I	DILGOM 2007	4421	cross- sectional	Men and non-pregnant women with chronotype information, FFQ and anthropometric measurements
II	FINRISK 2007, FINDIET 2007	1854	cross- sectional	Men and women with chronotype information and 48-hour dietary recalls
III	DILGOM 2007/2014, FINDIET 2007	1097	longitudinal	Men and non-pregnant women with baseline chronotype information, 48-hour dietary recalls and anthropometric measurements from baseline and follow-up
IV	FINRISK 2007/ 2012	8433	cross- sectional	Men and women with chronotype and genetic information

Table 6.Inclusion criteria and number of participants of the substudies.

FFQ; food frequency questionnaire

4.2 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The FINRISK 2007 and 2012, DILGOM 2007/2014 and FINDIET 2007 adhered to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki. The Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa approved the research protocols (FINRISK 2007/FINDIET2007/DILGOM2007: HUS 229/EO/2006, FINRISK 2012: HUS 162/13/03/11 and DILGOM 2014: HUS 332/13/03/00/13). All participants signed the informed consent.

4.3 STUDY MEASURES

4.3.1 CHRONOTYPE

Chronotype was assessed with six questions from the self-administered questionnaire. These six questions (items 4, 7, 9, 15, 17, 19) were derived from the original 19-item MEQ (Horne and Östberg 1976, Hätönen et al. 2008) (Appendix II). The six questions accounted for 83% of the total variance of the original MEQ with Cronbach's α of 0.80 (Hätönen et al. 2008). The scoring of these questions was based on the scoring of the

original MEQ (Horne and Östberg 1976). Thus, the shortened sum of the morningness-eveningness (ME) score could vary from 5 (extreme eveningness) to 27 (extreme morningness). In all substudies, the ME score was used as a continuous variable and as a categorical variable. In substudy I the ME score was categorized into study-specific thirds (morning type, intermediate type and evening type) to obtain larger group sizes for studying associations by BSDS fifths. In substudies II and III the ME score was categorized in a way that corresponded to the scaling of the original MEQ: (definitely or moderately) evening (5-12 points), intermediate (13-18 points) and (definitely or moderately) morning type (19-27 points) (Merikanto et al. 2012). Analyses in substudy IV required a dichotomized response variable; therefore, chronotype was used as a binary variable (median cut-off) evening type (5-15 points) and morning type (16-27 points). In substudy IV chronotype was also assessed based on the single self-evaluation question on chronotype (single-item chronotype) (question 6) for comparison in which "rather a morning than an evening type" and "definitely a morning type" composed a morning type group and "rather an evening than a morning type", and "definitely an evening type" composed an evening type group.

4.3.2 DIETARY HABITS

In substudy I overall diet quality was measured with the BSDS and dietary intake was assessed with an FFQ. In the substudies II and III timing of energy and macronutrient intakes were examined using dietary intake information from 48-hour recalls and 3-day food records (II).

FFQ

Habitual diet over the previous 12 months was measured with a 131-item semi-quantitative FFQ that was developed and updated at the THL (Männistö et al. 1996, Paalanen et al. 2006, Kaartinen et al. 2012). The FFQ has been validated against dietary records (Männistö et al. 1996, Paalanen et al. 2006, Kaartinen et al. 2012). Participants completed the FFQs at the study site of DILGOM 2007, and trained study nurses reviewed the FFQs after their completion. The average consumption of each FFQ food-item was assessed with a scale of nine frequencies ranging from "never or seldom" to "six or more times a day." The portion sizes in the questionnaire were predefined and appeared as common household units, such as a glass or a slice. The average portion sizes of each FFQ item separately for men and women were based on the FINDIET 2007 (dietary recalls). The average daily intakes of foods, nutrients and energy were calculated by the Finnish National Food Composition Database (Fineli®) developed at the THL (Reinivuo et al. 2010).

The Baltic Sea Diet score

The overall diet quality was assessed with the nine-item BSDS, which illustrates a healthy Nordic diet (see Table 2 on page 29) (Kanerva et al. 2014b). The scoring of these nine items was based on fourths of consumption of each item separately for men and women. For fruits and berries, vegetables, cereals, low-fat milk, fish and the fat ratio, the lowest fourth of consumption was given 0 points, the second 1 point, the third 2 points and the highest fourth of consumption 3 points. The opposite scoring was used for red meat and processed meat and total fat. For alcohol, men who consumed 20g or less a day and women who consumed 10g or less a day were given 1 point; otherwise, 0 points were given. The resulting BSDS could range from 0 to 25 with higher scores indicating higher adherence to the Baltic Sea diet.

The 48-hour dietary recalls and the 3-day food records

The 48-hour dietary recalls (II, III) and the 3-day food records (II) were used to assess the mean daily energy intake by clock hours. In FINDIET 2007, trained interviewers recorded all foods and beverages consumed and time and place of consumption from the two preceding days of the interview (Paturi et al. 2008). The interviews occurred between Mondays and Fridays; therefore, the 48-hour recalls did not cover Fridays (Reinivuo et al., 2010). The 3-day food records were asked to be completed at home starting the day following the 48-hour dietary recalls (Paturi et al. 2008). Similar to the recalls, participants were asked to record all foods and beverages consumed and the time and place of consumption during those days in the dietary records. Participants estimated portion sizes with a food photograph booklet in both dietary assessment methods (Paturi et al. 2006). Daily intakes of energy and macronutrients were calculated with Fineli® (Reinivuo et al., 2010).

Energy and macronutrient intake timing

The morning energy intake refers to energy intake appearing from 3:00 a.m. till 9:59 a.m., whereas the evening intake refers to the energy intake appearing from 8:00 p.m. till 2:59 a.m.. These time periods were based on the previous literature (Baron et al., 2011) and on average timing of morning and evening meals of the Finnish population (Helldán et al., 2013). Morning and evening energy intakes were expressed as the mean %TEI, which were calculated as the energy consumed during each period divided by the total daily energy intake. Morning and evening macronutrient intakes were expressed as E% during each period in order to take energy intake into account.

Energy and macronutrient timing analysis in substudy II and III were based on the 48-hour dietary recalls, including all days of the week (except for Fridays). However, additional analyses were conducted in substudy II to examine differences in the timing of energy and macronutrient intakes between weekdays (Monday to Friday) and weekends (Saturday and Sunday). The combined data from the 48-hour dietary recalls and 3-day food records were used for these analyses, because the 48-hour dietary recalls did not include Fridays. Differences between the 48-hour dietary recalls and the 3-day food records in average total daily macronutrient intakes (carbohydrates, fat, protein) have been found to be rather small (<1E%) but slightly larger for energy (298 kJ) and alcohol (2.9 g) intakes (Maukonen 2015). Therefore, in substudy II, effect sizes for practical significances were also estimated with Cohen's d (Cohen 1992). Effect sizes were ≤ 0.2 for energy and for all macronutrient intakes (except for alcohol d=0.24). The difference between two means can be considered practically insignificant when d≤0.2 and small when d=0.2-0.3. Small effect size regarding alcohol intake can be at least partly explained by the fact that the 48-hour dietary recalls did not cover Fridays. Thus, based on these findings, the dietary data from the 48-hour dietary recalls and 3-day food records were combined to analyze the differences in the timing of energy and macronutrient intakes between weekdays and weekends.

The weekday analysis yielded results similar to the analysis based solely on the 48-hour dietary recalls (including all days of the week, except for Fridays); therefore, the results from the weekday analysis will not be reported. The results based solely on the 48-hour dietary recalls, together with findings from the weekend analysis, will be reported instead.

4.3.3 ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES

Anthropometric measures were used as outcome variables in substudy I (BMI, WC, BF%) and in substudy III (weight, BMI, WC).

At the DILGOM 2007 and 2014 (group 1) sites, trained study nurses measured weight, height, WC and BF% of participants who wore light clothing and were barefooted according to the standardized international protocols (Tolonen et al. 2008). Height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm with a wall-attached stadiometer and weight to the nearest 0.1 kg with a beam balance scale. BMI was calculated as weight (kg) divided by squared height (kg/m²). Obesity was defined as BMI \geq 30 kg/m² according to the WHO guidelines (WHO 2000). WC was measured to the nearest 0.5 cm with a soft measuring tape that was placed around the waist to the mid-point of the lowest rib and iliac crest. BF% was measured using an electric bioimpedance scale (Tanita TBF-300MA; Tanita Corporation of America, Arlington Heights, IL, USA).

The anthropometric measurements were based on self-reports in DILGOM 2014 Group 2 (Appendix I). Therefore, substudy III included both self-reported and measured anthropometrics. Self-reported weight and height were queried in the questionnaire as "What is your current weight? (in

kg)" and "What is your current height? (in cm)." The self-reported BMI was calculated based on these questions. A measurement tape was sent with written instructions that included illustrations for the self-reported WC. The instructions advised participants to place the measuring tape around the waist to the midpoint between the lowest rib and iliac crest on bare skin or on light clothing in front of a mirror to help with the correct placement.

Anthropometric measures are subject to reporting biases that may lead to differences between self-reported and measured values (Gorber et al. 2007, Maukonen et al. 2018). Therefore, the validity of self-reported height, weight, and WC against measured values have been examined in the DILGOM 2014 data; the self-reported values have been found to correlate strongly with the measured values (for height, intraclass correlation coefficient 0.96 in men and 0.97 in women; for weight, intraclass correlation coefficient 0.99 in men and women; for WC, intraclass correlation agreement 0.96 in men and 0.95 in women) (Kanerva et al. 2018). However, regarding the WC, the difference between self-reported and measured WC increased towards the larger WCs. Analyses were conducted with and without self-reported WC values in substudy III to take this finding into account, but this did not affect the findings.

4.3.4 GENETICS

Venous blood samples were taken by trained study nurses at the FINRISK study sites. The samples were stored in minus 70°C. DNA extraction was conducted at the THL. Genotyping was done at the Sanger Institute, Broad Institute, or Institute for Molecular Medicine Finland in five batches using the following Illumina GWAS arrays: HumanCoreExome, Omniexpress and batches were substudies of FINRISK 2007 (including 610K. Four COROGENE controls (610K), PREDICTCVD cases and controls (Omniexpress), and one batch with HumanCoreExome, whereas the fifth batch included participants from FINRISK 2012 (HumanCoreExome). The same standard quality control methods and standard imputation procedures were centrally applied for the data from each batch; this was followed by a joint quality control (minor allele frequency [MAF] ≥0.05 [5%], Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium [HWE] P>1x10-7, imputed information score [INFO] >0.7 and missing proportion <0.02 [2%]) to harmonize the data content. Imputation of all GWAS data was done against a Finnish population-specific. whole-genome sequence backbone, the SISu (Sequencing Initiative Suomi) reference database version 3 (www.sisuproject.fi). The genotyping and imputation have been performed as described in Locke et al. (2019). Furthermore, closely related individuals were excluded (n=125) from the final dataset (PLINK pi_hat>0.20).

The following 20 key clock genes (see Figure 2, on page 18) were included in the clock gene analyses: *ARNTL*, *ARNTL2*, *BHLHE40*, *BHLHE41*, *CLOCK*, *CRY1*, *CRY2*, *CSNK1E*, *CSNK1D*, *NFIL3 NPAS2*, *NR1D1*, *NR1D2*, *PER1*, *PER2, PER3, RORA, RORB, RORC, TIMELESS* (Hayes et al. 2005, Takahashi 2017, Sato et al. 2018, Kurien et al. 2019, Patke et al. 2020). A total of 4022 clock gene SNPs passed the quality control out of 8668 SNPs and were included in the study. Among these SNPs, altogether 66 SNPs were previously associated with chronotype (Katzenberg et al. 1998, Carpen et al. 2005, 2006, Matsuo et al. 2007, Lee et al. 2011, Etain et al. 2014, Kripke et al. 2014, Parsons et al. 2014, Dmitrzak-Weglarz et al. 2016, Song et al. 2016, Jankowski and Dmitrzak-Weglarz 2017, Jones et al. 2019).

For the GWAS analysis, 5,842,835 SNPs passed the quality control out of 12,954,971 SNPs and were included in the GWAS. Of these, 7741 SNPs were found to be among the top 10,000 chronotype-associated SNPs in the previous GWAS meta-analysis of chronotype based on the UK Biobank and the 23andMe data (Jones et al. 2019).

The GRS was based on 313 lead SNPs from the previous GWAS of chronotype (Jones et al. 2019). The GRS was created by summing the total number of minor alleles that were weighted by their corresponding regression coefficients for risk of being an evening type for each participant. These regression coefficients were based on the previous GWAS study; however, the direction of the regression coefficients for the analyses was reversed because the coefficients were originally reported for risk of being a morning type (Jones et al. 2019). The individual associations of these 313 SNPs with chronotype were also analyzed.

4.3.5 SOSIOECONOMIC AND LIFESTYLE FACTORS

The information of the participants' background variables was obtained from self-administered questionnaires.

Education was assessed from the reported total numbers of school years, which were categorized into thirds (low, middle and high) according to birth cohort. Birth cohort was taken into account to adjust for the extension of the basic education system and the increase of average school years over the last decades.

Participants' smoking status was derived from questions on smoking history, and current smoking habits were assessed with a four-level scale (never a smoker, quit ≤ 6 months ago, quit ≥ 6 months ago, and a current smoker).

The average leisure-time physical activity over the previous 12 months was assessed with four categories: inactive (light activities such as reading and watching television); moderately active (walking, gardening or other activities \geq 4 hours/week); active (running, swimming or other physically demanding activities \geq 3 hours/week); or very active (competition or other heavy sports several times per week). Answers were then categorized into three categories: inactive, moderately active and active (combining active and very active categories).

Participants were asked average hours of sleep a night. Subjective sleep sufficiency was assessed with four categories: always sufficient, often sufficient, seldom or never sufficient, or cannot say. Participants were also asked if they experienced insomnia often, sometimes, or never.

General health status was determined by asking participants to rate their current health and physical fitness status according to these categories: very good, fairly good, satisfactory, fairly poor, or very poor.

Evening or night shift work was based on a question on the participants' usual working schedules that included the following options: regular working hours; regularly working on two or three shifts; evening or night shift; irregular working hours; not working currently; or part-time job/part-time pension.

4.4 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

The main statistical analyses used in the thesis were linear regression, logistic regression and analysis of co-variance (ANCOVA). Analyses were performed with SPSS statistical computing software (IBM SPSS Statistics), version 22.0 (II) and version 24.0 (III), R statistical computing software, version 2.13.1 (I) and version 3.5.1 (IV and additional analyses for I) (R Core Team, 2018), and PLINK, versions 1.9 and 2.0 (IV) (Purcell et al., 2007).

The analyses were generally conducted together for men and women because no gender interactions occurred (except for I and III regarding anthropometrics findings). The normality of the variables was tested with QQ-plots and histograms when needed. Logarithmic transformations were applied if normality assumptions were not met.

Confounding variables were initially selected based on the previous literature. The final selection was made based on linear regression analysis using the method proposed by Rothman (Rothman 1986). Two models were used based on this analysis. The first model (model 1) was adjusted for age and sex. The second model (model 2) was further adjusted for education, smoking, leisure-time physical activity and sleep duration (I) or experienced sufficiency of sleep time (II and III). Regarding substudy I, the associations between chronotype and the BSDS and baseline anthropometrics were adjusted for age (model 1). Otherwise, the findings are mainly reported according to model 2, because the findings between the models did not differ remarkably in general. Substudy III was further adjusted (model 2) for baseline weight/BMI/WC when changes in these anthropometrics were examined and for total energy intake when energy intake timing was examined as the main explanatory variable. Substudy IV on the genetic basis of chronotype was adjusted for age, sex, genotyping batch and the first five principal components to account for population structure, as there can be a systematic difference in allele frequencies between a population's subpopulations due to different ancestry.

4.4.1 ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN CHRONOTYPE AND DIETARY HABITS (I, II)

In substudy I the association between chronotype and overall diet quality was examined by determining *P*-value for trend with linear regression analysis (ME score was used as a continuous variable).

In substudy II associations between chronotype and energy/macronutrient intake timing were examined, in addition to linear regressions analysis, by determining the differences between morning and evening types (chronotype as categorical variable) with ANCOVA followed by a Bonferroni corrected post-hoc test.

Furthermore, to unify the findings, additional analyses for the thesis were conducted regarding substudy I with ANCOVA to determine the differences between morning and evening types. Chronotype categorization was conducted as in the original paper by dividing the ME score into thirds to get more even groups by numbers to be able to stratify them by the BSDS fifths. Further analyses were also conducted with model 2.

4.4.2 ASSOCIATION BETWEEN CHRONOTYPE AND OBESITY (I, III)

Chronotype associations with baseline BMI, WC and BF% (I) and with changes in weight, BMI and WC were examined over the seven-year followup period (III). In substudy I these associations were examined with linear (for continuous anthropometric variables) and logistic regression (for categorized anthropometric variables) analysis to determine *P*-value for trend (the ME score was used as a continuous variable). In substudy III these associations were examined by determining the differences between morning and evening types (chronotype as categorical variable) with ANCOVA (for continuous anthropometric measure variables) followed by a Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc test and with logistic regression (for categorized anthropometric measure variables).

Again, additional analyses for the thesis were conducted to unify the findings. Regarding substudy I, additional analyses were conducted to determine the differences between morning and evening types with ANCOVA. Chronotype categorization was conducted as in the original paper by dividing the ME score into thirds to get more even groups by numbers to be able to stratify them by the BSDS fifths. The longitudinal analysis of anthropometrics (III) included weight as an outcome variable; thus, weight was also further included as an outcome variable in the baseline anthropometrics analysis (I). Furthermore, the analyses were also conducted with model 2. Additional analyses with linear and logistic regression were conducted for substudy III to determine the *P*-value for trend.

4.4.3 INTERRELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN DIETARY HABITS, OBESITY AND CHRONOTYPE (I, III)

In substudy I, the Baron and Kenny test for mediation was used (Baron & Kenny, 1986), which included four-step multiple linear regression analyses to determine whether overall diet quality mediates an association between chronotype and obesity (Figure 4).



Figure 4 Baron and Kenny (1986) four-step test for mediation. In the first step (step 1), explanatory variable (chronotype) should be associated with the outcome variable (BMI, WC and BF%). In the second step (step 2), explanatory variable (chronotype) should be associated with the mediator (BSDS). In the third step (step 3), mediator (BSDS) should be associated with the outcome variable (BMI, BF% and WC). In the fourth step (step 4), a) mediator (BSDS) should be associated with the outcome variable (BMI, BF% and WC) when controlled for the explanatory variable (chronotype) and, b) the association between explanatory variable (chronotype) and outcome variable (BMI, BF% and WC) (step 1) should be greatly reduced, if not non-significant when controlled for the mediator (BSDS). E=explanatory variable, M=mediator, O=outcome.

Furthermore, in substudy I the likelihood ratio test was used to determine whether chronotype modified the association between overall diet quality and anthropometric measures followed by chronotype stratified linear regression analysis in case of statistically significant interactions emerged.

In Substudy III the overall association between morning/evening energy intake and anthropometric measures with logistic regression (energy intake timing variables as categorical variables) and with linear regression (energy intake timing variables as continuous variables) were first examined. Then, an interaction term between chronotype and energy intake evening/morning (as continuous variable) was added to the models to determine whether chronotype modified the association between morning/evening energy intake and anthropometric measures. Statistically significant interactions were further analyzed in a chronotype-stratified analysis.

4.4.4 ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN CHRONOTYPE AND GENETICS (IV)

All the genetic-association analyses of chronotype were conducted with linear (continuous chronotype) and with logistic (binary chronotype) regression analysis using additive models, which is the most common practice for GWASs (Hill et al. 2008, Bush and Moore 2012). Furthermore, the Benjamini-Hochberg (BH) and Benjamini-Yekutieli (BY) false discovery rate methods were used to correct the *P*-values for multiple testing (except for the full GWAS analysis of chronotype) with P-values < 0.05 considered significant. As for the full GWAS results, *P*-values $< 5 \times 10^{-8}$ were considered genome-wide significant and suggestive for *P*-values <1×10⁻⁶. Furthermore, regarding the clock gene analysis, significantly associated SNPs (based on BH and BY corrected *P*-values) were further linkage disequilibrium (LD) clumped (using clump in PLINK, with threshold P < 0.05, $r^2 > 0.5$, range: 250kb) to reveal independent associations signals. Regarding the GRS, the proportion of chronotype variance the GRS explained was estimated with adjusted partial R² (continuous sMEQ) and partial pseudo R² (Nagelkerke) (binary chronotype), using R-package 'rsq'.

5 RESULTS

5.1 SOCIO-ECONOMIC AND LIFESTYLE ASSOCIATIONS OF CHRONOTYPE

In the DILGOM 2007, 53% of the population were morning, 39% intermediate and 8% evening types (Table 7). Evening types were almost 10 years younger, more often women and more likely had higher education than morning types (P<0.001). They were also more likely smokers and more often physically inactive (P<0.05). Evening types also reported experiencing insufficient sleep and insomnia more often than morning types (P<0.05). Furthermore, evening types rated their health and physical fitness as good (P<0.001) less often. These associations also emerged when testing trends for ME score (P<0.01).

	Chronotype ¹				
_	Morning	Intermediate	Evening	_	
	n=2343 (53%)	n=1712 (39%)	<i>n</i> =366 (8%)	P ^{2,3}	P- trend ^{2,4}
ME score, range	19-27	13-18	5-12		
Age, years	54 (0.3)	50 (0.3)	46 (0.7)	<0.001	<0.001
Female, %	51	58	62	<0.001	<0.001
High education ⁵ (%)	31	41	45	<0.001	<0.001
Current smoker (%)	15	18	26	<0.001	0.002
Physically inactive ⁶ (%)	14	21	30	<0.001	<0.001
Sleep h/night	7.3 (0.02)	7.4 (0.02)	7.2 (0.5)	0.095	0.75
Sleep ≥10 h/night, %	1.2	1.8	4.7	<0.001	<0.001
Sleep ≤5 h/night, %	3.7	2.9	8.0	<0.001	0.001
Experienced insufficient sleep ⁷ , %	7.5	16	34	<0.001	<0.001
Insomnia ⁸ , %	52	61	65	<0.001	<0.001
Good self-rated health ⁹ , %	64	61	50	<0.001	<0.001
Good self-rated physical fitness ⁹ , %	54	46	36	<0.001	<0.001
Evening or night shift work ¹⁰ , %	0.8	1.6	6.0	0.001	0.003

 Table 7.
 Percentages (%) or mean values (SE) of socio-economic and lifestyle factors by chronotypes in the DILGOM 2007 (n=4421).

ME score, morningness-eveningness score; SE, standard error

¹ Chronotype was categorized according to the pre-defined cut-off values (Merikanto et al. 2012).

² Model 1: adjusted for age and sex (adjusting variables not included in the model when examined as response variable). ³ *P* value for the difference between response variables in the difference between response variables.

³ P-value for the difference between morning and evening types (ME score was used as a categorical variable) was determined with a multiple comparisons post-hoc test with Bonferroni correction for continuous variables and with logistic regression for categorical variables ⁴ P-value for trend was determined with linear regression (continuous variables) or logistic

⁷*P*-value for trend was determined with linear regression (continuous variables) or logis regression (categorical variables)

⁵ Thirds of self-reported total school years according to birth cohort to adjust for the extension of the basic education system and the increase of average school years over time.

⁶ Self-reported leisure-time physical inactivity.

⁷ Percentage of participants experiencing insufficient sleep often or always.

⁸ Percentage of participants reported having insomnia sometimes or often.

⁹ Percentage of participants rating their health/physical fitness as very good or fairly good.

¹⁰ n=2884 (morning types n=1434, intermediate types n=1182, evening types n=268).

5.2 CHRONOTYPE AND DIETARY HABITS (I, II)

Overall diet quality (I)

Overall, lower ME scores (eveningness) were associated with lower BSDS in women (P<0.001, model 1) and in men (P=0.04, model 1) (Table 8). Of the specific BSDS components, lower ME scores (eveningness) were associated with lower consumption of cereals and fish (men) and with higher intakes of alcohol and total fat (E%) (women) (P<0.05, model 1). Furthermore, a lower percentage of evening-typed men were in the highest fifth (13% vs. 23%) of the BSDS, whereas it was the other way around in the lowest fifth of the BSDS (evening 28% vs. morning 19%). In women, a lower percentage of evening types were similarly in the highest fifth of the BSDS (11% vs. 19%), whereas the percentages were 27% vs. 17% in the lowest fifth, respectively.

In additional analyses conducted for the doctoral thesis with the further adjusted model (model 2), the positive associations between ME score and the BSDS score remained significant (women P=0.011, men P=0.016) (data not shown). Regarding the specific BSDS components, cereal consumption (women P<0.001, men P=0.03) and alcohol intake (only in women P=0.007) remained significant, but the other associations were attenuated (P>0.05), whereas an association emerged between lower ME scores (eveningness) and lower consumption of fruits and berries (women P=0.03). Furthermore, when chronotype was categorized into thirds, the total scores of the BSDS did not differ between morning and evening types in either sex (P>0.05, model 2) (data not shown). Of the specific BSDS components, evening types had a lower consumption of cereals (women P<0.001, men P=0.008, model 2) and a higher consumption of alcohol (only in women P=0.02, model 2).

		Chronotype ¹		
	Morning	Intermediate	Evening	
	Mean (SE)	Mean (SE)	Mean (SE)	P-trend, ^{2,3}
Women	<i>n</i> =816	n=923	n=669	
BSDS, range	1–25	1–25	1–25	
BSDS, mean	13.3 (0.1)	12.9 (0.1)	12.6 (0.1)	<0.001
Energy intake (kJ/d)	9489 (103)	9433 (64)	9389 (105)	0.54
BSDS components				
Fruits and berries (g/d)	158 (4)	152 (3)	146 (4)	0.076
Vegetables (g/d)	325 (6)	321 (4)	319 (7)	0.55
Cereals (g/d)	85 (1)	79 (1)	74 (1)	<0.001
Low-fat milk (g/d)	254 (8)	246 (5)	239 (8)	0.23
Fish (g/d)	40 (1)	39 (1)	38 (1)	0.33
Red and processed meat (g/d)	112 (2)	110 (1)	108 (2)	0.25
Total fat (E%)	30	31	31	0.0018
Fat ratio	1.5 (0.03)	1.5 (0.02)	1.5 (0.04)	0.6
Alcohol (g/d)	3.6 (0.2)	4.4 (0.13)	5.1 (0.2)	<0.001
Men	n=839	n=606	n=568	
BSDS, range	2-25	2-25	2–25	
BSDS. mean	13.0 (0.1)	12.8 (0.1)	12.5 (0.2)	0.04
Energy intake (kJ/d)	11597 (130)	11676 (90)	11776 (159)	0.43
BSDS components	()	()	· · · · ·	
Fruits and berries (g/d)	113 (4)	110 (3)	107 (5)	0.42
Vegetables (g/d)	262 (6)	255 (4)	245 (7)	0.08
Cereals (g/d)	89 (2)	84 (1)	78 (2)	<0.001
Low-fat milk (g/d)	337 (11)	342 (8)	349 (13)	0.53
Fish (g/d)	55 (2)	53 (1)	49 (2)	0.044
Red and processed meat (g/d)	176 (3)	173 (2)	169 (3)	0.12
Total fat (E%)	32	32	32	0.67
Fat ratio	1.5 (0.04)	1.5 (0.03)	1.5 (0.04)	0.7
Alcohol (g/d)	10.6 (0.5)	11.8 (0.4)	13.3 (0.6)	0.003

 Table 8.
 Associations between chronotype and the Baltic Sea Diet Score (BSDS) (mean values with their standard errors (SE)).

E%; percentage of energy intake

¹ Chronotype was categorized based on study-specific thirds.

 2 Model 1: adjusted for age and energy (except for total fat (E%) and fat ratio) .

³ *P*-value for trend was determined with linear regression analysis.

Energy and macronutrient intake timing (II)

The total daily energy intake did not differ between chronotypes (morning type; 7808 kJ, SE 170 vs. evening type; 7881 kJ, SE 210, P=1.00), but differences were found in the timing of energy intake between morning and evening types. Most of the evening (80%) and nearly all of the morning types (99%) had some energy intake (>0 kJ) in the morning hours (by 10:00 a.m.). Energy intake in the morning hours among evening types was 350 kJ lower than that of morning types (P<0.001) (Table 9). In the evening hours (after 8:00 p.m.), 94% of evening and 81% of morning types had some energy intake, and the energy intake among evening types was, on average, 430 kJ higher than that of morning types (P=0.001). These associations were also found when trends for ME score were tested (P<0.001).

The total daily macronutrient intakes did not differ between morning and evening types (except for protein, of which the evening types had a lower intake (16.4E%, SE 0.3, vs. 17.3E%, SE 0.3, P=0.017), whereas the timing of macronutrient intakes differed. Evening types had higher intakes of sucrose in the morning (difference between evening and morning types +0.6 E% units, P<0.01) and in the evening (difference between evening and morning types +1.1 E% units, P<0.01) (Table 9). Furthermore, evening types had lower intakes of all the other macronutrients in the morning hours than morning types (P<0.01). In the evening hours, the evening types had 5.0 E% units more fat and 1.5 E% units more saturated fat (P<0.05) than morning types (Table 6). When trends were tested for the ME score, in addition to these findings, lower scores (eveningness) were associated with higher carbohydrate, protein and alcohol intakes in the evening hours (P<0.05).

At the weekend, these findings in the timing of energy intake were more pronounced, because the evening types had, on average, 380 kJ lower energy intake in the morning hours, whereas in the evening hours they had, on average, 590 kJ more energy than the morning types (P<0.01) (data not shown). The findings were similarly more pronounced in macronutrients, particularly regarding evening hour intakes. For example, the evening types had 3.1 E% units more sucrose (P=0.025), 8.7 E% units more fat (P=0.001) and 3.5 E% units more saturated fat (P=0.003) than the morning types. These associations were also found when trends for the ME score were tested (P<0.001).

		Chronotype ²			
	Morning	Intermediate	Evening		
	<i>n</i> =904	<i>n</i> =726	<i>n</i> =224	P^3	<i>P</i> -trend ⁴
ME score, range	19–27	13–18	6–12		
By 10:00 a.m. ⁵					
Energy ⁶ , kJ	1505 (70)	1328 (70)	1157 (87)	<0.001	<0.001
Energy, %TEI	18.7 (0.7)	16.4 (0.7)	14.3 (0.9)	<0.001	<0.001
Carbohydrate, E%	52.8 (1.3)	50.5 (1.3)	47.1 (1.6)	<0.001	<0.001
Sucrose, E%	10.7 (1.0)	10.9 (1.0)	11.3 (1.2)	<0.001	<0.001
Fiber, E%	2.8 (0.1)	2.6 (0.1)	2.4 (0.2)	0.008	<0.001
Fat, E%	23.8 (1.0)	23.3 (1.0)	19.6 (1.2)	<0.001	0.002
Saturated fatty			7.0 (0.0)	0.000	0.010
	9.0 (0.5)	9.0 (0.5)	7.3 (0.6)	0.002	0.018
Protein, E%	16.8 (0.6)	16.1 (0.6)	13.6 (0.7)	<0.001	<0.001
Alcohol ⁷ , g	0.13 (0.1)	0.003 (0.1)	0.49 (0.1)	0.69	0.47
After 8:00 p.m. ⁸					
Energy ⁶ , kJ	1153 (76)	1371 (76)	1581 (94)	<0.001	<0.001
Energy, %TEI	14.0 (0.9)	16.7 (0.9)	20.0 (1.1)	<0.001	<0.001
Carbohydrate, E%	48.8 (2.0)	51.3 (2.0)	51.2 (2.4)	0.84	0.008
Sucrose, E%	12.5 (1.2)	13.4 (1.2)	13.6 (1.5)	0.002	<0.001
Fiber, E%	2.9 (0.2)	2.8 (0.2)	2.8 (0.2)	1.00	0.58
Fat, E%	21.5 (1.2)	23.4 (1.2)	26.1 (1.5)	0.002	<0.001
Saturated fatty		0 7 (0 0)			
acid, E%	8.8 (0.6)	9.7 (0.6)	10.3 (0.7)	0.033	<0.001
Protein, E%	12.4 (0.8)	13.1 (0.8)	13.4 (0.9)	0.67	0.041
Alcohol, g	1.8 (0.7)	1.9 (0.7)	4.0 (0.9)	0.088	0.018

 Table 9.
 Means with their standard errors (SE) of energy and macronutrient intakes in morning and evening hours by chronotypes (n=1854)¹

%TEI; percentage of total energy intake, E%; percentage of energy intake, ME score; morningness-eveningness score.

¹ Including all days of the week (except for Fridays).

² Chronotype was categorized according to the pre-defined cut-off values (Merikanto et al. 2012).

³ *P*-value for the difference between morning and evening types was determined using multiple comparisons post-hoc test with Bonferroni correction. Adjusted for age, sex, education, leisure-time physical activity, smoking and experienced sufficiency of sleep.

⁴ *P*-value for trend (ME score was used as a continuous variable) was determined with linear regression. Adjusted for age, sex, education, leisure-time physical activity, smoking and experienced sufficiency of sleep.

⁵ Intakes between 3:00 a.m.- 9:59 a.m..

⁶ Alcohol was not included in energy intake.

 7 In all, 13 participants had alcohol intake > 0 g by 10:00 a.m.. Adjusted for age and sex because of the high amount of zero intakes.

⁸ Intakes between 8:00 p.m.-2:59 a.m..

5.3 CHRONOTYPE AND OBESITY (I, III)

Chronotype was not associated with baseline anthropometrics (BMI, WC, BF%) in either sex (P>0.05, model 1) (Table 10).

A lower ME score (eveningness) was associated with lower BMI in men (P=0.040) in additional analyses conducted for the thesis with model 2 (data not shown). Associations between chronotype and baseline weight were also examined, but no associations emerged in either sex (P<0.05, model 2). No associations were found, either, when differences between morning and evening types (chronotype categorized into thirds) were examined in either sex (P>0.05, model 2).

		Chronotype ¹		Model 1 ^{2,3}
	Morning	Intermediate	Evening	P-trend
Women	n=923	n=816	n=669	
ME-score, range	22-27	17-21	5-16	
BMI				
BMI, kg/m²	26.7 (0.17)	26.7 (0.11)	26.6 (0.17)	0.84
BMI ≥ 30.0, %	21.8	22.7	22.2	0.94
WC				
WC, cm	86.0 (0.42)	86.5 (0.27)	86.9 (0.43)	0.19
BF%				
BF, %	35.2 (0.23)	35.2 (0.15)	35.3 (0.24)	0.92
Men	n=839	n=606	n=568	
ME-score, range	22-27	18-21	6-17	
BMI				
BMI, kg/m²	27.2 (0.13)	27.1 (0.09)	26.9 (0.16)	0.19
BMI ≥ 30.0, %	21.4	16.5	17.9	0.27
WC				
WC, cm	96.1 (0.37)	96.3 (0.26)	96.7 (0.46)	0.68
BF%				
BF, %	24.8 (0.2)	24.7 (0.14)	24.6 (0.25)	0.36

 Table 10.
 Mean values (SE) or percentages (%) of baseline anthropometrics by chronotypes (n=4421).

ME score; morningness-eveningness score, SE; standard error; WC; waist circumference ¹ Chronotype was categorized based on study specific thirds.

² Model 1: adjusted for age.

³ *P*-value for trend (ME score was used as a continuous variable) was determined with linear regression for continuous anthropometrics and with logistic regression for categorical anthropometrics.

Substudy III examined changes in the anthropometric measures (weight, BMI and WC) over the seven-year follow-up period. A sex-stratified analysis showed that weight gain was higher among evening-typed women during the follow-up period than among morning-typed women; evening-typed women gained 2.3 kg, on average, while morning-typed women gained 0.3 kg on average (P=0.019) (Table 11). No such associations emerged in men (P>0.05). Furthermore, because depression links to chronotype and obesity (Zhao et al. 2009, Merikanto et al. 2013a, 2015), those diagnosed with depression (n=130) were excluded from the analyses. After the exclusion, weight gain among evening-typed women, but the difference between morning and evening types was no longer statistically significant (P>0.05).

In additional analyses conducted for the thesis, trends for the ME score were tested. Lower ME scores (eveningness) were associated with higher increases in weight (*P*-trend =0.003, model 2) and BMI (*P*-trend= 0.003, model 2), which remained significant after excluding those with depression (weight change, *P*-trend=0.016, BMI change *P*-trend=0.012, model 2).

	Morning	Intermediate	Evening	$P^{2,3}$
Women	n=293	n=254	n=72	
Weight change, kg	0.31 (0.32)	1.04 (0.35)	2.32 (0.65)	0.019
BMI change, kg/m²	-0.09 (0.13)	0.21 (0.13)	0.72 (0.25)	0.024
Men	n=259	n=179	n=40	
Weight change, kg	1.03 (0.38)	0.53 (0.45)	-0.25 (0.96)	1.00
BMI change, kg/m²	0.17 (0.12)	-0.03 (0.15)	-0.17 (0.32)	1.00
Participants diagnosed w	vith depression wer	e excluded (<i>n</i> =995)		
Women	n=270	n=221	n=59	
Weight change, kg	0.46 (0.32)	1.09 (0.35)	1.48 (0.67)	0.51
BMI change, kg/m²	-0.04 (0.12)	0.24 (0.14)	0.45 (0.26)	0.48
Men	n=245	n=165	n=35	
Weight change, kg	0.88 (0.37)	0.34 (0.45)	-0.03 (0.99)	1.00
BMI change, kg/m ²	0.12 (0.12)	-0.10 (0.15)	-0.09 (0.33)	1.00

 Table 11.
 Mean (SE) changes in weight and BMI over 7-year follow-up period (n=1097).

ME score; morningness-eveningness score, SE;standard error, WC; waist circumference

¹Chronotype was categorized according to the pre-defined cut-off values (Merikanto et al. 2012) ² Adjusted for age, education, smoking, leisure-time physical activity, experienced sufficiency of sleep time, baseline BMI/weight depending on which of these were examined. Weight change was further adjusted for baseline height.

³ *P* value for the difference between morning and evening types was determined with a multiple comparisons post-hoc test with Bonferroni correction for continuous variables and with logistic regression for categorical variables

5.4 INTERRELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN CHRONOTYPE, DIETARY HABITS AND OBESITY (I,III)

Chronotype, BSDS and obesity (mediation test, I)

For men, the requirements of the first two steps of the four-step mediation test were met as in step 1, a statistically significant positive association between chronotype and BMI emerged (but not for the other anthropometric measures), and a positive association between chronotype and the BSDS was found (P<0.05, model 2) (Figure 1) in step 2. However, the requirements for steps 3 and 4 were not met because no association between BSDS and anthropometric measures was found in step 3. The associations between the BSDS and anthropometric measures were unaffected in step 4a when chronotype was added to the model. Furthermore, the association between chronotype and BMI remained significant in step 4b when the BSDS was added to the model. For women, only the requirements of step 2 were met because a positive association between chronotype and the BSDS was found (P<0.05) (data not shown). Together, these findings indicated that the BSDS did not mediate the association between chronotype and obesity because the requirements for the steps were not sufficiently met in either sex.



Figure 5 The Baltic Sea diet score (BSDS) mediated pathway between chronotype and anthropometric measures for men. **P*<0.05, model 2 was adjusted for age, education, smoking, leisure-time physical activity and sleep duration.

Chronotype, BSDS and obesity (effect modification, I)

The interaction analysis with the likelihood ratio test to determine whether chronotype modified the association between the BSDS and obesity indicated an interaction between chronotype and the BSDS on WC (P=0.046) and BF% (P=0.036) but only for men (Table 12). However, in the chronotype-stratified analysis, the directions of associations between the BSDS and WC were parallel in all chronotypes, whereas for BF% the association seemed positive in evening types and inverse for the other chronotypes, but none of these associations were statistically significant (model 2) (P>0.05). For women, no significant interaction was found between chronotype and BSDS on anthropometric measures (data not shown).

	Ba	tic Sea Diet Score fift	hs¹		
	1 (low)	3	5 (high)	P-	P
	Mean (95% CI)	Mean (95% CI)	Mean (95% CI)	trend ²	int. ^{3,4}
BMI (kg/m2)					0.10
Morning	27.9 (26,6-27.6)	27.2 (26.9-27.4)	27.2 (26.7-27.7)	0.76	
Intermediate	26.7 (26.1-27.2)	26.6 (26.3-26.9)	26.5 (25.9-27.5)	0.69	
Evening	26.4 (25.8-26.9)	26.5 (26.1-26.8)	26.6 (25.8-27.4)	0.68	
WC (cm)					0.046
Morning	96.7 (95.2-98.1)	96.5 (95.8- 97.3)	96.4 (95.0- 97.8)	0.84	
Intermediate	95.2 (93.7-96.7)	94.6 (93.8- 95.5)	94.1 (92.4- 95.7)	0.41	
Evening	95.3 (93.7-97.0)	95.0 (94.0- 96.0)	94.4 (92.2-96.6)	0.57	
BF%					0.036
Morning	25.8 (24.3- 25.9)	25.3 (24.9- 25.7)	25.5 (24.7- 26.3)	0.53	
Intermediate	24.9 (24.6- 25.8)	24.2 (23.7-24.7)	23.5 (22.5- 24.5)	0.073	
Evening	23.9 (23.0- 24.8)	23.9 (23.3- 24.5)	24.0 (22.7- 25.2)	0.90	

 Table 12.
 Mean BMI, WC and BF% according to the Baltic Sea Diet Score by chronotypes in men.

CI; confidence interval, BF%; body fat percentage, BSDS; the Baltic Sea Diet Score, WC; waist circumference.

Data are presented as means and 95% confidence intervals.

¹ BSDS fifths for men: 1st, 2–9 points; 2nd, 10–12 points; 3rd, 13–14 points; 4th, 15–16 points; 5th,17–25 points.

² *P*-value for trend between the BSDS and anthropometric measures and between the BSDS and anthropometric measures by chronotypes was determined with linear regression. Significance testing was at *P*<0.05.

³ P value for interaction was determined with likelihood ratio test. Significance testing was at P< 0.05.

⁴ Adjusted for age, energy intake, education, physical activity, sleep duration and smoking.

Chronotype, energy intake timing and anthropometric measures (III)

In the morning, participants in the second-highest fourth of morning energy intake were less likely to have increases (5%) in anthropometrics (weight [OR 0.48, 95% CI 0.31, 0.73], BMI [OR 0.57, 95% CI 0.37, 0.89], WC [OR 0.66, 95% CI 0.45, 0.97]) than those in the highest fourth of morning energy intake over the follow-up period.

In the evening, those participants in the highest fourth of evening energy intake were almost two-times more likely with obesity at baseline (OR 1.95, 95% CI 1.18, 3.22) and at follow-up (OR 1.97, 95% CI 1.21, 3.21) than those in the lowest fourth (*P*-trend<0.05, model 2).

A significant interaction emerged between chronotype and morning energy intake on increases in weight ($\geq 5\%$) and BMI ($\geq 5\%$) when effect modification by chronotype was tested (Table 13). Among morning types, higher morning energy intake seemed to increase the risk of gaining weight and having increases in BMI, whereas for evening and intermediate types these tendencies were in the opposite direction, although none of these associations were significant. As for evening energy intake, no significant interactions emerged between chronotype and evening energy intake on any of the anthropometric measures (data not shown).

	Morning energy intake (%TEI)									
	Morning (<i>n</i> =552)			Intermediate (<i>n</i> =433)			Evening (<i>n</i> =112)			P-
	OR	OR 95% CI		OR	95% CI		OR	95% CI		int.1.2
Weight gain ≥ 5%	1.02	1.00	1.04	0.98	0.96	1.01	0.96	0.91	1.01	0.025
BMI increase ≥ 5%	1.02	1.00	1.04	0.97	0.95	1.00	0.97	0.92	1.02	0.012

Table 13.Association between morning energy intake (continuous variable) and
weight gain and BMI increase by chronotypes (n=1097).

%TEI; percentage of total energy intake, CI; confidence interval, OR; odds ratio

¹ Model 2 adjusted for age, sex, education, smoking, leisure-time physical activity, experienced sufficiency of a sleep time, baseline energy intake and with baseline BMI/weight depending on which of these was examined. Weight change was further adjusted for baseline height.

² Interaction was tested by adding an interaction term between chronotype and %TEI in the morning (as a continuous variable) to the model.

5.5 GENETIC ASSOCIATIONS OF CHRONOTYPE (IV)

Clock gene analysis

Seven independent associations signals were found within three clock genes (CRY1, NFIL3, NR1D2 aka Rev-erb β) with continuous ME score and singleitem chronotype when P-values were corrected with the BH method (P<0.05), whereas no associations were found by the binary ME score. Within CRY1, three independent association signals with evening chronotype emerged. Two of the signals (lead SNPs rs8192440, with 39 correlated SNPs and rs77706154) emerged with both a continuous ME score and a single-item chronotype. An SNP (rs1017168A) that has previously been associated with evening type was among the correlated SNPs associated with rs8192440 (Jones et al., 2019). The third of the signals within CRY1 emerged solely with a continuous ME score (lead SNP rs3741891, with 43 correlated SNPs). Within NFIL3, three independent signals associated with the morning chronotype emerged (P<0.05). One signal was found with both a continuous ME score (lead SNP rs2482702, with 5 correlated SNPs) and a single-item chronotype (lead SNP rs9409419, with 6 correlated SNPs), whereas one signal emerged solely with a continuous ME score (lead SNP rs2440590, with four correlated SNPs) and another one solely with a single-item chronotype (lead SNP rs2440592, with four correlated SNPs). One of the NFIL3 associated SNPs (rs2482705A) has previously been associated with the morning type (Kripke et al., 2014). Within NR1D2, one independent association signal with evening chronotype emerged with both the continuous ME score and the single-item chronotype (lead SNP rs4131403, with 21 correlated SNPs).

One independent association signal within NR_1D_2 (*Rev-erb* β) (lead SNP rs4131403, with 22 correlated SNPs) remained significantly associated with a continuous ME score and a single-item chronotype with the BY method (P<0.05).

GWAS of chronotype

No genome-wide significant associations were found in the GWAS of chronotype; however, a few suggestive ($P<1\times10^{-5}$) associations emerged, among which one intergenic SNP (rs79036472) was found in continuous and binary ME scores. The previously genome-wide associated top 7741 SNPs of the recent meta-analysis based on the UK Biobank and the 23andMe data (Jones et al. 2019) were not replicated in the present study, either, but the directions of the SNPs' effects were mostly in the same direction. Regarding the continuous ME score, 80.1% (6202 of 7741) of the SNPs had the same direction of effect (binomial test $P<2.2\times10^{-16}$) for the binary ME score, 82.8% (6409 of 7741) of the SNPs had the same direction (binomial test $P<2.2\times10^{-16}$), and for the single-item chronotype, 87.4% (6766 of 7741) of the SNPs had the same direction of effect (binomial test $P<2.2\times10^{-16}$) as the meta-analysis.

Genetic risk score for chronotype

The GRS of 313 SNPs (Jones et al. 2019) predicted chronotype in the present study population because a higher GRS was associated with the evening type in both the continuous and binary ME score and the single-item chronotype (P<0.001) (Table 14). Furthermore, the GRS explained for ~1.4% (continuous ME score, R²=0.01387), ~1.3% (binary ME score, Nagelkerke's pseudo R²=0.01312), and ~1.9% (single-item chronotype, Nagelkerke's pseudo R²=0.01893) of chronotype variation. No associations were found when the individual SNPs of the GRS were examined (P>0.05).

 Table 14.
 Linear or logistic regression analysis of a genetic risk score (GRS) association with chronotype based on 313 chronotype associated SNPs (Jones et al., 2019).

	continuous ME score				binary ME so	core	single-item chronotype			
	В	SE	P^1	OR	95% CI	P^1	OR	95%CI	P^1	
GRS	-0.49	0.05	<0.001	1.24	1.18,1.31	<0.001	1.3	1.24,1.37	<0.001	

Decreasing beta and increasing odds ratios refer to evening type.

CI; confidence interval, OR; odds ratio, ME; Morningness-Eveningness

¹ Adjusted for age, sex, five principal components and genotyping batch.

6 **DISCUSSION**

Chronotype trait is determined half by genetics and half by environmental factors (Koskenvuo et al. 2007). The associations of chronotype with dietary habits, obesity and genetics are recognized but relatively understudied in population-based samples. This thesis aimed to explore dietary habits quality. energy and macronutrient intake (overall diet timing). obesity/weight change and genetic associations of chronotype using population-based samples. Findings from the thesis suggested that, compared to morning types, evening types had a lower overall diet quality and postponed timing of energy and macronutrient intakes. However, despite their unhealthier dietary habits, evening types were not significantly more prone to obesity or weight change than morning types. No evidence was found, either, that chronotype would modify the association between the BSDS and obesity or that the BSDS would mediate the association between chronotype and obesity, whereas a higher energy intake in the evening hours was associated with a higher obesity risk independent of chronotype. Furthermore, a novel association between chronotype and one of the key clock genes NR1D2 was found when the genetic basis of chronotype was studied. Instead, the GWAS of chronotype did not yield any genome-wide significant associations, but the GRS based on 313 SNPs that have previously been associated with chronotype successfully predicted chronotype in the current study population.

6.1 **DIETARY HABITS (I,II)**

Overall diet quality

Those with a higher tendency towards eveningness had a lower adherence to the healthy diet assessed with the BSDS in both sexes. The proportion of evening types was also higher in the lowest fifth of the BSDS, whereas in the highest fifth it was lower compared to morning types (difference in proportions between morning and evening types in both cases was approximately 10%). However, the mean difference between the total scores of the BSDS in morning and evening types was non-significant in both sexes.

The adherence to the BSDS by chronotypes has not been examined before, but the findings are in line with three very recent studies that have found an association between evening type and lower adherence to the healthy diet assessed with the Mediterranean Diet score in healthy Italian adults (n=416) (De Amicis et al. 2020), middle-aged Italians (n=172) (Muscogiuri et al. 2020) and in Spanish university students (n=457) (Rodríguez-Muñoz et al. 2020). However, a small-scale study on pregnant Brazilians (n=100) found

no association between chronotype and the revised version of Brazilian Healthy Eating Index (Gontijo et al. 2019).

Of the individual BSDS components, evening types had a lower consumption of cereals and a higher alcohol intake (women) than morning types. A Japanese study of female dietetics students (n=3304) (Sato-Mito et al. 2011a), a Finnish population-based study including DILGOM 2007 participants (n=4493) (Kanerva et al. 2012) and a Spanish study of university students have reported lower cereal intake among evening types (n=457)(Rodríguez-Muñoz et al. 2020), while a study on pregnant Brazilians (n=100) found opposite results (Gontijo et al. 2019), whereas some studies report no association between chronotype and cereal intake (Sato-Mito et al. 2011b, Mota et al. 2016, Silva et al. 2016, Muñoz et al. 2017). However, it should be noted that the definition of cereals in the present study included Nordic cereals (rve, oat and barley), whereas in the other studies the definition was wider and also included other grains. Higher alcohol intake among evening types has been reported earlier by numerous studies (Sato-Mito et al. 2011a, Kanerva et al. 2012, Suh et al. 2017). A recent review that has gathered the current evidence on dietary habit differences between chronotypes (the review also included substudies I-III of the thesis) also listed higher alcohol intake among evening types as one of the foods and nutrients with strongest evidence of chronotype associations (Mazri et al. 2020). Other foods and nutrients listed in the review included lower vegetable consumption and higher intakes of sweet foods, sugared beverages and caffeine among evening types (Mazri et al. 2020). Of these foods/nutrients, vegetables were also a component of the BSDS in addition to alcohol, and the direction of the association was similar although not statistically significant in the present study. Thus far, only one populationbased, larger-scale study has been published on the associations between single nutrient and food intakes and chronotype (Kanerva et al. 2012), which could affect the findings and the strengths of the associations. Most of the previous studies have also not evaluated sex differences between chronotypes on food and nutrient intakes. Furthermore, the use of different methods for assessing dietary intake and differences in confounding factors may also have affected the findings.

In conclusion, despite the slight discrepancies in the findings, it can be concluded that the overall evidence, together with the present findings, suggest that the evening types have unhealthier food and nutrient intakes and poorer overall diet quality compared to morning types.

Timing of energy and macronutrient intakes

The present study's findings indicated that total daily energy intake between chronotypes did not differ, but differences were found in distribution of energy and macronutrient intakes throughout the day. In the morning (till 10:00 a.m.), evening types had lower intakes of energy and all the other macronutrients except for sucrose than did morning types, whereas in the evening (after 8:00 p.m.) they had higher intakes of energy, sucrose, fat and saturated fat. These findings were even more pronounced at the weekend.

These findings are in line with the literature. Previous studies have shown that evening types have a higher energy intake after 8:00 p.m. than morning types (Baron et al. 2011, Lucassen et al. 2013) (see Table 3 on page 35). Of macronutrients, a small-scale US study (n=52) found that evening types had higher percentages of their total daily carbohydrate, protein and fat intake after 8:00 p.m. (Baron et al. 2013), whereas another US study on short-sleeping participants with obesity (n=119) found no differences between chronotypes in total macronutrient intakes (carbohydrates, protein and fat) after or before 8:00 p.m. (Lucassen et al. 2013). Morning distribution of energy and macronutrient intakes by chronotypes has not been evaluated before, although evening types more often report skipping breakfast (e.g., Nakade et al. 2009, Sato-Mito et al. 2011a, Meule et al. 2012, Teixeira et al. 2018).

The later energy intake timing of evening types may simply be a reflection of their preferences to time the daily activities later; however, the differences between chronotypes were smaller in the present study compared to the previous studies (Baron et al. 2011, 2013, Lucassen et al. 2013) (see Table 3 on page 35). This may indicate that evening types may have a slightly earlier phase in the present population-based study, whereas the study populations may have been more selected, including participants with more flexible timetables in the previous studies (Baron et al. 2011, 2013, Lucassen et al. 2013).

Later timing of energy intake among evening types may also be reflected in their lower overall diet quality. Few studies have indicated that eating breakfast associates with higher carbohydrate intake, whereas individuals are more likely to eat fatty foods, particularly foods that include saturated fat, in the evening hours (Khare and Inman 2006, Myhre et al. 2015, Gibney et al. 2018, Beaulieu et al. 2020). A laboratory study of 44 healthy young adults examined the impact of meal timing and chronotype on appetite and food reward (Beaulieu et al. 2020). They found that liking and wanting high-fat foods were lower in the morning (8-10 a.m.) than in the early evening (4-6 p.m.) and that evening type was associated with a greater desire for high-fat food compared to morning type. It has also been suggested that it may be easier to make healthier food choices in the morning than in the evening because self-control tends to diminish as the day wears on (Boland et al. 2013). It could be speculated that this may particularly apply for evening types, because they are also more likely to live against their biological rhythms (Wittmann et al. 2006), and they more often report insufficient sleep (found also in the present study, see Table 7 on page 56), which can make them feel more tired during the day, thus leading to unhealthier food choices.

Food intake is the primary entrainer of the peripheral clocks, so dietary habits, including timing of dietary intake and composition of diet, may both have a potential to modulate the phase of circadian clocks and even to disrupt the synchronization between central and peripheral clocks, which may lead to circadian misalignment (Asher and Sassone-Corsi 2015, Ribas-Latre and Eckel-Mahan 2016, Oike 2017, Reinke and Asher 2019). Most of the evidence thus far regarding a phase shift in peripheral clocks caused by feeding timing or composition of food is mainly from rodent models (Damiola et al. 2000, Stokkan et al. 2001, Ribas-Latre and Eckel-Mahan 2016, Oike 2017), although some evidence in humans also exists. For example, a laboratory study of 10 healthy men demonstrated the effect of a five-hour delay in meals (breakfast, lunch and dinner) on markers of the master clock and multiple peripheral circadian rhythms (Wehrens et al. 2017). They found a delay in glucose rhythms (6 hours) and in adipose tissue PER2 expression (\sim 1 hour). No changes in the levels of central clock markers were found that indicated the entrainment of peripheral clocks but not the master clock. Additionally, another laboratory study also of 10 healthy men demonstrated the effects of a morning versus evening carbohydrate-rich meal on the circadian phase of core body temperature, heart rate, and salivary melatonin rhythms (Kräuchi et al. 2002). They reported an advanced circadian phase with a carbohydrate-rich meal in the morning in body temperature (59 min) and heart rate (43 min) compared to a carbohydraterich meal in the evening. No effect on dim light melatonin onset was found. The role of dietary composition and the timing of energy intake in the phase alignment of chronotypes, however, is vet to be determined.

In conclusion, the present findings, together with the overall evidence on differences in energy intake timing of chronotypes, suggest that the evening types have postponed energy intake compared to morning types. Chronotype differences in timing of energy intake could also provide one explanation for the overall unhealthier dietary habits of evening types compared to morning types.

6.2 **OBESITY (I,III)**

In contrast to the hypothesis, the findings suggested that men with a higher tendency towards eveningness more likely had a lower baseline BMI than morning-typed men, whereas no baseline associations between chronotype and obesity emerged in women. Evening-typed women were more likely to gain weight and have increases in their BMI than morning-typed women during the seven-year follow-up period. However, after the exclusion (n=130) of those with depression, the difference between morning and evening types attenuated to non-significant, although a positive association between a higher tendency towards eveningness and weight gain remained. Thus, it is likely that depression influenced the findings, at least to some extent, but also the lower sample size and lower statistical power to detect differences after excluding those with depression. Cross-sectional studies on the associations between chronotype and obesity have generally yielded inconsistent results (see Table 4 on page 41). Some studies have reported higher BMI/obesity risk or unhealthier body composition among evening types compared to morning types (Yu et al. 2015, Celis-Morales et al. 2017, Sun et al. 2020), while some studies have reported no associations (Johnsen et al. 2013, Knutson et al. 2017). Furthermore, the longitudinal evidence on these associations is scarce and is based thus far on small-scale studies with selected study populations (Culnan et al. 2013, Ruiz-Lozano et al. 2016). Evening-typed US college freshmen (n=54) were more prone to increases in BMI during an eight-week follow-up (Culnan et al. 2013), whereas bariatric surgery patients with evening preference types were less likely to lose more weight after the surgery than morning types during a six- year follow-up in a Spanish study (n=252) (Ruiz-Lozano et al. 2016).

Furthermore, the present study's findings indicated interaction between sex and chronotype on anthropometric measures. Some of the previous studies have also addressed sex differences. Among the cross-sectional studies, the present study's finding are in line with a Korean study of a middle-aged population in which evening-typed women had higher WC, fat mass and visceral mass, but no associations were found in men (Yu et al. 2015). However, studies from Norway (Johnsen et al. 2013) and the USA (Knutson et al. 2017) found no sex-stratified differences between chronotypes and anthropometrics, while three studies did not report sex interactions but adjusted their analyses for sex (Celis-Morales et al. 2017, Anothaisintawee et al. 2018, Sun et al. 2020). Regarding the two longitudinal studies, the weight gain was more pronounced among male than female college freshmen in a US study (Culnan et al. 2013), while the Spanish study on obese participants did not evaluate sex differences (Ruiz-Lozano et al. 2016). Regarding the US study of college freshmen, it was based on selfreported data on anthropometrics, which may have affected the findings, particularly among women, together with the very short follow-up period (Culnan et al. 2013).

There may be several reasons behind these overall inconsistent findings. First, the different study populations used may affect the findings; some of the studies were conducted on certain age groups (e.g., college students, middle aged participants) (Culnan et al. 2013, Yu et al. 2015, Sun et al. 2020), on different ethnic subgroups (Knutson et al. 2017, Sun et al. 2020) or participants (Ruiz-Lozano on health-compromised et al. 2016. Anothaisintawee et al. 2018). Second, different chronotype assessment methods used and differences in confounding factors may affect the findings. Moreover, none of the previous studies have taken depression into account when studying these associations. All these perspectives also make it hard to compare these studies.

In conclusion, findings from the present study indicated that a higher tendency towards eveningness in men associated with lower BMI. Evening-
typed women were more likely to gain weight than morning-typed women, but these associations were at least partly explained by depression. Based on the whole evidence, it is impossible to draw conclusions on these associations due to the finding's inconsistencies.

6.3 CHRONOTYPE, DIETARY HABITS AND OBESITY (I,III)

Chronotype, healthy diet and obesity (I)

No evidence that adherence to the healthy diet would mediate the association between chronotype and anthropometric measures was found in the present study. Furthermore, no evidence was found that chronotype would modify the association between the healthy diet and obesity in the present study, either. This is at least partly explained by the fact that no strong associations were found between chronotype and obesity or between the BSDS and anthropometric measures.

This is in line with a recent study of Italian adults (n=416) in which a healthy diet, assessed with the Mediterranean Diet score, did not explain the association between chronotype and WC (De Amicis et al. 2020). They found that evening types had a lower adherence to the Mediterranean Diet and that morning type was inversely associated with WC, but the association between chronotype and WC was independent of the adherence to the Mediterranean Diet.

In conclusion, it is impossible to make definite conclusions based on these studies. It seems, however, that evening types are not significantly more prone to obesity in the present study population despite a lower overall diet quality. This could partly be due to the fact that there were no differences in total daily energy intake between chronotypes. However, it should be noted that evening types also reported lower physical activity, which most likely affects the energy requirements. It is also well known that people are more likely to gain weight with age (Pajunen et al. 2012). Therefore, another likely explanation could be related to the fact that the evening types were, on average, almost a decade younger than the morning types, and the possibility of some remaining residual confounding despite adjusting the analysis for age cannot be completely ruled out.

Chronotype, timing of energy intake and obesity (III)

Chronotype played no role in the association between morning or evening energy intake and obesity in the present study. Evening energy intake was associated instead with obesity independent of chronotype; participants in the highest fourth of evening energy intake were almost two-times more likely with obesity at the baseline and at follow-up than those in the lowest fourth despite chronotype.

Similar findings regarding evening energy intake have been reported in a small-scale study of American adults (n=52) in which a higher evening energy intake was associated with a higher BMI independent of sleep timing (Baron et al. 2011) (see Table 3 on page 35). Another US study of middle-toolder-aged participants (n=872) found that higher evening energy intake within two hours before bedtime was associated with a higher risk of being overweight or obese but, unlike in the present study, the association was even stronger among evening types (Xiao et al. 2019). Furthermore, the same study also reported that morning types particularly benefited from higher energy intake in the morning within two hours after waking up in terms of obesity risk. A study of college-aged US participants (n=110) also indicated that eating closer to the biological night is associated with higher body fatness (assessed with DLMO), while they found no differences in clock hour of energy intake in terms of body fatness (McHill et al. 2017). A Spanish study of university staff (n=171) suggested that those chronotypes eating more in accordance with intrinsic circadian rhythm were less likely with obesity (Muñoz et al. 2017). Finally, a Thai study (n=210) suggested that later breakfast timing by evening types could mediate the association between chronotype and BMI on participants with type 2 diabetes (Nimitphong et al. 2018).

In conclusion, the majority of these studies suggested that a later eating time or eating closer to the biological night seem to play a role in obesity, although the role of chronotype in this association seems unclear. Furthermore, the role of chronotype in the association between morning energy intake and obesity remains unclear and requires further study. Overall, different study designs and definitions of timing of energy intake/meal make comparing these studies difficult and may account for the inconsistencies between studies. Some of the previous studies suggested that instead of examining clock hours of eating, it might be useful to analyze time of eating by measuring the time of food intake relative to the sleep and wakeup times, which could better capture the actual circadian timing of eating. The sleep and wake-up times were unavailable in the current study.

6.4 GENETIC ASSOCIATIONS OF CHRONOTYPE (IV)

Clock gene analysis

Findings of the present study indicated a novel association between chronotype and the *NR1D2* gene, because an independent association signal within *NR1D2* (lead SNP rs4131403) with chronotype emerged. *NR1D2* is part of an additional feedback loop in circadian clock machinery encoding a repressor that controls *ARNTL* transcription with retinoic acid orphan receptors (RORs) as opposing activators (Liu et al. 2008, Takahashi 2017)

(see Figure 2 on page 18). SNPs within this gene have not been associated with chronotype earlier, but a difference in timing of expression of this gene has been found between extreme morning types and extreme evening types based on hair follicle cells from fourteen individuals with extreme morning or evening chronotype (Ferrante et al. 2015). Furthermore, NR1D2 has been shown to have a role in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in the liver and skeletal muscle (Ramakrishnan et al. 2005, Wang et al. 2007). Mouse studies have demonstrated that administration of synthetic NR1D2 ligands or NR1D2 agonist may result in increased energy expenditure, reduced fat mass and improved dyslipidemia and hyperglycemia (Solt et al. 2012).

Although no strong associations were found between chronotype and obesity in the present study, these findings are supported by several epidemiological studies that have reported an association between chronotype and metabolic diseases (Merikanto et al. 2013b, Celis-Morales et al. 2017, Knutson and von Schantz 2018). Thus, the genetic background of chronotype may have a potential to at least partly explain the adverse health and health behavior related to evening types.

GWAS of chronotype

The current study represents the first GWAS of chronotype in which chronotype has been assessed with a validated chronotype questionnaire in addition to the simple self-evaluation question. However, no genome-wide significant associations were found in the present study. This is probably due to the small sample size in terms of conducting a GWAS, which limits the power to detect genome-wide associations. The previous GWASs of chronotype, which have identified 351 independent chronotype- associated loci, have all included large sample sizes based on two large cohorts, the 23andMe (Hu et al. 2016, n=89,283) and the UK Biobank (Lane et al. 2016; n=100,420, Jones et al. 2016; n=128,266) or a meta-analysis of these two cohorts (Jones et al. 2019; n=697,828).

No replication of the top 7742 genome-wide significant SNPs of the previous GWAS meta-analysis of chronotype (Jones et al. 2019) was found, either. However, the directions of effects of the SNPs were mostly in the same direction, showing a good consistency between our results and the GWAS of Jones et al. (2019).

More GWASs of chronotype in large sample sizes and different populations are needed to make definite conclusions. More GWASs in which chronotype assessment should be based on validated questionnaires are also warranted.

GRS of chronotype

The GRS was associated with chronotype in the present study population and accounted for \sim 1.3% (binary ME score), \sim 1.4% (continuous ME score) and \sim 1.9% (single-item chronotype) of chronotype variation. The estimate for chronotype heritability was 50% and that for additive genetic effect was 12%

(Koskenvuo et al. 2007) in the Older Finnish Twin Cohort Study data (n=8753). It has been generally noticed that the variance in the phenotype of interest explained by findings from GWASs tend to be much lower than what is found by using classic twin and family studies on assessing heritability (Mayhew and Meyre 2017). This gap is called "missing heritability," and there are many suggested reasons behind it, such as epigenetics, gene-by-gene interactions (epistasis), and small-size effect variants. It has also been suggested that the classic heritability studies could overestimate heritability.

Another study have also developed and tested a GRS for chronotype based on independent GWAS findings (Vera et al. 2018). This study included Spanish overweight and obese participants (n=1693), and the GRS for chronotype was based on 15 previously chronotype-associated SNPs. The GRS also successfully predicted chronotype in their study, although they did not assess the variance that the GRS explained. It can be concluded that, together, this evidence suggests that GRS based on GWAS studies may be a useful tool for capturing the genetic component of chronotype in different populations. Developing a GRS based on the previous findings of GWASs may also be a more powerful tool to reveal chronotype associations in smaller sample sizes that may lack the power to detect individual genome-wide significant associations.

6.5 MAIN STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

6.5.1 STUDY SAMPLES AND DESIGNS

This thesis was based on large population-based studies: FINRISK 2007 (and related substudies DILGOM 2007/2014 and FINDIET 2007) and FINRISK 2012 with acceptable participation rates, which can be considered a strength of the study. However, the possibility that health-conscious people tend to be those who are more likely to participate in health surveys may have affected the results to some extent (Jousilahti et al. 2005, Tolonen et al. 2010). Furthermore, some selection may have occurred regarding the DILGOM follow-up study, because those who were lost during the follow-up were more likely evening (29%) than morning types (21%). They also tended to be younger, more likely with less education, more physically inactive (particularly evening types), more often smokers and with higher anthropometric measurements (particularly evening types) than those who attended. Thus, it is possible that the differences between morning and evening types may be even more distinctive in reality than was found in the thesis.

Furthermore, all the substudies were observational (cross-sectional [I, II, IV] and longitudinal [III]) and cannot reveal causality. However, the

longitudinal design of substudy III provided an opportunity to assess changes in the outcome measures over time. It should be noted, however, that the changes in outcome measures (anthropometric measurements) were predicted with baseline predictors (chronotype, energy intake timing), which does not take into account possible changes in predictors during the followup period and whether it has any bearing on the findings. However, because chronotype was also assessed in the DILGOM follow-up, it provided a possibility to study whether participants reported a change in chronotype during the follow-up period. Thus, the main findings of substudy III were also analyzed without participants whose chronotype had changed from morning to evening type or vice versa during the follow-up period (n=9), which did not alter the findings.

6.5.2 MEASURES

Chronotype was assessed with a shortened ME questionnaire that included six items from the original 19-item MEO (Horne and Östberg 1976, Hätönen et al. 2008). The original MEQ has been validated against circadian variation in body temperature (Horne and Östberg 1976, Bailey and Heitkemper 2001) and DLMO (Kantermann et al. 2015). The shortened version accounted for 83% of the total variance of the original MEO with Cronbach's α of 0.80 indicating a good internal consistency (Hätönen et al. 2008). Two different cut-off value strategies were used to categorize chronotype: categorizing the ME sum score into study-specific thirds (I) and using pre-defined cut-off values that reflected the scaling of the original MEQ sum score (Merikanto et al. 2012) (II and III). This could potentially affect the results and their comparison. However, it has been found when comparing these two cut-off value strategies that categorizing into thirds yields more even group sizes, which means that some of those categorized as intermediate types by the predefined method were categorized as evening types when the ME score was divided into thirds (Maukonen 2015). Furthermore, regarding differences in energy and macronutrient intakes, a slight attenuation of mean differences in energy and macronutrient intake values when using thirds was detected. However, because the group size of evening types was also larger when using thirds, the statistical power to detect differences was also higher. Nevertheless, all analyses (I and II, when applicable) have been conducted in the thesis with both categorization methods, and they generally vielded similar results. It should also be noted that chronotype trait is a continuum with extreme types in the opposite ends of the continuum; therefore, drawing the lines or making cut-off values to a continuous trait is not straightforward in any case. For this reason, all analyses have also been conducted with the ME score used as a continuous variable. Moreover, the possibility of reporting biases related to self-reported data affecting the total sum score and categorizing of chronotype cannot be ruled out.

A limitation concerning all dietary assessment methods in general is that individuals tend to overestimate the consumption of healthy foods and underestimate the consumption of unhealthy foods. Women and people with obesity are particularly more likely to misreport their food intake (Paalanen et al. 2006). Evening types were more often women in the present study. Thus, it could be that evening types, particularly evening-typed women, may be more prone to underreport their food intake than morning types, affecting the dietary intake differences between morning and evening types. Thus, it could be that the chronotype differences in dietary intake may be even more distinctive in reality.

The FFO is a widely used and accepted method in nutritional epidemiology studies (Willett 2013). The FFQ has also been found to be a valid tool in assessing the overall diet quality with dietary scores (Benítez-Arciniega et al. 2011, van Lee et al. 2013). Furthermore, validation studies of FFQ have shown that the FFQ used in substudy I has a good ability to rank participants according to their food and nutrient consumption, which is the FFQ's main purpose (Männistö et al. 1996, Paalanen et al. 2006, Kaartinen et al. 2012). The FFQ also seems to be a rather valid tool for assessing absolute intakes. Regarding nutrients, the FFO seems to slightly underestimate nutrient intakes in general compared to food records, with alcohol being the most underestimated nutrient (Männistö et al. 1996, Paalanen et al. 2006). For example, in the first validation study of the FFQ used in the thesis among the Kuopio Breast Cancer Study participants (the FFQ was validated against two 7-day food records and the participants completed the same FFO twice three months apart), the underestimation of alcohol was -22% (FFQ1) and -33% (FFO2) compared to the absolute mean values derived from the food records (Männistö et al. 1996). Furthermore, the FFQs tended to under- or overestimate the intakes of food groups slightly more than nutrient intakes. The greatest overestimation among food groups concerning the BSDS components was for vegetables (FFQ1 +30%, FFQ2 +35%). To control for the underreporting of energy intake in substudy I, participants with low energy intake in relation to the estimated basic metabolic rates were excluded from the analysis in additional analyses (Goldberg et al. 1991). This did not generally alter the findings. Moreover, all analyses have been adjusted for energy intake.

Furthermore, although the selection and scoring of the BSDS components is based on the careful consideration of scientific evidence on the healthy Nordic diet, it is still arbitrary. However, in terms of nutrient intakes, the BSDS has been shown to be a valid tool for assessing a healthy diet; higher adherence to the BSDS has been associated with, e.g., higher intakes of carbohydrates (E%), fiber and lower intakes of SFA (E%) and alcohol (E%) (Kanerva et al. 2014b).

The 48-hour dietary recall (II and III) covered two consecutive days, and there was likely some correlation between the days. Furthermore, the 48hour dietary recall may not be an accurate estimate of long-term energy and macronutrient intakes or habitual timing of energy or macronutrient intakes. It should also be noted that with regard to combining the 48-hour dietary recalls and the 3-day food diaries for weekdays and weekend analysis (II), the possibility of methodological differences affecting the results cannot be completely ruled out, although both methods generally yielded similar results when energy and macronutrient intakes were compared (Maukonen 2015) (see page 47 for further details).

Furthermore, anthropometric measurements (I) were based on measured values that were assessed according to standardized international protocols that can be considered a strength (Tolonen et al. 2008), whereas in substudy III measured and self-reported values were used. The validity of self-reported anthropometric measures has been examined in the DILGOM 2014 data because self-reported anthropometric measures are particularly subject to reporting biases (Gorber et al. 2007, Maukonen et al. 2018). The self-reported values have reached a high agreement with measured values (Kanerva et al. 2018) (see page 49 for further details).

In substudy IV genotyping was conducted in five batches with three genotyping platforms (FINRISK 2007; Illumina 610K (COROGENE controls), Illumina Omniexpress (PREDICTCVD cases and controls), Illumina HumanCoreExome and FINRISK 2012; Illumina HumanCoreExome), which could potentially affect the findings. However, the same standard quality control methods and standard imputation procedures were centrally applied for the data from each batch. This was followed by a joint quality control to harmonize the data content and the analyses were further adjusted for the different batches used.

The genome of the Finnish population differs from other populations because of a relatively small number of founder individuals and strong genetic isolation over centuries; therefore, some variants may be more enriched in the Finnish population and, at the same time, some variants may be more rare here than elsewhere. This could either increase or decrease the probability of finding associations compared to genetically more heterogenic populations. This may also potentially affect the comparison of the studies. The GWAS replication analysis (although not statistically significant) in the current study, however, showed a good consistency with the previous GWAS of chronotype on participants with European ancestry (Jones et al. 2019). Furthermore, the function of the gene and the role of a single variant are considered to be similar across the different populations.

All the studies allowed an extensive control for confounding factors (e.g., smoking, education, and other sleep factors). However, some residual confounding may still remain despite this.

6.6 **IMPLICATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH**

Different strategies to tackle the complex obesity epidemic are needed, and in recent years an increasing interest has been addressed towards health implications related to sleep and circadian rhythms. Sleep behavior plays an ever more important role alongside healthy diet and physical activity in weight management and the individual's overall wellbeing. Chronotype links directly to sleep behavior and, consequently, the number of studies examining the role of chronotype in obesity and dietary habits has also increased during recent years, and even from the start of this thesis project. However, many of these studies have still been rather small scale and included selected study populations, which hamper the generalizability of the results and may even partly account for the inconsistent findings. Therefore, more larger-scale, population-based studies and longitudinal studies on these associations are still needed.

In particular, the association between chronotype and obesity and the role of chronotype in the association between food intake timing and obesity remain inconclusive and require further study. Future studies should also examine the role of energy intake timing relating not only to obesity but also to a wider scale with overall metabolic health (e.g., type 2 diabetes) and take chronotype into account when studying these associations. An important point for future studies on energy intake timing is also to seek unification in the methodological aspects related to the timing of food intake. That would make comparison of the studies easier and further unify the findings.

Another interesting area that requires further study is the role of social jetlag in chronotype associations. Evening types are prone to social jetlag (Wittmann et al. 2006), and social jetlag has been associated with adverse metabolic health (Koopman et al. 2017, Islam et al. 2018), so it would be important to examine whether social jetlag could mediate or modify the associations between chronotype, dietary habits and obesity.

This thesis also examined the genetic basis of chronotype. Findings suggested novel associations between chronotype and a clock gene that has previously been associated with carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. Furthermore, GRS based on a large GWAS of chronotype was associated with chronotype in the current study population. Future studies should explore the potential of these findings in capturing chronotype in various study populations. Furthermore, the degree to which genetics and environment could explain the adverse health behaviors and health of evening types should be further explored.

This study's results provided novel, population-based information on the associations between chronotype, dietary habits and obesity and on the genetic basis of the chronotype. Despite some inconsistencies in the findings, this thesis suggested that evening types had an unhealthier overall diet quality and a postponed energy intake, which is line with the current evidence. Furthermore, findings from the thesis added to the evidence related to the overall unhealthier behaviors associated repeatedly with evening type, such as smoking and physical inactivity. Thus, this points to the need to assess the potential beneficial health effects in identifying those with later circadian preference in health promotion work. Awareness of one's chronotype could also further advance or encourage adapting a healthier lifestyle. Furthermore, there is a trend in society towards a greater flexibility in work schedules, and the results of this study could further support this trend. Greater flexibility in work schedules are against their biological rhythms (e.g., evening types, shift workers) and improve their work efficiency.

7 CONCLUSIONS

The aim of this thesis was to study the associations between chronotype, dietary habits (overall diet quality, energy and macronutrient intake timing) and obesity (weight, BMI, WC, BF%) and the interrelationships between these factors. This thesis also aimed to clarify the genetic basis of chronotype. The following main conclusions can be drawn from the thesis:

1. Evening type was associated with lower adherence to the healthy diet (assessed with the BSDS), with lower energy and macronutrient intake (except for sucrose) in the morning (till 10:00 a.m.) and with higher energy, sucrose, fat and saturated fat intake in the evening (after 8:00 p.m.) compared to morning types. Differences between morning and evening types in energy and macronutrient intake timing were even more pronounced at the weekend. No differences, however, emerged between chronotypes in total daily energy intake.

2. A higher tendency towards eveningness in men was associated with lower BMI at the baseline but not in women. Evening chronotype was associated with higher increases in weight and BMI only in women during a seven-year follow-up period, but these associations were at least partly explained by a higher prevalence of depression among evening types.

3. Associations between chronotype and obesity were not mediated by the healthy diet (assessed with the BSDS), nor did chronotype modify the association between the BSDS and obesity. Furthermore, a higher evening energy intake was associated with a higher obesity risk. This association was not modified by chronotype, either. Thus, it seemed that despite the unhealthier dietary habits (lower adherence to the BSDS, later energy intake timing) of evening chronotypes, chronotype played no role in the association between healthy diet and obesity nor in the association between energy intake timing and obesity.

4. Chronotype associated with the *NR1D2* clock gene that has previously been demonstrated to have a role in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. Furthermore, a GRS developed based on 313 SNPs that have previously been associated with chronotype was able to capture the genetic aspect of chronotype in the current study population. However, the GWAS of chronotype did not yield any genome-wide associations.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis was carried out at the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (THL) in the Department of Public Health Solutions. I would like to thank THL for providing excellent research facilities to carry out this thesis. I gratefully acknowledge the personnel and the participants of the FINRISK 2007/2012, FINDIET 2007 and DILGOM 2007/2014 studies for enabling the existence of these datasets.

This thesis was financially supported by the Doctoral Programme in Population Health (DocPop), the Juho Vainio Foundation, the Finnish Cultural Foundation, and the Wihuri Foundation. I gratefully acknowledge these funds that have made this work possible.

My deepest gratitude goes to my three supervisors Adjunct Professor Satu Männistö, Research Professor Timo Partonen and Adjunct Professor Noora Kanerva. I feel truly privileged that I have had them guiding me through this journey. I wish to thank Satu for believing in me when I first started as a university trainee in her research group. That training led the way to this journey. Her guidance, encouragement and support have carried me through these years. Her genuine enthusiasm and extensive expertise in nutrition and epidemiology are inspiring. I express my sincere gratitude for Timo for his support and guidance to the world of chronobiology during these years. I greatly admire his notable expertise in this field and appreciate his positive and welcoming attitude. I'm grateful to Noora for guiding and helping me since the day I started my journey in THL. Her positive and energetic personality and her invaluable comments and advice during these years are deeply valued. I wish to thank her for sharing her wide expertise not only in nutrition but also in statistics.

I would like to thank the members of my thesis committee Adjunct Professor Eva Roos and Adjunct Professor Sami Leppämäki for their advice during these years.

I warmly thank all my co-authors for their contribution, valuable criticism and comments on the substudies of my thesis. Special thanks to Adjunct Professor Aki Havulinna for familiarizing me with the world of genetics by sharing his wide expertize on that matter. I wish to thank M.Sc. Heli Tapanainen and M.Sc. Jukka Kontto for statistical expertise.

I express my gratitude to the official reviewers Adjunct Professor Sari Hantunen and Professor Jyrki Korkeila for their careful consideration of this thesis. I sincerely thank Adjunct Professor Hanna Lagström for accepting the role of an opponent at my thesis defend and Professor Tea Lallukka for accepting the role of a custos.

I'm grateful to my present and former co-workers at THL Katariina, Peppi, Kirsi, Hanna, Eeva, Jemina, Tuuli, Annika, Lea, Salla, Sanni, Jenna, Noora and all the others. Our inspiring conversations and laughs during lunch and coffee breaks have always been something to look forward to. Katariina and Peppi, I'm truly grateful for our talks and your support in the final stages of this project during the past year.

I want to thank my friends for their support and interest in this project. My parents, Marja-Liisa and Seppo, thank you for your unwavering love and support during my entire life. I wish to thank my big sister Marjaana and my big brother Marko and his family. Finally, Mikko my rock, your love and support (and your sense of humor) have given me strength and energy during these years. And our little rescue dog Louise B who lightens up the days just by being.

Helsinki, February 2021 Mirkka

REFERENCES

- Adamsson V, Reumark A, Cederholm T, Vessby B, Risérus U, Johansson G (2012). What is a healthy Nordic diet? Foods and nutrients in the NORDIET study. *Food Nutr. Res.* **56**.
- Adan A, Almirall H (1991). Horne & Östberg morningness-eveningness questionnaire: A reduced scale. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* **12**: 241–253.
- Andreani TS, Itoh TQ, Yildirim E, Hwangbo D-S, Allada R (2015). Genetics of Circadian Rhythms. *Sleep Med. Clin.* **10**: 413–421.
- Anothaisintawee T, Lertrattananon D, Thamakaison S, Thakkinstian A, Reutrakul S (2018). The Relationship Among Morningness-Eveningness, Sleep Duration, Social Jetlag, and Body Mass Index in Asian Patients With Prediabetes. *Front. Endocrinol.* 9: 435.
- Arble DM, Bass J, Laposky AD, Vitaterna MH, Turek FW (2009). Circadian timing of food intake contributes to weight gain. Obesity (Silver Spring) 17: 2100– 2102.
- Asher G, Sassone-Corsi P (2015). Time for food: the intimate interplay between nutrition, metabolism, and the circadian clock. *Cell* **161**: 84–92.
- Bailey SL, Heitkemper MM (2001). Circadian rhythmicity of cortisol and body temperature: morningness-eveningness effects. *Chronobiol. Int.* **18**: 249–261.
- Baranowski T (2013). 24-Hour Recall and Diet Record Methods. In: Willett WC (Ed.). Nutritional epidemiology. 3rd ed. Oxford University Press, p. 49.
- Barclay NL, Eley TC, Buysse DJ, Archer SN, Gregory AM (2010). Diurnal preference and sleep quality: same genes? A study of young adult twins. *Chronobiol. Int.* 27: 278–296.
- Barclay NL, Eley TC, Mill J, Wong CCY, Zavos HMS, Archer SN, Gregory AM (2011). Sleep quality and diurnal preference in a sample of young adults: associations with 5HTTLPR, PER3, and CLOCK 3111. Am. J. Med. Genet. Neuropsychiatr. Genet. 156B: 681–690.
- Barclay NL, Watson NF, Buchwald D, Goldberg J (2014). Moderation of genetic and environmental influences on diurnal preference by age in adult twins. *Chronobiol. Int.* 31: 222–231.
- Baron KG, Reid KJ (2014). Circadian Misalignment and Health. *Int. Rev. Psychiatry* **26**: 139–154.

- Baron KG, Reid KJ, Horn LV, Zee PC (2013). Contribution of evening macronutrient intake to total caloric intake and body mass index. *Appetite* **60**: 246–251.
- Baron KG, Reid KJ, Kern AS, Zee PC (2011). Role of sleep timing in caloric intake and BMI. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* **19**: 1374–1381.
- Bass J, Takahashi JS (2010). Circadian integration of metabolism and energetics. *Science* **330**: 1349–1354.
- Beaulieu K, Oustric P, Alkahtani S, Alhussain M, Pedersen H, Quist JS, Færch K, Finlayson G (2020). Impact of Meal Timing and Chronotype on Food Reward and Appetite Control in Young Adults. *Nutrients* 12: 1506.
- Beccuti G, Monagheddu C, Evangelista A, Ciccone G, Broglio F, Soldati L, Bo S (2017). Timing of food intake: Sounding the alarm about metabolic impairments? A systematic review. *Pharmacol. Res.* **125**: 132–141.
- Benítez-Arciniega AA, Mendez MA, Baena-Díez JM, Rovira Martori M-A, Soler C, Marrugat J, Covas M-I, Sanz H, Llopis A, Schröder H (2011). Concurrent and construct validity of Mediterranean diet scores as assessed by an FFQ. *Public Health Nutr.* 14: 2015–2021.
- Boland WA, Connell PM, Vallen B (2013). Time of day effects on the regulation of food consumption after activation of health goals. *Appetite* **70**: 47–52.
- Bonnet JP, Cardel MI, Cellini J, Hu FB, Guasch-Ferré M (2020). Breakfast Skipping, Body Composition, and Cardiometabolic Risk: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Trials. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* **28**: 1098–1109.
- Borodulin K, Vartiainen E, Peltonen M, Jousilahti P, Juolevi A, Laatikainen T, Männistö S, Salomaa V, Sundvall J, Puska P (2015). Forty-year trends in cardiovascular risk factors in Finland. *Eur. J. Public Health* **25**: 539–546.
- Broms U, Pitkäniemi J, Backmand H, Heikkilä K, Koskenvuo M, Peltonen M, Sarna S, Vartiainen E, Kaprio J, Partonen T (2014). Long-term consistency of diurnal-type preferences among men. *Chronobiol. Int.* 31: 182–188.
- Bush WS, Moore JH (2012). Chapter 11: Genome-wide association studies. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 8: e1002822.
- Buxton OM, Cain SW, O'Connor SP, Porter JH, Duffy JF, Wang W, Czeisler CA, Shea SA (2012). Adverse metabolic consequences in humans of prolonged sleep restriction combined with circadian disruption. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 4: 129ra43.
- Carpen JD, Archer SN, Skene DJ, Smits M, Schantz M von (2005). A singlenucleotide polymorphism in the 5'-untranslated region of the hPER2 gene is associated with diurnal preference. J. Sleep Res. 14: 293–297.

- Carpen JD, Schantz M von, Smits M, Skene DJ, Archer SN (2006). A silent polymorphism in the PER1 gene associates with extreme diurnal preference in humans. *J. Hum. Genet.* **51**: 1122–1125.
- Celis-Morales C, Lyall DM, Guo Y, Steell L, Llanas D, Ward J, Mackay DF, Biello SM, Bailey ME, Pell JP, Gill JM (2017). Sleep characteristics modify the association of genetic predisposition with obesity and anthropometric measurements in 119,679 UK Biobank participants. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 105: 980–990.
- Chang A-M, Buch AM, Bradstreet DS, Klements DJ, Duffy JF (2011). Human diurnal preference and circadian rhythmicity are not associated with the CLOCK 3111C/T gene polymorphism. *J. Biol. Rhythms* **26**: 276–279.
- Chang A-M, Duffy JF, Buxton OM, Lane JM, Aeschbach D, Anderson C, Bjonnes AC, Cain SW, Cohen DA, Frayling TM, Gooley JJ, Jones SE, Klerman EB, Lockley SW, Munch M, Rajaratnam SMW, Rueger M, Rutter MK, Santhi N, Scheuermaier K, Van Reen E, Weedon MN, Czeisler CA, Scheer FAJL, Saxena R (2019). Chronotype Genetic Variant in PER2 is Associated with Intrinsic Circadian Period in Humans. *Sci. Rep.* 9: 5350.
- Choub A, Mancuso M, Coppedè F, LoGerfo A, Orsucci D, Petrozzi L, DiCoscio E, Maestri M, Rocchi A, Bonanni E, Siciliano G, Murri L (2011). Clock T3111C and Per2 C111G SNPs do not influence circadian rhythmicity in healthy Italian population. *Neurol. Sci.* 32: 89–93.
- Cohen J (1992). A power primer. Psychol. Bull. 112: 155-159.
- Corella D, Asensio EM, Coltell O, Sorlí JV, Estruch R, Martínez-González MÁ, Salas-Salvadó J, Castañer O, Arós F, Lapetra J, Serra-Majem L, Gómez-Gracia E, Ortega-Azorín C, Fiol M, Espino JD, Díaz-López A, Fitó M, Ros E, Ordovás JM (2016). CLOCK gene variation is associated with incidence of type-2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases in type-2 diabetic subjects: dietary modulation in the PREDIMED randomized trial. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 15: 4.
- Culnan E, Kloss JD, Grandner M (2013). A prospective study of weight gain associated with chronotype among college freshmen. *Chronobiol. Int.* **30**: 682–690.
- Damiola F, Le Minh N, Preitner N, Kornmann B, Fleury-Olela F, Schibler U (2000). Restricted feeding uncouples circadian oscillators in peripheral tissues from the central pacemaker in the suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Genes Dev.* 14: 2950– 2961.
- Dashti HS, Smith CE, Lee Y-C, Parnell LD, Lai C-Q, Arnett DK, Ordovás JM, Garaulet M (2014). CRY1 circadian gene variant interacts with carbohydrate intake for insulin resistance in two independent populations: Mediterranean and North American. *Chronobiol. Int.* **31**: 660–667.

- De Amicis R, Galasso L, Leone A, Vignati L, De Carlo G, Foppiani A, Montaruli A, Roveda E, Cè E, Esposito F, Vanzulli A, Battezzati A, Bertoli S (2020). Is Abdominal Fat Distribution Associated with Chronotype in Adults Independently of Lifestyle Factors? *Nutrients* **12**: 592.
- DeBruyne JP, Weaver DR, Reppert SM (2007). CLOCK and NPAS2 have overlapping roles in the suprachiasmatic circadian clock. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10: 543–545.
- Di Milia L, Adan A, Natale V, Randler C (2013). Reviewing the psychometric properties of contemporary circadian typology measures. *Chronobiol. Int.* **30**: 1261–1271.
- Didikoglu A, Maharani A, Payton A, Pendleton N, Canal MM (2019). Longitudinal change of sleep timing: association between chronotype and longevity in older adults. *Chronobiol. Int.* **36**: 1285–1300.
- Dmitrzak-Weglarz M, Pawlak J, Wilkosc M, Miechowicz I, Maciukiewicz M, Ciarkowska W, Zaremba D, Hauser J (2016). Chronotype and sleep quality as a subphenotype in association studies of clock genes in mood disorders. *Acta Neurobiol. Exp. (Warsz.)* **76**: 32–42.
- Etain B, Jamain S, Milhiet V, Lajnef M, Boudebesse C, Dumaine A, Mathieu F, Gombert A, Ledudal K, Gard S, Kahn JP, Henry C, Boland A, Zelenika D, Lechner D, Lathrop M, Leboyer M, Bellivier F (2014). Association between circadian genes, bipolar disorders and chronotypes. *Chronobiol. Int.* 31: 807– 814.
- Ferrante A, Gellerman D, Ay A, Woods KP, Filipowicz AM, Jain K, Bearden N, Ingram KK (2015). Diurnal Preference Predicts Phase Differences in Expression of Human Peripheral Circadian Clock Genes. J. Circadian Rhythms 13: 4.
- Fong M, Caterson ID, Madigan CD (2017). Are large dinners associated with excess weight, and does eating a smaller dinner achieve greater weight loss? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br. J. Nutr.* **118**: 616–628.
- Garaulet M, Corbalán-Tutau MD, Madrid JA, Baraza JC, Parnell LD, Lee Y-C, Ordovas JM (2010). PERIOD2 variants are associated with abdominal obesity, psycho-behavioral factors, and attrition in the dietary treatment of obesity. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 110: 917–921.
- Garaulet M, Lee Y-C, Shen J, Parnell LD, Arnett DK, Tsai MY, Lai C-Q, Ordovas JM (2009). CLOCK genetic variation and metabolic syndrome risk: modulation by monounsaturated fatty acids. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **90**: 1466–1475.
- Garaulet M, Smith CE, Gomez-Abellán P, Ordovás-Montañés M, Lee Y-C, Parnell LD, Arnett DK, Ordovás JM (2014). REV-ERB-ALPHA circadian gene

variant associates with obesity in two independent populations: Mediterranean and North American. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **58**: 821–829.

- Garcia-Rios A, Gomez-Delgado FJ, Garaulet M, Alcala-Diaz JF, Delgado-Lista FJ, Marin C, Rangel-Zuñiga OA, Rodriguez-Cantalejo F, Gomez-Luna P, Ordovas JM, Perez-Jimenez F, Lopez-Miranda J, Perez-Martinez P (2014). Beneficial effect of CLOCK gene polymorphism rs1801260 in combination with low-fat diet on insulin metabolism in the patients with metabolic syndrome. *Chronobiol. Int.* **31**: 401–408.
- Gibney MJ, Barr SI, Bellisle F, Drewnowski A, Fagt S, Hopkins S, Livingstone B, Varela-Moreiras G, Moreno L, Smith J, Vieux F, Thielecke F, Masset G (2018). Towards an Evidence-Based Recommendation for a Balanced Breakfast-A Proposal from the International Breakfast Research Initiative. *Nutrients* 10: 1540.
- Gill S, Panda S (2015). A Smartphone App Reveals Erratic Diurnal Eating Patterns in Humans that Can Be Modulated for Health Benefits. *Cell Metab.* **22**: 789–798.
- Goldberg G, Black A, Jebb S, Cole T, Murgatroyd P, Coward W, Prentice A (1991). Critical evaluation of energy intake data using fundamental principles of energy physiology: 1. Derivation of cut-off limits to identify under-recording. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 45: 569–581.
- Gontijo CA, Cabral BBM, Balieiro LCT, Teixeira GP, Fahmy WM, Maia YC de P, Crispim CA (2019). Time-related eating patterns and chronotype are associated with diet quality in pregnant women. *Chronobiol. Int.* **36**: 75–84.
- Goo RH, Moore JG, Greenberg E, Alazraki NP (1987). Circadian variation in gastric emptying of meals in humans. *Gastroenterology* **93**: 515–518.
- Gorber SC, Tremblay M, Moher D, Gorber B (2007). A comparison of direct vs. self-report measures for assessing height, weight and body mass index: a systematic review. *Obes. Rev.* **8**: 307–326.
- Goumidi L, Grechez A, Dumont J, Cottel D, Kafatos A, Moreno LA, Molnar D, Moschonis G, Gottrand F, Huybrechts I, Dallongeville J, Amouyel P, Delaunay F, Meirhaeghe A (2013). Impact of REV-ERB alpha gene polymorphisms on obesity phenotypes in adult and adolescent samples. *Int.* J. Obes. 37: 666–672.
- Hayes KR, Baggs JE, Hogenesch JB (2005). Circadian clocks are seeing the systems biology light. *Genome Biol.* **6**: 219-219.
- Hida A, Kitamura S, Katayose Y, Kato M, Ono H, Kadotani H, Uchiyama M, Ebisawa T, Inoue Y, Kamei Y, Okawa M, Takahashi K, Mishima K (2014). Screening of clock gene polymorphisms demonstrates association of a PER3 polymorphism with morningness-eveningness preference and circadian rhythm sleep disorder. *Sci. Rep.* 4: 6309.

- Hill WG, Goddard ME, Visscher PM (2008). Data and theory point to mainly additive genetic variance for complex traits. *PLoS Genet.* **4**: e1000008.
- Hillesund ER, Bere E, Haugen M, Øverby NC (2014). Development of a New Nordic Diet score and its association with gestational weight gain and fetal growth a study performed in the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa). *Public Health Nutr.* **17**: 1909–1918.
- Hisler GC, Phillips AL, Krizan Z (2017). Individual Differences in Diurnal Preference and Time-of-Exercise Interact to Predict Exercise Frequency. Ann. Behav. Med. Publ. Soc. Behav. Med. **51**: 391–401.
- Horne JA, Östberg O (1976). A self-assessment questionnaire to determine morningness-eveningness in human circadian rhythms. *Int. J. Chronobiol.* **4**: 97–110.
- Hu FB (2002). Dietary pattern analysis: a new direction in nutritional epidemiology. *Curr. Opin. Lipidol.* **13**: 3–9.
- Hu Y, Shmygelska A, Tran D, Eriksson N, Tung JY, Hinds DA (2016). GWAS of 89,283 individuals identifies genetic variants associated with self-reporting of being a morning person. *Nat. Commun.* 7: 10448.
- Hur YM (2007). Stability of genetic influence on morningness-eveningness: a crosssectional examination of South Korean twins from preadolescence to young adulthood. J. Sleep Res. 16: 17–23.
- Hur YM, Bouchard TJ, Lykken DT (1998). Genetic and environmental influence on morningness–eveningnessfn2fn2Part of the material reported here was presented at the 27th annual meeting of the Behavior Genetics Association. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 25: 917–925.
- Hätönen T, Forsblom S, Kieseppä T, Lönnqvist J, Partonen T (2008). Circadian phenotype in patients with the co-morbid alcohol use and bipolar disorders. *Alcohol Alcohol.* **43**: 564–568.
- Islam Z, Akter S, Kochi T, Hu H, Eguchi M, Yamaguchi M, Kuwahara K, Kabe I, Mizoue T (2018). Association of social jetlag with metabolic syndrome among Japanese working population: the Furukawa Nutrition and Health Study. *Sleep Med.* 51: 53–58.
- Jankowski KS, Dmitrzak-Weglarz M (2017). ARNTL, CLOCK and PER3 polymorphisms links with chronotype and affective dimensions. *Chronobiol. Int.* **34**: 1105–1113.
- Johnsen MT, Wynn R, Bratlid T (2013). Optimal sleep duration in the subarctic with respect to obesity risk is 8-9 hours. *PloS One* **8**: e56756.
- Jones SE, Lane JM, Wood AR, Hees VT van, Tyrrell J, Beaumont RN, Jeffries AR, Dashti HS, Hillsdon M, Ruth KS, Tuke MA, Yaghootkar H, Sharp SA, Jie Y, Thompson WD, Harrison JW, Dawes A, Byrne EM, Tiemeier H, Allebrandt

KV, Bowden J, Ray DW, Freathy RM, Murray A, Mazzotti DR, Gehrman PR, Lawlor DA, Frayling TM, Rutter MK, Hinds DA, Saxena R, Weedon MN (2019). Genome-wide association analyses of chronotype in 697,828 individuals provides insights into circadian rhythms. *Nat. Commun.* **10**: 343–347.

- Jones SE, Tyrrell J, Wood AR, Beaumont RN, Ruth KS, Tuke MA, Yaghootkar H, Hu Y, Teder-Laving M, Hayward C, Roenneberg T, Wilson JF, Greco FD, Hicks AA, Shin C, Yun CH, Lee SK, Metspalu A, Byrne EM, Gehrman PR, Tiemeier H, Allebrandt KV, Freathy RM, Murray A, Hinds DA, Frayling TM, Weedon MN (2016). Genome-Wide Association Analyses in 128,266 Individuals Identifies New Morningness and Sleep Duration Loci. *PLoS Genet.* 12: e1006125.
- Jousilahti P, Salomaa V, Kuulasmaa K, Niemelä M, Vartiainen E (2005). Total and cause specific mortality among participants and non-participants of population based health surveys: a comprehensive follow up of 54 372 Finnish men and women. *J. Epidemiol. Community Health* **59**: 310–315.
- Kaartinen NE, Tapanainen H, Valsta LM, Similä ME, Reinivuo H, Korhonen T, Harald K, Eriksson JG, Peltonen M, Männistö S (2012). Relative validity of a FFQ in measuring carbohydrate fractions, dietary glycaemic index and load: exploring the effects of subject characteristics. *Br. J. Nutr.* **107**: 1367–1375.
- Kanerva N, Harald K, Männistö S, Kaartinen NE, Maukonen M, Haukkala A, Jousilahti P (2018). Adherence to the healthy Nordic diet is associated with weight change during 7 years of follow-up. *Br. J. Nutr.* **120**: 101–110.
- Kanerva N, Kaartinen NE, Rissanen H, Knekt P, Eriksson JG, Sääksjärvi K, Sundvall J, Männistö S (2014) (a). Associations of the Baltic Sea diet with cardiometabolic risk factors--a meta-analysis of three Finnish studies. Br. J. Nutr. 112: 616–626.
- Kanerva N, Kaartinen NE, Schwab U, Lahti-Koski M, Männistö S (2013). Adherence to the Baltic Sea diet consumed in the Nordic countries is associated with lower abdominal obesity. *Br. J. Nutr.* **109**: 520–528.
- Kanerva N, Kaartinen NE, Schwab U, Lahti-Koski M, Männistö S (2014) (b). The Baltic Sea Diet Score: a tool for assessing healthy eating in Nordic countries. *Public Health Nutr.* 17: 1697–1705.
- Kanerva N, Kronholm E, Partonen T, Ovaskainen ML, Kaartinen NE, Konttinen H, Broms U, Männistö S (2012). Tendency toward eveningness is associated with unhealthy dietary habits. *Chronobiol. Int.* 29: 920–927.
- Kanerva N, Loo BM, Eriksson JG, Leiviskä J, Kaartinen NE, Jula A, Männistö S (2014) (c). Associations of the Baltic Sea diet with obesity-related markers of inflammation. *Ann. Med.* 46: 90–96.

- Kantermann T, Sung H, Burgess HJ (2015). Comparing the Morningness-Eveningness Questionnaire and Munich ChronoType Questionnaire to the Dim Light Melatonin Onset. J. Biol. Rhythms **30**: 449–453.
- Katzenberg D, Young T, Finn L, Lin L, King DP, Takahashi JS, Mignot E (1998). A CLOCK polymorphism associated with human diurnal preference. *Sleep* **21**: 569–576.
- Khare A, Inman J (2006). Habitual behavior in American eating patterns. The role of meal occasions. *J. Consum. Res.* **32**: 567–575.
- Kim SJ, Lee JH, Lee SY, Hwang J-W, Suh IB (2016). No association of CLOCK 3111T/C polymorphism with diurnal preference and sleep quality in Korean adults. *Sleep Biol. Rhythms* 14: 135–140.
- Knutson KL, Schantz M von (2018). Associations between chronotype, morbidity and mortality in the UK Biobank cohort. *Chronobiol. Int.* **35**: 1045–1053.
- Knutson KL, Wu D, Patel SR, Loredo JS, Redline S, Cai J, Gallo LC, Mossavar-Rahmani Y, Ramos AR, Teng Y, Daviglus ML, Zee PC (2017). Association Between Sleep Timing, Obesity, Diabetes: The Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos (HCHS/SOL) Cohort Study. Sleep 40: zsx014.
- Konttinen H, Silventoinen K, Sarlio-Lähteenkorva S, Männistö S, Haukkala A (2010). Emotional eating and physical activity self-efficacy as pathways in the association between depressive symptoms and adiposity indicators. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **92**: 1031–1039.
- Koopman ADM, Rauh SP, Riet E van 't, Groeneveld L, Heijden AA van der, Elders PJ, Dekker JM, Nijpels G, Beulens JW, Rutters F (2017). The Association between Social Jetlag, the Metabolic Syndrome, and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in the General Population: The New Hoorn Study. J. Biol. Rhythms 32: 359–368.
- Koponen P, Borodulin K, Lundqvist A, Sääksjärvi K, Koskinen S (Eds.) (2018). *Health, functional capacity and welfare in Finland – FinHealth 2017 study.* National Institute for Health and Welfare (THL), (abstract in English). Report **4/2018**.
- Koskenvuo M, Hublin C, Partinen M, Heikkila K, Kaprio J (2007). Heritability of diurnal type: a nationwide study of 8753 adult twin pairs. *J. Sleep Res.* **16**: 156–162.
- Krebs-Smith SM, Pannucci TE, Subar AF, Kirkpatrick SI, Lerman JL, Tooze JA, Wilson MM, Reedy J (2018). Update of the Healthy Eating Index: HEI-2015. J. Acad. Nutr. Diet. 118: 1591–1602.
- Kripke DF, Klimecki WT, Nievergelt CM, Rex KM, Murray SS, Shekhtman T, Tranah GJ, Loving RT, Lee HJ, Rhee MK, Shadan FF, Poceta JS, Jamil SM,

Kline LE, Kelsoe JR (2014). Circadian polymorphisms in night owls, in bipolars, and in non-24-hour sleep cycles. *Psychiatry Investig.* **11**: 345–362.

- Kräuchi K, Cajochen C, Werth E, Wirz-Justice A (2002). Alteration of internal circadian phase relationships after morning versus evening carbohydrate-rich meals in humans. J. Biol. Rhythms 17: 364–376.
- Kurien P, Hsu PK, Leon J, Wu D, McMahon T, Shi G, Xu Y, Lipzen A, Pennacchio LA, Jones CR, Fu YH, Ptacek LJ (2019). TIMELESS mutation alters phase responsiveness and causes advanced sleep phase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 116: 12045–12053.
- Kwon JM, Goate AM (2000). The Candidate Gene Approach. *Alcohol Res. Health* **24**: 164–168.
- Laatikainen T, Härkänen T, Borodulin K, Harald K, Koskinen S, Männistö S, Peltonen M, Sundvall J, Valsta L, Vartiainen E, Jousilahti P (2019). Sydänja verisuonitautien riskitekijät 1992–2017: laskusuunta jatkunut, mutta hidastunut. Lääkärilehti 74: 1886–1893.
- Lane JM, Vlasac I, Anderson SG, Kyle SD, Dixon WG, Bechtold DA, Gill S, Little MA, Luik A, Loudon A, Emsley R, Scheer FA, Lawlor DA, Redline S, Ray DW, Rutter MK, Saxena R (2016). Genome-wide association analysis identifies novel loci for chronotype in 100,420 individuals from the UK Biobank. *Nat. Commun.* 7: 10889.
- Lee H-J, Kim L, Kang S-G, Yoon H-K, Choi J-E, Park Y-M, Kim SJ, Kripke DF (2011). PER2 variation is associated with diurnal preference in a Korean young population. *Behav. Genet.* 41: 273–277.
- Lee L van, Feskens EJM, Hooft van Huysduynen EJC, Vries JHM de, Veer P van 't, Geelen A (2013). The Dutch Healthy Diet index as assessed by 24 h recalls and FFQ: associations with biomarkers from a cross-sectional study. *J. Nutr. Sci.* **2**: e40.
- Liu Q, Shi J, Duan P, Liu B, Li T, Wang C, Li H, Yang T, Gan Y, Wang X, Cao S, Lu Z (2018). Is shift work associated with a higher risk of overweight or obesity? A systematic review of observational studies with meta-analysis. *Int.* J. Epidemiol. 47: 1956–1971.
- Liu AC, Tran HG, Zhang EE, Priest AA, Welsh DK, Kay SA (2008). Redundant function of REV-ERBalpha and beta and non-essential role for Bmall cycling in transcriptional regulation of intracellular circadian rhythms. *PLoS Genet.* **4**: e1000023.
- Locke AE, Steinberg KM, Chiang CWK, Service SK, Havulinna AS, Stell L, Pirinen M, Abel HJ, Chiang CC, Fulton RS, Jackson AU, Kang CJ, Kanchi KL, Koboldt DC, Larson DE, Nelson J, Nicholas TJ, Pietilä A, Ramensky V, Ray D, Scott LJ, Stringham HM, Vangipurapu J, Welch R, Yajnik P, Yin X, Eriksson JG, Ala-Korpela M, Järvelin MR, Männikkö M, Laivuori H;

FinnGen Project, Dutcher SK, Stitziel NO, Wilson RK, Hall IM, Sabatti C, Palotie A, Salomaa V, Laakso M, Ripatti S, Boehnke M, Freimer NB. (2019). Exome sequencing of Finnish isolates enhances rare-variant association power. *Nature* **572**: 323–328.

- Lucassen EA, Zhao X, Rother KI, Mattingly MS, Courville AB, Jonge L de, Csako G, Cizza G, Group SES (2013). Evening chronotype is associated with changes in eating behavior, more sleep apnea, and increased stress hormones in short sleeping obese individuals. *PloS One* **8**: e56519.
- Ma X, Chen Q, Pu Y, Guo M, Jiang Z, Huang W, Long Y, Xu Y (2020). Skipping breakfast is associated with overweight and obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes. Res. Clin. Pract.* 14: 1–8.
- Manoogian ENC, Chaix A, Panda S (2019). When to Eat: The Importance of Eating Patterns in Health and Disease. J. Biol. Rhythms **34**: 579–581.
- Matsuo M, Shiino Y, Yamada N, Ozeki Y, Okawa M (2007). A novel SNP in hPer2 associates with diurnal preference in a healthy population. *Sleep Biol. Rhythms* **5**: 141–145.
- Maukonen M (2015). Energian ja energiaravintoaineiden saannin ajoittuminen ja ajoittumisen yhteys lihavuuteen aamu- ja iltatyypeillä (Energy and macronutrient intake timing and the role of energy intake timing in obesity by chronotypes).Master's thesis (in Finnish). Department of Food and Environmental Sciences, University of Helsinki 5/2015.
- Maukonen M, Männistö S, Tolonen H (2018). A comparison of measured versus self-reported anthropometrics for assessing obesity in adults: a literature review. *Scand. J. Public Health* **46**: 565–579.
- Mayhew AJ, Meyre D (2017). Assessing the Heritability of Complex Traits in Humans: Methodological Challenges and Opportunities. *Curr. Genomics* 18: 332–340.
- Mazri FH, Manaf ZA, Shahar S, Mat Ludin AF (2020). The Association between Chronotype and Dietary Pattern among Adults: A Scoping Review. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health 17: 68.
- McHill AW, Phillips AJ, Czeisler CA, Keating L, Yee K, Barger LK, Garaulet M, Scheer FA, Klerman EB (2017). Later circadian timing of food intake is associated with increased body fat. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **106**: 1213–1219.
- Mello VDF de, Schwab U, Kolehmainen M, Koenig W, Siloaho M, Poutanen K, Mykkänen H, Uusitupa M (2011). A diet high in fatty fish, bilberries and wholegrain products improves markers of endothelial function and inflammation in individuals with impaired glucose metabolism in a randomised controlled trial: the Sysdimet study. *Diabetologia* **54**: 2755–2767.

- Merikanto I, Kronholm E, Peltonen M, Laatikainen T, Lahti T, Partonen T (2012). Relation of chronotype to sleep complaints in the general Finnish population. *Chronobiol. Int.* **29**: 311–317.
- Merikanto I, Kronholm E, Peltonen M, Laatikainen T, Vartiainen E, Partonen T (2015). Circadian preference links to depression in general adult population. J. Affect. Disord. 188: 143–148.
- Merikanto I, Lahti T, Kronholm E, Peltonen M, Laatikainen T, Vartiainen E, Salomaa V, Partonen T (2013) (a). Evening types are prone to depression. *Chronobiol. Int.* 30: 719–725.
- Merikanto I, Lahti T, Puolijoki H, Vanhala M, Peltonen M, Laatikainen T, Vartiainen E, Salomaa V, Kronholm E, Partonen T (2013) (b). Associations of chronotype and sleep with cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes. *Chronobiol. Int.* **30**: 470–477.
- Meule A, Roeser K, Randler C, Kubler A (2012). Skipping breakfast: morningnesseveningness preference is differentially related to state and trait food cravings. *Eat. Weight Disord.* **17**: 304.
- Mirghani HO, Albalawi KS, Alali OY, Albalawi WM, Albalawi KM, Aljohani TR, Albalawi WS (2019). Breakfast skipping, late dinner intake and chronotype (eveningness-morningness) among medical students in Tabuk City, Saudi Arabia. *Pan Afr. Med. J.* **34**: 178.
- Mishima K, Tozawa T, Satoh K, Saitoh H, Mishima Y (2005). The 3111T/C polymorphism of hClock is associated with evening preference and delayed sleep timing in a Japanese population sample. Am. J. Med. Genet. B. Neuropsychiatr. Genet. 133B: 101–104.
- Morris CJ, Purvis TE, Hu K, Scheer FAJL (2016). Circadian misalignment increases cardiovascular disease risk factors in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 113: E1402-1411.
- Muñoz JSG, Cañavate R, Hernández CM, Cara-Salmerón V, Morante JJH (2017). The association among chronotype, timing of food intake and food preferences depends on body mass status. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* **71**: 736–742.
- Muscogiuri G, Barrea L, Aprano S, Framondi L, Di Matteo R, Laudisio D, Pugliese G, Savastano S, Colao A, On Behalf Of The Opera Prevention Project (2020). Chronotype and Adherence to the Mediterranean Diet in Obesity: Results from the Opera Prevention Project. *Nutrients* **12**: 1354.
- Myhre JB, Løken EB, Wandel M, Andersen LF (2015). Meal types as sources for intakes of fruits, vegetables, fish and whole grains among Norwegian adults. *Public Health Nutr.* **18**: 2011–2021.

- Männistö S, Virtanen M, Mikkonen T, Pietinen P (1996). Reproducibility and validity of a food frequency questionnaire in a case-control study on breast cancer. J. Clin. Epidemiol. **49**: 401–409.
- Nakade M, Takeuchi H, Kurotani M, Harada T (2009). Effects of meal habits and alcohol/cigarette consumption on morningness-eveningness preference and sleep habits by Japanese female students aged 18-29. J. Physiol. Anthropol. 28: 83–90.
- Nimitphong H, Siwasaranond N, Saetung S, Thakkinstian A, Ongphiphadhanakul B, Reutrakul S (2018). The relationship among breakfast time, morningnesseveningness preference and body mass index in Type 2 diabetes. *Diabet. Med.* 35: 964–971.
- Oike H (2017). Modulation of circadian clocks by nutrients and food factors. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* **81**: 863–870.
- Olsen A, Egeberg R, Halkjær J, Christensen J, Overvad K, Tjønneland A (2011). Healthy Aspects of the Nordic Diet Are Related to Lower Total Mortality. J. Nutr. 141: 639–644.
- Paalanen L, Männistö S, Virtanen MJ, Knekt P, Rasanen L, Montonen J, Pietinen P (2006). Validity of a food frequency questionnaire varied by age and body mass index. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 59: 994–1001.
- Pajunen P, Vartiainen E, Männistö S, Jousilahti P, Laatikainen T, Peltonen M (2012). Intra-individual changes in body weight in population-based cohorts during four decades: the Finnish FINRISK study. *Eur. J. Public Health* 22: 107–112.
- Paoli A, Tinsley G, Bianco A, Moro T (2019). The Influence of Meal Frequency and Timing on Health in Humans: The Role of Fasting. *Nutrients* **11**: 719.
- Parsons MJ, Lester KJ, Barclay NL, Archer SN, Nolan PM, Eley TC, Gregory AM (2014). Polymorphisms in the circadian expressed genes PER3 and ARNTL2 are associated with diurnal preference and GNbeta3 with sleep measures. J. Sleep Res. 23: 595–604.
- Patke A, Young MW, Axelrod S (2020). Molecular mechanisms and physiological importance of circadian rhythms. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **21**: 67–84.
- Patterson F, Malone SK, Grandner MA, Lozano A, Perkett M, Hanlon A (2018). Interactive effects of sleep duration and morning/evening preference on cardiovascular risk factors. *Eur. J. Public Health* 28: 155–161.
- Patterson F, Malone SK, Lozano A, Grandner MA, Hanlon A (2016). Smoking, Screen-Based Sedentary Behavior, and Diet Associated with Habitual Sleep Duration and Chronotype: Data from the UK Biobank. Ann. Behav. Med. 50: 715–726.

- Paturi M, Nieminen R, Reinivuo H, Ovaskainen ML (2006). Ruokien annoskuvakirja. (In Finnish, title in English: Picture book of food portion sizes). Publications of National Public Health Institute. Report **B11/2006**.
- Paturi M, Tapanainen H, Reinivuo H, Pietinen P (Eds.) (2008). Finravinto 2007 tutkimus – The National FINDIET 2007 Survey. National Institute for Health and Welfare. Report B23/2008.
- Poulsen SK, Due A, Jordy AB, Kiens B, Stark KD, Stender S, Holst C, Astrup A, Larsen TM (2014). Health effect of the New Nordic Diet in adults with increased waist circumference: a 6-mo randomized controlled trial. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 99: 35–45.
- Qian J, Dalla Man C, Morris CJ, Cobelli C, Scheer FAJL (2018). Differential effects of the circadian system and circadian misalignment on insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion in humans. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* **20**: 2481–2485.
- Ramakrishnan SN, Lau P, Burke LJ, Muscat GE (2005). Rev-erbbeta regulates the expression of genes involved in lipid absorption in skeletal muscle cells: evidence for cross-talk between orphan nuclear receptors and myokines. J. Biol. Chem. 280: 8651–8659.
- Ramezani-Jolfaie N, Mohammadi M, Salehi-Abargouei A (2020). Effects of a healthy Nordic diet on weight loss in adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. *Eat. Weight Disord.* 25: 1141–1150.
- Ramsey KM, Marcheva B, Kohsaka A, Bass J (2007). The clockwork of metabolism. *Annu. Rev. Nutr.* **27**: 219–240.
- Randler C, Engelke J (2019). Gender differences in chronotype diminish with age: a meta-analysis based on morningness/chronotype questionnaires. *Chronobiol. Int.* 36: 888–905.
- Reinivuo H, Hirvonen T, Ovaskainen ML, Korhonen T, Valsta LM (2010). Dietary survey methodology of FINDIET 2007 with a risk assessment perspective. *Public Health Nutr.* 13: 915–919.
- Reinke H, Asher G (2019). Crosstalk between metabolism and circadian clocks. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **20**: 227–241.
- Reutrakul S, Hood MM, Crowley SJ, Morgan MK, Teodori M, Knutson KL (2014). The relationship between breakfast skipping, chronotype, and glycemic control in type 2 diabetes. *Chronobiol. Int.* **31**: 64–71.
- Ribas-Latre A, Eckel-Mahan K (2016). Interdependence of nutrient metabolism and the circadian clock system: Importance for metabolic health. *Mol. Metab.* **5**: 133–152.
- Rivkees SA (2007). The Development of Circadian Rhythms: From Animals To Humans. *Sleep Med. Clin.* **2**: 331–341.

- Rodríguez-Muñoz PM, Carmona-Torres JM, Rivera-Picón C, Fabbian F, Manfredini R, Rodríguez-Borrego MA, López-Soto PJ (2020). Associations between Chronotype, Adherence to the Mediterranean Diet and Sexual Opinion among University Students. *Nutrients* 12: 1900.
- Roenneberg T, Allebrandt KV, Merrow M, Vetter C (2012). Social jetlag and obesity. *Curr. Biol. CB* 22: 939–943.
- Roenneberg T, Kuehnle T, Juda M, Kantermann T, Allebrandt K, Gordijn M, Merrow M (2007). Epidemiology of the human circadian clock. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 11: 429–438.
- Roenneberg T, Merrow M (2007). Entrainment of the human circadian clock. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* **72**: 293–299.
- Romon M, Edme JL, Boulenguez C, Lescroart JL, Frimat P (1993). Circadian variation of diet-induced thermogenesis. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **57**: 476–480.
- Rothman K (1986). Modern Epidemiology. 6th ed. Little, brown and company, Boston, Toronto. p. 125–129.
- Ruiz-Lozano T, Vidal J, Hollanda A de, Canteras M, Garaulet M, Izquierdo-Pulido M (2016). Evening chronotype associates with obesity in severely obese subjects: interaction with CLOCK 3111T/C. *Int. J. Obes.* 40: 1550–1557.
- Sato F, Kohsaka A, Bhawal UK, Muragaki Y (2018). Potential Roles of Dec and Bmal1 Genes in Interconnecting Circadian Clock and Energy Metabolism. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19: 10.3390/ijms19030781.
- Sato-Mito N, Sasaki S, Murakami K, Okubo H, Takahashi Y, Shibata S, Yamada K, Sato K, group F in DCSI (2011) (a). The midpoint of sleep is associated with dietary intake and dietary behavior among young Japanese women. *Sleep Med.* 12: 289–294.
- Sato-Mito N, Shibata S, Sasaki S, Sato K (2011) (b). Dietary intake is associated with human chronotype as assessed by both morningness-eveningness score and preferred midpoint of sleep in young Japanese women. *Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr.* 62: 525–532.
- Schantz M von, Taporoski TP, Horimoto ARVR, Duarte NE, Vallada H, Krieger JE, Pedrazzoli M, Negrão AB, Pereira AC (2015). Distribution and heritability of diurnal preference (chronotype) in a rural Brazilian family-based cohort, the Baependi study. Sci. Rep. 5: 9214.
- Scheer FA, Hilton MF, Mantzoros CS, Shea SA (2009). Adverse metabolic and cardiovascular consequences of circadian misalignment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106: 4453–4458.
- Schoenfeld BJ, Aragon AA, Krieger JW (2015). Effects of meal frequency on weight loss and body composition: a meta-analysis. *Nutr. Rev.* **73**: 69–82.

- Shi S, Hida A, McGuinness OP, Wasserman DH, Yamazaki S, Johnson CH (2010). Circadian clock gene Bmall is not essential; functional replacement with its paralog, Bmal2. *Curr. Biol.* 20: 316–321.
- Sievert K, Hussain SM, Page MJ, Wang Y, Hughes HJ, Malek M, Cicuttini FM (2019). Effect of breakfast on weight and energy intake: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ* **364**: 142.
- Škrlec I, Milić J, Heffer M, Wagner J, Peterlin B (2019). Circadian clock genes and circadian phenotypes in patients with myocardial infarction. *Adv. Med. Sci.* 64: 224–229.
- Smith CS, Reilly C, Midkiff K (1989). Evaluation of three circadian rhythm questionnaires with suggestions for an improved measure of morningness. J. Appl. Psychol. 74: 728–738.
- Solt LA, Wang Y, Banerjee S, Hughes T, Kojetin DJ, Lundasen T, Shin Y, Liu J, Cameron MD, Noel R, Yoo SH, Takahashi JS, Butler AA, Kamenecka TM, Burris TP (2012). Regulation of circadian behaviour and metabolism by synthetic REV-ERB agonists. *Nature* 485: 62–68.
- Song HM, Cho CH, Lee HJ, Moon JH, Kang SG, Yoon HK, Park YM, Kim L (2016). Association of CLOCK, ARNTL, PER2, and GNB3 polymorphisms with diurnal preference in a Korean population. *Chronobiol. Int.* 33: 1455– 1463.
- Stokkan KA, Yamazaki S, Tei H, Sakaki Y, Menaker M (2001). Entrainment of the circadian clock in the liver by feeding. *Science* **291**: 490–493.
- St-Onge M-P, Ard J, Baskin ML, Chiuve SE, Johnson HM, Kris-Etherton P, Varady K, American Heart Association Obesity Committee of the Council on Lifestyle and Cardiometabolic Health; Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young; Council on Clinical Cardiology; and Stroke Council (2017). Meal Timing and Frequency: Implications for Cardiovascular Disease Prevention: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 135: e96–e121.
- Suh S, Yang H-C, Kim N, Yu JH, Choi S, Yun C-H, Shin C (2017). Chronotype Differences in Health Behaviors and Health-Related Quality of Life: A Population-Based Study Among Aged and Older Adults. *Behav. Sleep. Med.* 15: 361–376.
- Sun X, Gustat J, Bertisch SM, Redline S, Bazzano L (2020). The association between sleep chronotype and obesity among black and white participants of the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Chronobiol. Int.* 37: 123–134.
- Takahashi JS (2017). Transcriptional architecture of the mammalian circadian clock. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **18**: 164–179.

- Tam V, Patel N, Turcotte M, Bossé Y, Paré G, Meyre D (2019). Benefits and limitations of genome-wide association studies. Nat. Rev. Genet. 20: 467– 484.
- Teixeira GP, Mota MC, Crispim CA (2018). Eveningness is associated with skipping breakfast and poor nutritional intake in Brazilian undergraduate students. *Chronobiol. Int.* **35**: 358–367.
- Tertsunen H-M, Hantunen S, Tuomainen T-P, Virtanen JK (2020). Healthy Nordic diet and risk of disease death among men: the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study. *Eur. J. Nutr.* **59**: 3545–3553.
- Tolonen H, Koponen P, Aromaa A, Conti S, Sidsel GI, Grotvedt L, Natunen S, Primatesta P, Verschuren M, Viet L, Kuulasmaa K (2008). Recommendations for the health examination surveys in Europe. Publications of National Public Health Institute. Report B21/2008.
- Tolonen H, Laatikainen T, Helakorpi S, Talala K, Martelin T, Prättälä R (2010). Marital status, educational level and household income explain part of the excess mortality of survey non-respondents. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* **25**: 69–76.
- Torquati L, Mielke GI, Brown WJ, Kolbe-Alexander T (2018). Shift work and the risk of cardiovascular disease. A systematic review and meta-analysis including dose-response relationship. *Scand. J. Work. Environ. Health* **44**: 229–238.
- Trichopoulou A, Costacou T, Bamia C, Trichopoulos D (2003). Adherence to a Mediterranean diet and survival in a Greek population. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **348**: 2599–2608.
- Uusitupa M, Hermansen K, Savolainen MJ, Schwab U, Kolehmainen M, Brader L, Mortensen LS, Cloetens L, Johansson-Persson A, Onning G, Landin-Olsson M, Herzig K-H, Hukkanen J, Rosqvist F, Iggman D, Paananen J, Pulkki KJ, Siloaho M, Dragsted L, Barri T, Overvad K, Bach Knudsen KE, Hedemann MS, Arner P, Dahlman I, Borge GIA, Baardseth P, Ulven SM, Gunnarsdottir I, Jónsdóttir S, Thorsdottir I, Orešič M, Poutanen KS, Risérus U, Akesson B (2013). Effects of an isocaloric healthy Nordic diet on insulin sensitivity, lipid profile and inflammation markers in metabolic syndrome -- a randomized study (SYSDIET). J. Intern. Med. 274: 52–66.
- Van Cauter E, Désir D, Decoster C, Féry F, Balasse EO (1989). Nocturnal decrease in glucose tolerance during constant glucose infusion. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 69: 604–611.
- Vartiainen E, Laatikainen T, Peltonen M, Juolevi A, Männistö S, Sundvall J, Jousilahti P, Salomaa V, Valsta L, Puska P (2010). Thirty-five-year trends in cardiovascular risk factors in Finland. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 39: 504–518.
- Vera B, Dashti HS, Gomez-Abellan P, Hernandez-Martinez AM, Esteban A, Scheer FAJL, Saxena R, Garaulet M (2018). Modifiable lifestyle behaviors, but not a

genetic risk score, associate with metabolic syndrome in evening chronotypes. *Sci. Rep.* **8**: 945-z.

- Vetter C, Chang S-C, Devore EE, Rohrer F, Okereke OI, Schernhammer ES (2018). Prospective study of chronotype and incident depression among middle- and older-aged women in the Nurses' Health Study II. J. Psychiatr. Res. 103: 156–160.
- Vink JM, Groot AS, Kerkhof GA, Boomsma DI (2001). Genetic analysis of morningness and eveningness. *Chronobiol. Int.* 18: 809–822.
- Visscher PM, Hill WG, Wray NR (2008). Heritability in the genomics era--concepts and misconceptions. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **9**: 255–266.
- Vitaterna MH, Takahashi JS, Turek FW (2001). Overview of Circadian Rhythms. *Alcohol Res. Health* **25**: 85–93.
- Waijers PM, Feskens EJ, Ocke MC (2007). A critical review of predefined diet quality scores. *Br. J. Nutr.* 97: 219–231.
- Wang J, Li Y, Zhang M, Liu Z, Wu C, Yuan H, Li YY, Zhao X, Lu H (2007). A zinc finger HIT domain-containing protein, ZNHIT-1, interacts with orphan nuclear hormone receptor Rev-erbbeta and removes Rev-erbbeta-induced inhibition of apoCIII transcription. *FEBS J.* 274: 5370–5381.
- Watson NF, Buchwald D, Harden KP (2013). A Twin Study of Genetic Influences on Diurnal Preference and Risk for Alcohol Use Outcomes. J. Clin. Sleep Med. 9: 1333–1339.
- Wehrens SMT, Christou S, Isherwood C, Middleton B, Gibbs MA, Archer SN, Skene DJ, Johnston JD (2017). Meal Timing Regulates the Human Circadian System. *Curr. Biol.* 27: 1768-1775.e3.
- Wennman H, Kronholm E, Partonen T, Peltonen M, Vasankari T, Borodulin K (2015). Evening typology and morning tiredness associates with low leisure time physical activity and high sitting. *Chronobiol. Int.* 32: 1090–1100.
- Whittier A, Sanchez S, Castañeda B, Sanchez E, Gelaye B, Yanez D, Williams MA (2014). Eveningness Chronotype, Daytime Sleepiness, Caffeine Consumption, and Use of Other Stimulants Among Peruvian University Students. J. Caffeine Res. 4: 21–27.
- WHO (2000). *Obesity: Preventing and managing the global epidemic*. WHO Technical Reports Series no. 894. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland.
- WHO (2011). *Waist circumference and waist-hip ratio*. Report of a WHO expert consultation, Geneva, Switzerland.
- WHO (2020). Obesity and overweight [Fact sheet]. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight</u> (26.4.2020)

- Willett WC (2013). *Food Frequency Methods*. In: Willett WC (Ed.). Nutritional epidemiology. 3rd ed. Oxford University Press, New York NY, p. 70–95.
- Wittmann M, Dinich J, Merrow M, Roenneberg T (2006). Social jetlag: misalignment of biological and social time. *Chronobiol. Int.* 23: 497–509.
- Woon PY, Kaisaki PJ, Braganca J, Bihoreau MT, Levy JC, Farrall M, Gauguier D (2007). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator-like (BMAL1) is associated with susceptibility to hypertension and type 2 diabetes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **104**: 14412–14417.
- Xiao Q, Garaulet M, Scheer FAJL (2019). Meal timing and obesity; interactions with macronutrient intake and chronotype. *Int. J. Obes.* **43**: 1701–1711.
- Yu JH, Yun CH, Ahn JH, Suh S, Cho HJ, Lee SK, Yoo HJ, Seo JA, Kim SG, Choi KM, Baik SH, Choi DS, Shin C, Kim NH (2015). Evening chronotype is associated with metabolic disorders and body composition in middle-aged adults. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 100: 1494–1502.
- Zarrinpar A, Chaix A, Panda S (2016). Daily Eating Patterns and Their Impact on Health and Disease. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* **27**: 69–83.
- Zavada A, Gordijn MCM, Beersma DGM, Daan S, Roenneberg T (2005). Comparison of the Munich Chronotype Questionnaire with the Horne-Ostberg's Morningness-Eveningness Score. *Chronobiol. Int.* **22**: 267–278.
- Zhao G, Ford ES, Dhingra S, Li C, Strine TW, Mokdad AH (2009). Depression and anxiety among US adults: associations with body mass index. *Int. J. Obes.* 33: 257–266.
- Zimorovat A, Mohammadi M, Ramezani-Jolfaie N, Salehi-Abargouei A (2020). The healthy Nordic diet for blood glucose control: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. *Acta Diabetol.* **57**: 1–12.

APPENDICES





Appendix II. A shortened six-item version of Horne and Östberg's (1976) Morningness-Eveningness Questionnaire.

Item 4

"Assuming adequate environmental conditions, how easy do you find getting up in the morning?"

1="not easy at all"

2="not very easy"

3="quite easy"

4="very easy"

Item 7

"During the first half-hour after woken up in the morning, how tired do you feel?"

1="very tired"

- 2= "quite tired"
- 3= "quite rested"
- 4="very rested"

Item 9

"You have decided to engage some physical exercise. A friend suggests that you do this one hour twice a week and the best time for your friend is between 7.0- 8.0 AM. Bearing in mind nothing else but your "feeling best" rhythm, how do you think you would perform?"

- 1= "Would be in good form"
- 2= "Would be in moderate form"
- 3= "Would find it quite difficult"
- 4= "Would find it very difficult"

Item 15

"You have to do two hours of hard physical work. Considering only your own "feeling best" rhythm, which of these following times would you choose?"

```
1="8:00-10:00"
2="11:00-13:00"
3="15:00-17:00"
4="19:00-21:00"
```

Item 17

"Suppose you can choose your own work hours. Assume that you worked a five hour day. Which five consecutive hours would you select?"

```
"1-2", "2-3", "3-4", "4-5", "5-6", "6-7", "7-8", "8-9", "9-10", "10-11", "11-12", "12-13", "13-14", 
"14-15", "15-16", "16-17", "17-18", "18-19", "19-20", "20-21", "21-22", "22-23", "23-24", 
"24-01"
```

Item 19

"There are so called morning people and evening people, which are you?"

1="definitely a morning type"

2="rather more a morning than an evening type"

- 3= "rather more an evening than a morning type"
- 4="definitely an evening type"